
 

 
NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

                                                     Friday, December 10, 2021 - 9:30 a.m.  
 Pinelands Commission YouTube link:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBgpC8sbR3Acrjo7ppxs3Uw 
To Provide Public Comment, Please Dial: 1-929-205-6099 Meeting ID: 860 4631 0972 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
 Open Public Meetings Act Statement  
 Roll Call  
 Pledge Allegiance to the Flag 

 
2. Adoption of Minutes  

 
 November 12, 2021  
 

3. Committee Chairs' and Executive Director's Reports  
 

4.   Matters for Commission Consideration Where the Record is Closed 
 

A. Permitting Matters 
 

 Office of Administrative Law  
 
• None 

 
 Review of Local Approvals  

 
• None 

 
 Public Development Projects and Waivers of Strict Compliance: 

Resolution Approving With Conditions (2) Applications for Public Development:  
• Application No. 2006-0322.002 - New Jersey Department of Transportation  

Construction of an electronic traffic advisory sign with associated development 
within the State Route 47 right-of-way 
Dennis Township  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBgpC8sbR3Acrjo7ppxs3Uw


2 
 

 
• Application No. 1982-2904.003 - Egg Harbor Township 

Construction of a public recreational facility including a multi-purpose field, 
recreational courts and a 62-space parking lot 
Egg Harbor Township 
 

     Resolution Approving With Conditions (1) Application for Public Development: 
• Application No. 2007-0318.001 - NJDEP, NJ Forest Service  

    1,304 acres of forestry and the creation of approximately 13 miles of forest fire 
    fuel break      

                       Bass River Township & Little Egg Harbor Township 
 
  B.      Planning Matters 

 
 Municipal Master Plans and Ordinances  

 
• None 

 
 Other Resolutions 

 
•  None 

 
 CMP Amendments  

 
• To Revise and Adopt Proposed Amendments to the Comprehensive Management 

Plan (Stormwater Management) 
 
5.   Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Waivers of Strict Compliance Where the 
Record is Not Closed  

  
A. Public Development Projects 

 
 Application No. 1990-0421.013 – Atlantic County 

Rehabilitation of a powerhouse building on the Lake Lenape Dam 
Hamilton Township 

 
 Application No. 2010-0008.006 – City of Egg Harbor 

Establishment of a City Park  
Egg Harbor City 

 
B. Waivers of Strict Compliance 

 
 None 

 
 6.   Master Plans and Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 

 
 None 

 
7.   Other Resolutions 

 
 Scheduling Regular Pinelands Commission Meeting Dates for 2022 



3 
 

 
 To Accept the Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report 

 
 8.   Presentation by the South Jersey Transportation Authority (SJTA) on its implementation of the April 
2019 Amendment to the Memorandum of Agreement between the Pinelands Commission and the SJTA 
related to development at the Atlantic City International Airport:  
https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/infor/moa/State%20Agencies/SJTA/2019%20Executed%20SJTA%20MOA%
20first%20amendment.pdf 
 
 9.   General Public Comment 
 
10.  Resolution to Retire into Closed Session (if needed) – Personnel, Litigation and Acquisition                                
Matters (The Commission reserves the right to reconvene into public session to take action on closed session 
items.)   
 
11.  Adjournment 
 

 
To ensure adequate time for all members of the public to comment, we will respectfully limit comments to three minutes. 
Questions raised during this period may not be responded to at this time but where feasible, will be followed up by the 
Commission and its staff. 
 
Pinelands Commission and Committee meeting agendas are posted on the Commission’s Website and can be viewed at 
www.nj.gov/pinelands/  for more information on agenda details, e-mail the Public Programs Office  at 
Info@pinelands.nj.gov. 

Upcoming Meetings 
     

Fri., Jan. 14, 2022         Pinelands Commission Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 
Fri., Jan. 28, 2022         Policy & Implementation Committee Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/infor/moa/State%20Agencies/SJTA/2019%20Executed%20SJTA%20MOA%20first%20amendment.pdf
https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/infor/moa/State%20Agencies/SJTA/2019%20Executed%20SJTA%20MOA%20first%20amendment.pdf
http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/
mailto:info@njpines.state.nj.us
mailto:Info@pinelands.nj.gov


PC2-81 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MINUTES 
       November 12, 2021 

 
The November 12, 2021 Pinelands Commission meeting was conducted remotely. All 
participants were present via Zoom conference and the meeting was livestreamed through 
YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=th40OS8f2L4 
 
Commissioners Participating in the Meeting  
 
Alan W. Avery Jr., Shannon Higginbotham, Jerome H. Irick, Jane Jannarone, Ed Lloyd, 
Mark Lohbauer, William Pikolycky and Chairman Richard Prickett. Also participating 
were Acting Executive Director Susan R. Grogan, Deputy Attorney General (DAG) 
Kristina Miles and Governor’s Authorities Unit representative Rudy Rodas. 
 
Commissioners Absent 
 
Daniel Christy, Gary Quinn and D’Arcy Rohan Green. 
 
Call to Order 
 
Chairman Prickett called the meeting to order at 9:32 a.m.   
 
DAG Miles read the Open Public Meetings Act Statement (OPMA). 
 
Acting Executive Director (ED) Grogan called the roll and announced the presence of a 
quorum. Eight Commissioners participated in the meeting. 
 
The Commission pledged allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Minutes 

Chairman Prickett presented the minutes from the Commission’s October 8, 2021 meeting. 
Commissioner Higginbotham moved the adoption of the minutes. Commissioner Avery   
seconded the motion.  
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=th40OS8f2L4


PC2-82 
 

The minutes from the October 8, 2021 Commission meeting were adopted by a vote of 8 to 
0.   
 
Committee Reports 
 
Chairman Prickett provided a summary of the October 29, 2021 Policy & Implementation 
(P&I) Committee meeting: 
 
The Committee adopted the minutes of its September 24, 2021 meeting. 
 
The Committee discussed the proposed addition of four septic systems to the Alternate 
Design Treatment System Pilot Program. The Committee voted in favor of presenting the 
proposal to the Commission. 
 
The Committee received a presentation from Commission staff regarding comments for the 
proposed stormwater management amendments to the Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan (CMP). 
 
The Committee received a presentation from Commission staff regarding draft rules for the 
Electric Transmission Line Right-of-Way Maintenance Pilot Program. 
 
The Committee discussed the priorities and schedule for CMP amendments after receiving 
a presentation from Commission staff. 
 
Following a presentation from staff, the Committee discussed a list of potential CMP 
amendments. 
 
Committee members were asked to prioritize the amendments they thought were important 
so that timelines and workplans could be developed. 
 
Executive Director Search Committee Update 
 
The Executive Director Search Committee met on October 19, 2021 and November 10, 
2021. 
 
The Committee reviewed the input that staff was asked to provide, on the attributes they 
thought an Executive Director should have. 
 
The Committee is developing standardized questions to ask candidates selected to be 
interviewed. 
 
From the 69 resumes submitted, the Committee is developing a pool of candidates for 
further consideration that best reflect the qualifications needed to accomplish the primary 
responsibilities of the Executive Director. 
 
The Committee will meet next week on November 17, 2021. 



PC2-83 
 

 
Other  
 
Commissioner Lohbauer noted the Climate Committee will meet on December 1, 2021. 
 
Commissioner Avery said the Personnel and Budget Committee did not meet in October. 
 
Chairman Prickett said that he and Commissioner Irick were provided with a tour of the 
Pinelands Commission buildings after Commissioner Irick requested to see the interior 
cracks in Fenwick Manor. 
 
Commissioner Irick thanked staff for the comprehensive tour of the buildings and grounds. 
He noted that the buildings are very well maintained by staff. He said the water damage, 
two-story-deep cracked walls and peeling lead paint in Fenwick Manor need to be 
addressed. He requested that Governor’s Authorities Unit Representative Rudy Rodas help 
the Commission in finding funding assistance to solve some of the ongoing problems with 
Fenwick Manor. 
 
Commissioner Higginbotham said she visited the Commission property and met staff and 
agreed with Commissioner Irick about the importance of addressing the painting and 
structural issues at Fenwick Manor. She said she would hate to see things become worse. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said she enjoyed the tours as well and said Jessica Lynch and her small 
staff do an excellent job of caring for the entire property.  
 
She said Mr. Rodas arranged a meeting for Commission staff with the Department of the 
Treasury, who owns the Commission’s buildings, and the NJ Department of Environmental 
Protection, which may have future grant funding available for the painting project. She said 
the call took place a few weeks ago and the discussion included the condition of the 
building, funding opportunities and maintenance responsibilities. Although the call was 
informative and productive, unfortunately Treasury does not have any funds designated for 
Fenwick Manor. The representatives from NJDEP suggested applying for a grant for a 
Preservation Plan or Historic Structures Report. Grant applications take a very long time to 
come to fruition and there is no guarantee, which we have learned in the past. The other 
suggestion made during the call was that the Commission with the guidance of the 
Governor’s office should request a special appropriation in next year’s budget for Fenwick 
Manor. Lastly, she noted that a contractor looked at the flashing on the roof of Fenwick 
Manor surrounding the chimney, and the contractor will be back to evaluate the issue in 
further detail. 
 
Acting Executive Director’s Report 
 
Acting ED Grogan provided information on the following matters: 
 
 The Commission’s six vacant positions were advertised. Applicants were able to 

submit resumes through October 17th.  Approximately 200 resumes were received 



PC2-84 
 

for the Environmental Specialist positions. Candidate selection has begun, and 
interviews will be scheduled soon. 

 Application fees received for the month of October were around $47,000. In four 
months, the Commission has met 72% of its projected application fees for the entire 
fiscal year. 

 Beginning on November 29th, all Pinelands staff will be expected to be working 
back in the office five days a week. Currently, there are no plans to open to the 
public or hold in-person Commission or Committee meetings. 

 The P&I Committee will be reviewing CMP amendment priorities at its meeting on 
November 19th. Commissioners and staff have been asked to rank the amendments 
in an attempt to reach a consensus. 

 Staff continue to discuss the proposed stormwater amendments with the NJ 
Department of Transportation (DOT), which had raised concerns regarding public 
road projects. It is anticipated that the amendments will be on the December 10th 
Commission meeting agenda. 

 Included in the October monthly report was a link to the State’s new Climate 
Change Resilience Strategy, recently issued by the Interagency Council on Climate 
Change. The Council was created by Executive Order in 2019 and only recently 
was the Commission, along with a few other state agencies, asked to be a principal 
member. Staff member Ed Wengrowski will participate in monthly working group 
meetings of the Council. 
 

Commissioner Irick offered his support to the Acting Executive Director as the 
Commission continues to look for ways to fund the painting project. He said Fenwick 
Manor cannot withstand three years of inaction. 
 
Commissioner Avery said the Personnel & Budget Committee will pursue the painting of 
Fenwick Manor to protect the wood. He said he hopes that by adjusting the language in the 
painting Request for Proposal, the cost will decrease. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd asked if it was possible to use money from the Pinelands 
Conservation Fund (PCF) to paint Fenwick Manor. 
 
Stacey Roth, the Commission’s Chief of Legal and Legislative Affairs, said she does not 
think it’s possible to use the PCF money because of how the PCF policy document is 
written but said she would look into it.  
 
Acting ED Grogan said Treasury has a portfolio that consists of 34 facilities and Fenwick 
Manor is not in the portfolio. She noted that she would explore the possibility of funding 
from the National Park Service to assist with the painting project. 
 
Mr. Rodas said that should the Commission want to pursue an appropriation in the state 
budget, he could facilitate that request. 
 



PC2-85 
 

Chuck Horner, Director of Regulatory Programs, provided information on the following 
regulatory matters: 
 
 Staff participated in a municipal court matter for a long-standing violation matter in 

Galloway Township. The matter involved the clearing and development of 
approximately six acres without application to the municipality or the Commission. 
The violator pled guilty and has been ordered to complete applications before April 
2022. 

 Staff met with the Pinelands Preservation Alliance, which has partnered with 
Pemberton Township to establish trails. Some of the trails are within wetlands and 
wetlands buffers. In order for the trails to be compliant with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, paving must occur. However, the CMP does not permit paving in 
wetlands or buffers. Constructing boardwalks is an alternative to crossing wetlands. 

 Staff sent a letter to Pemberton Township to offer suggested techniques to 
discourage unauthorized off-road vehicle use that is occurring on a deed-restricted 
parcel in Presidential Lakes. 

 Staff participated in a meeting, at the request of the NJDEP, regarding an offshore 
wind project. The project involves onshore cable routes through the Pinelands 
National Reserve. Staff provided information related to environmental standards  
and permitted land use requirements. The cables will be connecting at the former 
Oyster Creek site and the former BL England electrical generating site. 

 
Ms. Roth said the State Ethics Commission is requiring state officers to complete a 
cannabis briefing based on the enactment of the Cannabis Regulatory Enforcement 
Assistance and Marketplace Modernization Act (CREAMMA). Additionally, 
Commissioners must complete online, annual ethics training before November 22, 2021. 
Next year, the cannabis briefing and ethics training will be combined in one module. 
 
Ms. Roth said that South Jersey Transportation Authority (SJTA) has contacted the 
Commission about constructing an airfreight facility at the Atlantic City Airport due to the 
uptick in online ordering. She added that a new or amended Memorandum of Agreement 
(MOA) may be necessary to permit the facility. She added that SJTA is moving forward 
with its 20-year plan and will be attending a future meeting to further discuss the proposed 
facility. 
 
Ms. Roth said she has been in discussions with Stockton University about its Deed of 
Conservation Restriction, which implemented its 2010 Master Plan. The University is 
interested in removing lands from that Deed to allow the University to grow as it carries 
out the goals of its latest Master Plan. The University is interested in pursuing an 
Amendment to its MOA. 
 
Paul Leakan, the Commission's Communications Officer, said that Joel Mott of the 
Commission’s staff has been busily securing presentations for the Pinelands Short Course. 
The event will be held at Stockton University on March 12, 2022. He also noted that the 
Commission hosted two webinars last month and will host a webinar on rain gardens on 
November 18th.  



PC2-86 
 

 
Mr. Leakan said he is overseeing the project to explore the possible installation of rain 
gardens at the Commission’s headquarters. He has arranged for an expert from the Rutgers 
Cooperative Extension to visit the office and assess possible rain garden sites on November 
22nd. Mr. Leakan also said that staff has been working hard to prepare the 2022 Pinelands 
National Reserve wall calendar. He said more than 800 calendars will be printed this year. 
 
Lastly, Mr. Leakan said he and Patrick Burritt of the Commission’s Science Office recently 
used seining nets to catch native banded and blackbanded sunfish that will be displayed for 
in the 90-gallon aquarium in the Commission’s headquarters. The Commission holds a 
permit that was issued by the New Jersey Division of Fish and Wildlife and allows for the 
collection and display of native fish for educational purposes. 
 
Public Development Projects and Other Permit Matters 
 
Chairman Prickett introduced a resolution to approve multiple applications: the 
construction of a dog park in Monroe Township, the widening of County Route 610 in 
Dennis Township, the paving within the Fifth Avenue right-of-way in the City of Estell 
Manor and the demolition of four single family dwellings in (50 years or older) in Winslow 
Township. 
 
Commissioner Pikolycky made a motion Approving With Conditions Applications for 
Public Development (Application Numbers 2001-0236.002, 2016-0072.001, 2020-
0162.001, 2021-0219.001, 2021-0220.001, 2021-0221.001 & 2021-0222.001) (See 
Resolution # PC4-21-28). Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd raised concerns about the clearing of trees associated with the 
development of the dog park and he asked if the design could have been modified to either 
eliminate or minimize cutting approximately four acres of trees. 
 
Director Horner said he would need to confer with staff and suggested holding off on 
voting until later in the meeting. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd said he planned to vote on the application, but he was just curious. 
He also asked about the  size of the buffer to wetlands required for the paving project in 
Estell Manor. 
 
Director Horner said he would find out, but he said wetlands buffer information is not 
included because the development is within the limits of the existing gravel road. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd suggested including buffer information in future public development 
reports associated with paving. 
 
Director Horner said staff can include such information going forward. 
 



PC2-87 
 

Chairman Prickett asked if Commissioners wanted to wait for the answers to the questions 
raised by Commissioner Lloyd. Several Commissioners indicated they were comfortable 
proceeding with the vote. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 8 to 0. 
 
Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Items where the record is open 
 
Rhyan Grech of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance (PPA) said Commissioners should 
ensure that SJTA has met the conditions and obligations of its amended MOA before the 
Commission approves the installation of four wind cones at the Atlantic City Airport. She 
said SJTA was required to create an off-site Grassland Conservation Management Area 
(GCMA) for the grasshopper sparrow and the upland sandpiper. SJTA must also enhance 
12 acres of habitat at the airport for the frosted elfin butterfly. She asked whether the 
required deed restriction of the new GCMA had been put in place and whether the two bird 
species were actually using the area. 
 
Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 
Chairman Prickett read the list of ordinances not requiring Commission action.  
 

• Egg Harbor City Ordinance 10-2021 
• Egg Harbor Township Ordinance 39-2021 
• Evesham Township Ordinances 13-3-2021, 15-3-2021 and 17-3-2021 
• Hammonton Town Ordinance 008-2021 
• Monroe Township Ordinance O:17-2021 
• Vineland City Ordinance 2021-35 

 
No questions were raised. 
 
Other Resolutions 
 
Chairman Prickett introduced a resolution to accept the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd made a motion to accept the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report. (See 
Resolution # PC4-21-29). Commissioner Avery seconded the motion. 
 
Acting ED Grogan said there were no findings in the FY 2019 Audit and credited that to 
Jessica Lynch, the Commission’s Business Service Manager. She added that state auditors 
have completed the FY 2020 audit and it was also a clean audit with no findings. 
 
Commissioner Lloyd asked how much the Audit costs the Commission. 
 
Ms. Lynch said it ranges from $15,000 to $25,000 based on what the state auditor requires 
and includes annual accounting services and bank reconciliation. 
 



PC2-88 
 

Commissioner Avery thanked the public members who serve on the Audit Committee. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 8 to 0. 
 
Chairman Prickett introduced a resolution authorizing four new septic technologies into the 
Commission’s alternate design septic pilot program. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion To Authorize the Participation of Four New 
Advanced Wastewater Treatment Technologies in the Pinelands Commission’s Alternate 
Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program (See Resolution # PC4-21-30). Commissioner     
Jannarone seconded the motion. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 8 to 0. 
 
General Public Comment 
 
Joanne Pennone of Robbinsville, NJ, expressed how fond she is of the Pinelands. She 
commended Commissioner Lloyd for questioning the tree clearing associated with the dog 
park application. She said weather and climate factor drive forest fires and areas that have 
been logged burn more intensely. 
 
Jason Howell of the PPA recommended defining what is permitted on the Presidential 
Lakes deed restricted property, rather than posting what isn’t permitted. He said it has been 
proven effective and used Black Run Nature Preserve as an example of success. He 
suggested the Commission get ahead of deforestation projects, especially in instances 
where warehouses are proposed. 
 
Jamie Philpot of Shamong, NJ, said her family spends a lot of time outdoors in the 
Pinelands. She said she is concerned about increased activity in Wharton State Forest, 
including damages to wetlands, illegal fires and littering. She said she noticed that enduro 
bikes damaged reindeer lichen. She said she has contacted State Police, Park Police and the 
PPA. She asked Commissioners how they can help with this ongoing problem. 
 
Fred Akers of the Great Egg Harbor Watershed Association said now that the election is 
over, it is time for the gubernatorial vacancies on the Commission to be filled, along with 
the open, federal designee position on the Commission. 
 
Chairman Prickett said he is hoping that Camden County will be appointing a new 
Commissioner to serve as its representative. He also said he sent a letter to the Governor’s 
office about the importance of filling the vacancies on the Commission. He said the 
public’s support is crucial. 
 
Rhyan Grech of the PPA stressed the importance of making Horizontal Directional Drilling 
(HDD) amendments a priority, since it is her understanding that the cables that Director 
Horner mentioned earlier will be using this technique for its offshore wind projects. 
 



PC2-89 
 

Agnes Marsala of Chesterfield, NJ, urged the Commission to act on climate change 
separate of what the state and the NJDEP are preparing to do. She said the EPA is fighting 
climate change and protecting public health by proposing plans to reduce methane from 
new and existing oil and natural gas sources. She noted the importance of protecting the 
Kirkwood-Cohansey aquifer. She asked that the Commission thoroughly monitor future 
HDD projects and hold applicants accountable. 
 
Julie Akers said she along with the Great Egg Harbor Watershed Association reported an 
illegal motor cross track and land clearing violation to the Commission. She said she knows 
that the activity on the property is continuing. She is concerned about the amount of time it 
is taking to do a site inspection and meet with the property owner. She understands that this 
is not an easy situation and thanked staff for responding to her Open Public Records Act 
(OPRA) request. 
 
Temma Fishman read comments by Georgina Shanley (See attached). 
 
Director Horner said he appreciates the concerns raised by members of the public regarding 
violations in the Pinelands Area. He said pursuing a violation is a challenge since the 
Commission has no direct enforcement authority and cannot issue stop work orders. Also, 
staff do not have the right to access private land without property owner permission. The 
Commission relies heavily on municipal officials enforcing their ordinances. He said staff 
may not have an update on the matter until December.               
 
Ms. Roth said SJTA provides monthly reports to the Commission. She said she could 
provide them to Ms. Grech if she is interested in reviewing them. She added that she can 
also invite SJTA to an upcoming meeting so they can update the Commission on the status 
of the threatened and endangered habitat. 
 
Other 
 
A brief discussion took place about the best time for an update regarding the Amended 
MOA with SJTA. Commissioner Lloyd said everything is important, but we have to 
prioritize. Commissioner Lohbauer said he would not feel comfortable voting on the wind 
cone application until SJTA can provide answers to the questions raised by Ms. Grech 
during public comment. 
 
Follow up on Public Development Application Questions 
 
Director Horner said there are wetlands located on both sides of the right-of-way in Estell 
Manor. He said there will be a 20-foot buffer from wetlands on one side of the right-of-way 
and on the other side of the proposed road, there will be a 50-foot buffer from wetlands.  
He said future reports on public development paving projects will specify the wetlands 
buffers being maintained. 

Director Horner said the dog park will be shaped like a dog bone. Half of the dog park will 
be in a wooded area and the other half will be in a field. Just over four acres will be cleared 



PC2-90 
 

to accommodate the park. The dog park could have been located in another portion of the 
parcel; however, the Township chose to locate the proposed park adjacent to an existing 
municipal park. Because of its proximity to the existing park, less disturbance is required 
for the access road and other utilities. 

He added that the CMP currently states development should avoid wooded areas where 
practical. He said staff reviewed the application based on past practice. 

Commissioner Lloyd said that the dog park should have been designed in a way that 
minimized clearing and clearcutting of forest. He asked Director Horner to reach out to the 
town and encourage them not to cut so many trees. 

Commissioner Lohbauer said the Commission should be looking for ways to save the trees. 
He said he did not do a good enough job of reviewing the report on the dog park and was 
now unhappy with his vote on that application. He also thanked the members of the public 
who provided comment at the meeting. 

Commissioner Lohbauer spoke about his recent trip to Ireland and said he had been a proud 
representative of the Commission. He said while in Belfast he met with a former Lord 
Mayor who put him in contact with a group, Ulster Wildlife, who work to protect lands in 
Northern Ireland. He thanked Ulster Wildlife for the tour of the bog meadow and for letting 
him share information about the Commission. He hopes that one day they can visit the 
Pinelands. 

Chairman Prickett thanked the members of the public for their input and feedback. He 
thanked staff for providing support to Commissioners and implementing the CMP every 
day. He said he looks forward to adopting the stormwater management amendments and 
future discussions related to the preservation of Fenwick Manor. 

Adjournment 

Commissioner Lohbauer moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Irick seconded the 
motion. The Commission agreed to adjourn at 11:24.   
 
Certified as true and correct: 

 
_________________________________  Date: November 22, 2021  
Jessica Noble, Executive Assistant  



Georgina Shanley - Red Bank, NJ                                                              November 12th 2021 
 

To: Pinelands Commission & Executive Director 
 

Dear Chair Prickett,  Commissioners & Executive Director, 
In this grave time when we witness with our own eyes, and through science, that our beautiful 
planet is burning, your role as guardians of our precious Pinelands has never been more 
important. We are seeing an erosion of the Pinelands through development, neglect, and a huge 
ecological shift due to the Climate crisis. Now, more than ever do we need you to preserve, 
enhance and protect this treasure, and to truly put into force the Comprehensive Management 
Plan. 
 17 trillion gallons of pure and ancient water in our aquifer is under threat. In spite of a 2012 
report highlighting the hazards, and recommending preventative measures there has been no 
significant follow- through. Our drinking water is in great danger. The Commission must also 
protect Black Run headwaters. 
Science shows that fossil fuel extraction is a huge factor in the degradation of the planet, yet 
there is a 30 mile long, 30-inch-wide high pressure unwanted, and unnecessary SRL gas pipeline 
barreling through unhindered.  Where is the stewardship of the Pines, and the implementation of 
the CMP?   
The CMP prohibits construction of infrastructure in Forest Preservation Area, unless it is 
intended to primarily serve only the needs of the Pinelands.  This SRL pipeline is in clear 
violation, and has already caused the destruction of a home of a resident, and at least 13 spills 
have occurred. Who is supervising them?  The Commission has not issued any fines or oversight. 
It is mostly through people pressure, and education that the South Jersey pipeline was aborted. 
With only 11 Commissioners sitting you hold an enormous power to take the lead and truly look 
after this most precious crown jewel.  
An organization like the Pinelands Preservation Alliance is unique in that it is staffed with 
professionals who truly care about their charge. Working in cooperation with them would be a 
step in the right direction. 
When public institutions are losing our confidence, please present a shining example of 
leadership in preserving what is left of the Pines. 
 

Respectfully, 
Georgina Shanley 



 
RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  

 
NO. PC4-21- 28   

 
TITLE:  Approving With Conditions Applications for Public Development (Application Numbers 2001-

0236.002, 2016-0072.001, 2020-0162.001, 2021-0219.001, 2021-0220.001, 2021-0221.001 & 
2021-0222.001) 

 
Commissioner   Pikolycky  moves and Commissioner   Lohbauer  
seconds the motion that: 

 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Reports and 
the recommendation of the Acting Executive Director that the following applications for Public 
Development be approved with conditions: 
 

2001-0236.002 
Applicant: Monroe Township 
Municipality: Monroe Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Construction of a dog park and associated site improvements; 
 
2016-0072.001 
Applicant: Cape May County 
Municipality: Dennis Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Village 
Date of Report:  October 20, 2021 
Proposed Development: Widening of 4,000 linear feet of County Route 610; 
 
2020-0162.001 
Applicant: City of Estell Manor 
Municipality: City of Estell Manor 
Management Area: Pinelands Forest Area 
 Pinelands Village 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Paving of 1,400 linear feet within the Fifth Avenue right-of-way; 
 
2021-0219.001 
Applicant: Winslow Township 
Municipality: Winslow Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older; 
 
2021-0220.001 
Applicant: Winslow Township 
Municipality: Winslow Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older; 
 
2021-0221.001 
Applicant: Winslow Township 
Municipality: Winslow Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older; and 
 
2021-0222.001 
Applicant: Winslow Township 
Municipality: Winslow Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  October 13, 2021 
Proposed Development: Demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older. 



 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Jannarone X    Quinn   X  
Christy   X  Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  
Higginbotham X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
Irick X    Pikolycky X         
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  November 12, 2021   

 
    

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

2 

 
WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the acting 
Executive Director’s recommendation has been received for any of these applications; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Acting Executive Director 
for each of the proposed developments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that each of the proposed public 
developments conform to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Acting Executive Director are imposed; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 
effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 
of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Numbers 2001-0236.002, 2016-0072.001, 
2020-0162.001, 2021-0219.001, 2021-0220.001, 2021-0221.001 & 2021-0222.001 for public 
development are hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Acting Executive 
Director. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Jill McCrea, Township Administrator 
Monroe Township (via email) 
125 Virginia Ave. 
Williamstown, NJ 08094 
 
 Re: Application # 2001-0236.002 
  Block 13001, Lots 16 & 28 
  Monroe Township 
 
Dear Ms. McCrea: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a dog park and 
associated site improvements. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 Public comment (1) 
 
c: Secretary, Monroe Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Monroe Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Monroe Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Gloucester County Planning Board (via email) 
 Joseph Raday (via email) 
 Rosemary Genova (via email) 



  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Jill McCrea, Township Administrator 
Monroe Township (via email) 
125 Virginia Ave. 
Williamstown, NJ 08094 
 
Application No.: 2001-0236.002 
   Block 13001, Lots 16 & 28 
   Monroe Township 
 
This application proposes construction of a dog park and associated site improvements on the above 
referenced 50.39 acre parcel in Monroe Township. This application also proposes a 1,370 linear foot 
stone access road, 4,250 linear feet of paved and stone walkways and a ten space stone parking lot.  
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed development is a permitted 
land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.    
 
Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.7) 
 
There are wetlands located on the parcel. All proposed development will be located at least 300 feet 
from wetlands. The proposed development will not result in a significant adverse impact on the 
wetlands. 
 
Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 
 
The proposed development will be located within existing agricultural fields, maintained grassed areas, 
and wooded areas. Approximately 4.21 acres of forest will be cleared to accommodate the proposed 
development.  The proposed clearing and soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to 
accommodate the development.  
 



2 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 
tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions.  The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture which 
meets that recommendation. 
 
Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6) 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with CMP stormwater 
management standards. To meet the stormwater management standards, the applicant will be 
constructing three stormwater infiltration basins. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required landowners within 200 feet of 
the above referenced parcel was completed on August 4, 2020. Newspaper public notice was completed 
on August 6, 2020. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on 
September 23, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on October 8, 2021. The 
Commission received one written public comment (attached) regarding this application. 
 
Comment:       The commenter requested a copy of the Executive Director’s findings and 

conclusions. 
 
Staff Response:     The commenter is copied on this Public Development Application Report 

containing the Executive Director’s findings and conclusions. 
 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of 16 sheets, prepared by Pennoni Associates, Inc. and all sheets 
dated July 31, 2021 and revised to August 9, 2021. 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 
licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  
Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 
grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

5. All development, including clearing and land disturbance, shall be located at least 300 
feet from wetlands. 



3 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 
recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 
above conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 

 
Public Comment: 
 
 
From: ROSEMARY GENOVA (rtgenova@comcast.net) 
Received: 8/12/2020 2:33:55 PM 
To: AppInfo, PC (AppInfo@pinelands.nj.gov) 
CC: 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Info on Monroe Twp Dog Park 
Attachments: None 
Good afternoon, 
My name is Joseph Genova Sr and I own Block 12401, Lot 23 directly across the street from the 
proposed dog park. I am requesting a copy of the Executive Director's findings and conclusion of 
the property Block 13001, lots 16 and 28. The following is my address where said findings and 
conclusion should be sent: 
Joseph Genova 
728 Clayton Road 
PO Box 386 
Williamstown, NJ 08094 
Thank you 
Sincerely, 
Joseph Genova



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

October 20, 2021 
 
Robert Church, P.E. (via email) 
Cape May County 
4 Moore Road, DN 402 
Cape May Court House, NJ 08210 
 
 Re: Application # 2016-0072.001 
  County Route 610 (Dennisville-Petersburgh Road) 

Block 67, Lots 35, 36, 37.01, 37.02 & 38-41 
  Block 69, Lots 12.01 & 13-17 
  Block 70, Lots 23-31 
  Dennis Township 
 
Dear Mr. Church: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for widening of 4,000 linear feet of 
County Route 610. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report. On behalf of the 
Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve 
the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Dennis Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Dennis Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Dennis Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Cape May County Planning Board (via email) 

 



 Paul Cinko (via email) 
 Monte Somervell 
 Kenneth Phillips, Jr. 
 William & Gloria Furst 
 Cora Corson 
 William M. Massey 
 Raymond & Deborah Finley 
 Charles & Eleanor Engle 
 Daniel & Betsy Dutton 
 Charles & Vittoria Gargan 
 Joshua & Brittany Bock Richards 
 James & Maureen Manlandro 
 John M. Kiser 
 DKC Contractors 
 Jonathon & Kelly Ann Hendee 
 Jonathon Maslow & Liliya Khobotkova Maslow 
 Abbe Harris 
 Donjoe LLC 
 Donald & Linda Gooch 
 Gregg & Geraldine Hofferica 
 Catherine Mazzou-Wright 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 20, 2021 
 
Robert Church, P.E. (via email) 
Cape May County 
4 Moore Road, DN 402 
Cape May Court House, NJ 08210 
 
Application No.: 2016-0072.001 
   County Route 610 (Dennisville-Petersburgh Road) 

Block 67, Lots 35, 36, 37.01, 37.02 & 38-41 
   Block 69, Lots 12.01 & 13-17 
   Block 70, Lots 23-31 
   Dennis Township 
 
This application proposes widening of 4,000 linear feet of County Route 610 located within the above 
referenced road right-of-way in Dennis Township. The existing road contains two travel lanes and is 
approximately 29 feet wide. The proposed road widening will result in a 34-foot-wide road with two 
travel lanes. The application also proposes the installation of 1,180 linear feet of six-foot-wide sidewalk. 
A portion of the sidewalk, vegetation removal and other development associated with the proposed road 
widening is located on the above referenced lots.      
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.27) 
 
The proposed development is in the Pinelands Village of Dennisville. The proposed development is a 
permitted land use in a Pinelands Village. 
 
Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 
 
The proposed development will be located within maintained grass and disturbed areas. The proposed 
soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed development. 
 
The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 
tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to use grass species that meet this 



2 

recommendation. 
 
Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6) 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the stormwater 
management standards of the CMP. To meet the stormwater management standards, the applicant 
proposes to construct an underground stormwater infiltration system. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
A cultural resource survey was prepared for this application. It was determined that there were no 
cultural resources eligible for Pinelands designation within the project area. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required landowners within 200 feet of 
the above referenced parcel was completed on March 15, 2021. Newspaper public notice was completed 
on March 31, 2021. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on 
September 27, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on October 8, 2021. No public 
comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 
the plan, consisting of 43 sheets, prepared by T& M Associates and dated as follows: 
 
Sheet 1 - July, 2020 
Sheets 2, 4, 5, 7, 13-17, 19, 20, 23, 24, 26, 30-36, 39 & 40  - August 10, 2020 
Sheets 3, 6, 12, 18, 21, 22, 27-29, 35, 37, 38 & 41-43 - November 12, 2020 
Sheets 8-11 - November 12, 2020, revised to June 21, 2021 

2. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  
Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 
grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

3. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 
recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 
above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 8, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Joseph Venezia, Mayor 
City of Estell Manor (via email) 
148 Cumberland Ave. 
Estell Manor, NJ 08319 
 
 Re: Application # 2020-0162.001 
  Fifth Avenue 
  City of Estell Manor 
 
Dear Mayor Venezia: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for paving of 1,400 linear feet within 
the Fifth Avenue right-of-way. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, City of Estell Manor Planning Board (via email) 
 City of Estell Manor Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 
 J. Michael Fralinger, Jr. (via email) 
  
 
 



 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Joseph Venezia, Mayor 
City of Estell Manor (via email) 
148 Cumberland Ave. 
Estell Manor, NJ 08319 
 
Application No.: 2020-0162.001 
   Fifth Avenue 
   City of Estell Manor 
 
This application proposes paving of 1,400 linear feet within the Fifth Avenue right-of-way in the City of 
Estell Manor.   
 
The section of the Fifth Avenue right-of-way proposed to be paved is located between Cape May 
Avenue and Linwood Avenue. In this location, Fifth Avenue is an existing gravel road that varies in 
width from 15 feet to 22 feet. The road will be paved to a width of 18 feet.  The applicant proposes to 
revegetate the portions of the existing gravel road that are not proposed to be paved.  
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.23(b)12 & 7:50- 5.27(a)1) 
 
Approximately 400 linear feet of the proposed paving will be located in a Pinelands Forest Area and 
approximately 1,000 linear feet of the proposed paving will be located in the Pinelands Village of Estell 
Manor. Public service infrastructure, including roads, is a permitted use in a Pinelands Forest Area 
provided it is intended to primarily serve only the needs of the Pinelands. The portion of the road paving 
located in a Pinelands Forest Area will serve existing residential development that fronts on the road. 
The proposed road paving located in the Pinelands Forest Area is a permitted use. Public service 
infrastructure, including roads, is a permitted use in a Pinelands Village. 
 
Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.13) 
 
There are wetlands located within 300 feet of the proposed development. The CMP prohibits most 
development in wetlands and requires a buffer of up to 300 feet to wetlands.   



2 

 
The CMP permits linear improvements, including roads, in the required buffer to wetlands provided the 
applicant demonstrates that certain CMP specified conditions are met.  The applicant has demonstrated 
that there is no feasible alternative to the proposed development that does not involve development in 
the required buffer to wetlands or that will result in a less significant adverse impact to the required 
buffer to wetlands.  In addition, the proposed development will not result in a substantial impairment of 
the resources of the Pinelands.  With the conditions below, all practical measures are being taken to 
mitigate the impact on the required buffer to wetlands.  The applicant has indicated that the proposed 
paving of the roadway will eliminate maintenance issues associated with the existing gravel road surface 
and improve traffic safety.  The applicant has demonstrated that the need for the proposed development 
overrides the importance of protecting the required buffer to wetlands. 
 
Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 
 
The proposed development will be located within the existing gravel roadway and grassed shoulders. 
The proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed 
development.  
 
The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 
tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions.  To stabilize disturbed areas, the applicant proposes a seed 
mixture which meets that recommendation. 
 
Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6) 
 
The existing gravel road is classified as an impervious surface by the applicable regulation contained in 
the CMP. The proposed reduction in width of the paved road compared to the existing width of the 
gravel road and the proposed re-vegetation of the unpaved portions of the existing gravel road will result 
in a decrease of impervious surfaces by 2,178 square feet. There will be no increase in the volume and 
rate of stormwater runoff from the project after the development than occurred prior to the proposed 
development. The proposed development is consistent with CMP stormwater management standards.  
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources. Based upon the lack 
of potential for significant cultural resources in the right-of-way, a cultural resource survey was not 
required. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notice. Newspaper public notice was completed on 
August 6, 2021. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on 
September 28, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on October 8, 2021. No public 
comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 
the plan, consisting of five sheets, prepared by Fralinger Engineering and dated as 
follows: 



3 

 
Sheets 1, 2 & 5 - October 27, 2020 
Sheets 3 & 4 - October 27, 2020; revised to April 5, 2021 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 
licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  
Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 
grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

5. Appropriate measures shall be taken during construction to preclude sedimentation from 
entering wetlands and shall be maintained in place until all development has been 
completed and the area has been stabilized. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 
recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 
above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
 Re: Application # 2021-0221.001 
  Block 3107, Lot 7 
  Winslow Township 
 
Dear Ms. O’Drain: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for demolition of a single family 
dwelling, 50 years old or older. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Winslow Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Winslow Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Winslow Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Camden County Planning Board (via email) 
 Anne Walters, Health Department Director, Camden County (via email) 
  
 



 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
Application No.: 2021-0221.001 
   Block 3107, Lot 7 
   Winslow Township 
 
This application proposes demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older, located on the 
above referenced 0.11 acre parcel in Winslow Township. The Township owns the parcel. 
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed demolition for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  The demolition of a dwelling is permitted in 
all Pinelands Management Areas. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel.  Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required.   
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed demolition as “minor” development.  The CMP does not require public 
notice for minor public development applications.  The application was designated as complete on the 
Commission’s website on September 22, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on 
October 8, 2021. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application. 
 
 



2 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Disposal of any debris may only occur at an appropriately licensed facility. 

2. Prior to any demolition, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

3. Reconstruction of a single family dwelling within five years of its demolition does not 
require an application to the Pinelands Commission. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed demolition conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is recommended 
that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed demolition subject to the above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
 Re: Application # 2021-0222.001 
  Block 3127, Lot 19 
  Winslow Township 
 
Dear Ms. O’Drain: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for demolition of a single family 
dwelling, 50 years old or older. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Winslow Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Winslow Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Winslow Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Camden County Planning Board (via email) 
 Anne Walters, Health Department Director, Camden County (via email) 
  
 



 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
Application No.: 2021-0222.001 
   Block 3127, Lot 19 
   Winslow Township 
 
This application proposes demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older, located on the 
above referenced 0.15 acre parcel in Winslow Township. The Township owns the parcel.   
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed demolition for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  The demolition of a dwelling is permitted in 
all Pinelands Management Areas. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel.  Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required.   
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed demolition as “minor” development.  The CMP does not require public 
notice for minor public development applications.  The application was designated as complete on the 
Commission’s website on September 22, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on 
October 8, 2021. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 
  



2 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Disposal of any debris may only occur at an appropriately licensed facility. 

2. Prior to any demolition, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

3. Reconstruction of a single family dwelling within five years of its demolition does not 
require an application to the Pinelands Commission. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed demolition conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is recommended 
that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed demolition subject to the above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
 Re: Application # 2021-0219.001 
  Block 3127, Lot 11 
  Winslow Township 
 
Dear Ms. O’Drain: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for demolition of a single family 
dwelling, 50 years old or older. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Winslow Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Winslow Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Winslow Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Camden County Planning Board (via email) 
 Anne Walters, Health Department Director, Camden County (via email) 
  
 



 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
Application No.: 2021-0219.001 
   Block 3127, Lot 11 
   Winslow Township 
 
This application proposes demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older, located on the 
above referenced 0.14 acre parcel in Winslow Township.  The Township owns the parcel.    
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed demolition for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  The demolition of a dwelling is permitted in 
all Pinelands Management Areas. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel.  Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required.   
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed demolition as “minor” development.  The CMP does not require public 
notice for minor public development applications.  The application was designated as complete on the 
Commission’s website on September 22, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on 
October 8, 2021. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 
 



2 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Disposal of any debris may only occur at an appropriately licensed facility. 

2. Prior to any demolition, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

3. Reconstruction of a single family dwelling within five years of its demolition does not 
require an application to the Pinelands Commission. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed demolition conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is recommended 
that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed demolition subject to the above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
 Re: Application # 2021-0220.001 
  Block 3142, Lot 14 
  Winslow Township 
 
Dear Ms. O’Drain: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for demolition of a single family 
dwelling, 50 years old or older. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On 
behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 
Commission approve the application with conditions at its November 12, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 for Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Winslow Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Winslow Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Winslow Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Camden County Planning Board (via email) 
 Anne Walters, Health Department Director, Camden County (via email) 
  
 



 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       October 13, 2021 
 
Danielle O'Drain (via email) 
Winslow Township 
125 South Route 73 
Braddock, NJ 08037 
 
Application No.: 2021-0220.001 
   Block 3142, Lot 14 
   Winslow Township 
 
This application proposes demolition of a single family dwelling, 50 years old or older, located on the 
above referenced 0.19 acre parcel in Winslow Township.  The Township owns the parcel. 
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed demolition for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  The demolition of a dwelling is permitted in 
all Pinelands Management Areas. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel.  Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required.   
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed demolition as “minor” development.  The CMP does not require public 
notice for minor public development applications.  The application was designated as complete on the 
Commission’s website on September 22, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on 
October 8, 2021. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 
 



2 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Disposal of any debris may only occur at an appropriately licensed facility. 

2. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

3. Reconstruction of a single family dwelling, within five years of its demolition, does not 
require an application to the Pinelands Commission. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed demolition conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is recommended 
that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed demolition subject to the above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on November 1, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Jannarone X    Quinn   X  
Christy   X  Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  
Higginbotham X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
Irick X    Pikolycky X         

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  November 12, 2021   

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-21-  29  
 

 
TITLE: To Accept the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report 
 

 
Commissioner   Lloyd  moves and Commissioner   Avery  
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, the audit of the Pinelands Commission’s Fiscal Year 2019 Financial Statements, Notes to 
the Financial Statements and Schedules of Federal and State Assistance was performed by the Office of 
the State Auditor; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Commission’s Audit Committee met on September 7, 2021 to review and discuss a 
draft of the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report with the State Auditors; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report was issued on September 16, 2021; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report contains no Audit Findings or Questioned Costs; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Pinelands Commission hereby accepts the Audit 
Report for Fiscal Year 2019 and directs that it be included as a publication available through the 
Pinelands Commission’s website. 
 
 



 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-21-  30  
 

 
TITLE: To Authorize the Participation of Four New Advanced Wastewater Treatment Technologies in  

the Pinelands Commission’s Alternate Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program 
 
 

Commissioner   Lohbauer  moves and Commissioner   Jannarone  
seconds the motion that: 

 
 

WHEREAS, on May 10, 2002, the Pinelands Commission established the Alternate Design Treatment 
Systems Pilot Program through its adoption of amendments to the Comprehensive Management Plan 
(CMP); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Alternate Design Waste Water Treatment Systems Pilot Program is authorized as a  
means to test whether specifically authorized systems can be maintained and operated so as  
to meet the water quality standards contained in N.J.A.C. 7:50-6, Part VIII with maintenance  
requirements that a homeowner can be reasonably expected to follow. 
 
WHEREAS, through the Pilot Program, a total of seven technologies have been evaluated, four of 
which have demonstrated success in meeting CMP water quality standards and been authorized for 
residential use on a permanent basis by the Commission; and  
 
WHEREAS, following permanent authorization of the SeptiTech technology and removal of the 
BioBarrier technology from the Pilot Program in December 2020, only one technology (Hoot ANR) 
remained, and the Executive Director determined it was appropriate to issue an invitation for up to five 
new technologies to participate in the Pilot Program; and  
 
WHEREAS, the CMP provides an opportunity for the expansion of the Pilot Program to include 
additional residential wastewater nutrient reducing technologies that have attained verification and/or 
certification through the United States Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Technology 
Verification (USEPA ETV) program or the National Sanitation Foundation/American National 
Standards Institute (NSF/ANSI) Standard 245 testing program; and  
 
WHEREAS, N.J.A.C. 7:50-10.23(b) of the CMP sets forth the minimum submission requirements in 
order for USEPA ETV and/or NSF/ANSI Standard 245 certified technologies to be considered for 
participation in the pilot program; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-10.23(b)1, vendors of eligible technologies wishing to 
participate in the pilot program are required to submit all laboratory test data and reports associated with 
the technology’s attainment of verification and/or certification status, a description of the distribution 
and technical support system that the technology vendor will use to supply and service systems in the 
Pinelands Area, a comprehensive cost estimate of the technology, the expected total nitrogen 
concentration to be achieved by the technology when serving residential development in the Pinelands 
Area and an escrow in the amount of $2,500 to cover the cost of review for entry into the pilot program; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, on May 3, 2021, the Executive Director issued letters of invitation to fourteen eligible 
technology vendors announcing the opportunity to apply to participate in the pilot program and posted 
the application details on the Commission’s website; and  
 
WHEREAS, on May 3, 2021, public notice of the opportunity for eligible technologies to apply to 
participate in the Commission’s pilot program was published in the New Jersey Register (see 53 N.J.R. 
5(1)); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director established August 6, 2021 as the deadline for receipt of 
applications; and  
 



 2 
WHEREAS, complete applications were received by the Commission by the application deadline 
from four eligible technology vendors; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commission staff has reviewed the applications and supporting data and determined that 
three of the technologies (Fuji Clean USA, LLC, Residential CEN Series system; Waterloo Biofilter 
Systems, Inc., Waterloo Biofilter Residential Model treatment system; and Busse Innovative Systeme 
GmbH, Model MF-B-400 wastewater treatment system) have an anticipated total nitrogen concentration 
of ≤ 14 mg/l, which, for piloting purposes, qualifies these treatment systems for use by residential 
development on minimum one acre parcels; and  
 
WHEREAS, the fourth technology (Adelante Consulting, Inc., Pugo Residential wastewater treatment 
system) has an anticipated total nitrogen concentration of ≤ 17 mg/l, which, for piloting purposes, 
qualifies this treatment system for use by residential development on minimum 1.26 acre parcels; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Acting Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission entitled 
“Recommended Approval of Three New and One Readmitted Advanced Wastewater Treatment 
Technologies for Participation in the Alternate Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program”, dated 
October 14, 2021, and has recommended that the Commission authorize the four advanced wastewater 
treatment systems to participate in the Commission’s pilot program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission’s CMP Policy & Implementation Committee has reviewed the Acting 
Executive Director’s report and has recommended that the four identified wastewater treatment systems 
be accepted into the pilot program; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendations of the Acting Executive Director; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The following systems are hereby authorized to participate in the Pinelands Commission’s 
Alternate Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program in accordance with the Acting Executive 
Director’s October 14, 2021 report and recommendations: 
 

a. Fuji Clean USA, LLC, Residential CEN Series 
b. Waterloo Biofilter Systems, Inc., Waterloo Biofilter Residential Model 
c. Adelante Consulting, Inc., Pugo Residential 
d. Busse Innovative Systeme GmbH, Model MF-B-400  

 
2. Notice of this determination shall be published on the Commission’s website and in the New 

Jersey Register.  
 
 
 
 
 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery X    Jannarone X    Quinn   X  
Christy   X  Lloyd X    Rohan Green   X  
Higginbotham X    Lohbauer X    Prickett X    
Irick X    Pikolycky X    

 
    

       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:  November 12, 2021   

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 



 

        
 
 

Acting Executive Director’s Report 
to the 

Pinelands Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommended Approval of 
Three New and One Readmitted Advanced Wastewater Treatment Technologies for 

Participation in the Alternate Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

October 14, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



2 
 

Introduction 
 
The Pinelands Commission established the Alternate Design Treatment Systems Pilot Program through 
adoption of amendments to the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) that took effect in 2002.  The 
Pilot Program was authorized as a means to test whether specific wastewater treatment systems could be 
maintained and operated for residential use in the Pinelands Area so as to meet the water quality 
standards of the CMP, with maintenance requirements that homeowners could reasonably be expected to 
follow. A total of seven technologies have been evaluated through the Pilot Program to date, four of 
which have demonstrated success in meeting CMP water quality standards and been authorized for 
residential use on a permanent basis. These include the Amphidrome, Bioclere, Fast and SeptiTech 
treatment technologies. 
 
Amendments to the CMP, at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 6.84, and 10.21-10.23, effective October 18, 2010, 
authorized the Commission to approve additional technologies for participation in the Pilot Program. 
Eligibility for participation is based upon a technology’s having attained verification and/or 
certification status through the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) 
Environmental Technology Verification (ETV) program or the National Sanitation Foundation 
/American National Standards Institute (NSF/ANSI) Standard 245 testing program. 
 
The CMP provides that no more than six alternate design treatment technologies shall be approved for 
use in the pilot program at any one time. As of December 2020, the Hoot ANR wastewater treatment 
technology is the only technology participating in the pilot program. Therefore, up to five new 
technologies may be authorized for participation at this time.  
 
 
Pilot Program Timelines 
 
On May 3, 2021, Commission staff issued letters of invitation to the manufacturers or vendors 
of fourteen (14) USEPA ETV and/or NSF/ANSI eligible treatment technologies announcing the 
opportunity to apply to participate in the expanded pilot program. A public notice to this effect was 
published in the May 3, 2021 New Jersey Register and a similar announcement was posted on the 
Commission’s website. The Executive Director established August 6, 2021 as the deadline for the 
receipt of complete applications by the Commission. 
 
The CMP requires that the Executive Director review the submitted documents for the technologies 
seeking participation, determine the eligibility of the technologies based upon a comprehensive 
assessment of the submissions, and determine the minimum lot size on which each technology could be 
authorized for residential use. Based on the August 6, 2021 submission deadline, the Executive 
Director’s findings are to be submitted to the Commission no later than November 4, 2021.  
 
Upon receipt of the Executive Director’s report, the Commission must determine whether each 
technology should be approved for participation in the pilot program and thereafter ensure that 
any such determination is published in the New Jersey Register and posted and made available  
electronically on the Commission’s website. Commission action must occur within 120 days of the 
deadline for receipt of applications, or December 4, 2021.  
 
  



3 
 

 
Application Requirements 
 
To be considered for participation, manufacturers or vendors of eligible technologies 
were required to submit information including laboratory test data and reports associated with 
attainment of the requisite USEPA ETV or NSF/ANSI testing programs, a description of the 
distribution and support system for the sale and support of treatment units in the Pinelands Area, 
an estimate of the cost of the technology, the expected total nitrogen concentration to be 
achieved by the technology and an escrow in the amount of $2,500 to cover the cost of review for 
entry into the pilot program. 
 
 
Submission Summary 
 
Four USEPA ETV and/or NSF/ANSI Standard 245 certified treatment technologies submitted 
complete applications to the Commission prior to the August 6, 2021 submission deadline. Three of the 
technologies are new to the Pinelands pilot program and one, the Busse technology, has applied for 
readmission to the pilot program after having been previously dropped from the program for lack of 
system installations.  The four eligible technologies include: the Fuji Clean USA, LLC, Residential CEN 
Series system; the Adelante Consulting, Inc., Pugo Residential wastewater treatment system; the 
Waterloo Biofilter Systems, Inc., Waterloo Biofilter Residential Model treatment system; and the Busse 
Innovative Systeme GmbH, Model MF-B-400 wastewater treatment system. These treatment 
technologies are summarized in the attached memoranda prepared by Ed Wengrowski, the 
Commission’s Environmental Technologies Coordinator. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Based upon each technology’s attainment of USEPA ETV and/or NSF/ANSI Standard 245 
certification status, the expected total nitrogen concentration in treated wastewater, the required 
submission and approval of documents required at N.J.A.C 7:50-10.22(a)2ii through vi., and 
subject to the provisions of N.J.A.C 7:50-10.22(a)3 which provide for future adjustments to 
minimum lot size requirements, it is my recommendation that the Commission authorize the Fuji Clean 
USA, LLC, Residential CEN Series system, the Adelante Consulting, Inc., Pugo Residential wastewater 
treatment system, the Waterloo Biofilter Systems, Inc., Waterloo Biofilter Residential Model treatment 
system and the Busse Innovative Systeme GmbH, Model MF-B-400 wastewater treatment system for 
participation in the Commission’s Alternate Design Wastewater Treatment Systems Pilot Program to 
serve residential development. Based upon the expected total nitrogen concentration in treated effluent, 
the Fuji Clean USA technology, Waterloo Biofilter technology and the Busse technology are eligible to 
serve residential development on minimum one acre parcels. The Pugo technology is eligible to serve 
residential development on minimum 1.26 acre parcels. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Memorandum dated October 14, 2021: Fuji Clean USA 
Memorandum dated October 7, 2021: Waterloo Biofilter 
Memorandum dated October 6, 2021: Pugo 
Memorandum dated October 11, 2021: Busse  



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery     Jannarone     Quinn     
Christy     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Higginbotham     Lohbauer     Prickett     
Irick     Pikolycky          
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:     

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  
 

NO. PC4-21-    
 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions Applications for Public Development (Application Numbers 1982-
2904.003 & 2006-0322.002) 

 
Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 

 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Reports and 
the recommendation of the Acting Executive Director that the following applications for Public 
Development be approved with conditions: 
 

1982-2904.003 
Applicant: Egg Harbor Township 
Municipality: Egg Harbor Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 
Date of Report:  November 17, 2021 
Proposed Development: Construction of a public recreational facility including a multi-

purpose field, recreational courts and a 62 space parking lot; and 
2006-0322.002 
Applicant: New Jersey Department of Transportation 
Municipality: Dennis Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Forest Area 
 Pinelands Village 
Date of Report:  November 15, 2021 
Proposed Development: Construction of an electronic traffic advisory sign with associated 

development within the State Route 47 right-of-way. 
 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Acting 
Executive Director’s recommendation has been received for any of these applications; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Acting Executive Director 
for each of the proposed developments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that each of the proposed public 
developments conform to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Acting Executive Director are imposed; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 
effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 
of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Numbers 1982-2904.003 & 2006-
0322.002 for public development are hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the 
Acting Executive Director. 



 

 

       November 17, 2021 
 
Donna L. Markulic (via email) 
Egg Harbor Township 
3515 Bargaintown Road 
Egg Harbor Township, NJ 08234 
 
 Re: Application # 1982-2904.003 
  Block 2913, Lot 2 
  Block 2914, Lot 1 
  Block 2915, Lot 1 
  Egg Harbor Township 
 
Dear Ms. Markulic: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a public 
recreational facility including a multi-purpose field, recreational courts and a 62 space parking lot. 
Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Acting 
Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with 
conditions at its December 10, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Egg Harbor Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Egg Harbor Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Egg Harbor Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 
 Robert A. Watkins (via email) 



  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       November 17, 2021 
 
Donna L. Markulic (via email) 
Egg Harbor Township 
3515 Bargaintown Road 
Egg Harbor Township, NJ 08234 
 
Application No.: 1982-2904.003 
   Block 2913, Lot 2 
   Block 2914, Lot 1 
   Block 2915, Lot 1 
   Egg Harbor Township 
 
This application proposes construction of a public recreational facility including a multi-purpose field, 
recreational courts and a 62 space parking lot located on the above referenced 11.01 acre parcel in Egg 
Harbor Township. There is an existing public recreational facility located on a portion of the parcel. 
 
In addition to the multi-purpose field, recreational courts, and parking lot, the applicant proposes the 
construction of a playground and a gazebo.   
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:  
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 
 
The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed public recreational facility is a 
permitted land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.    
 
Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 
 
The proposed development will be located within existing grassed areas and wooded areas. 
Approximately 2.84 acres of forest will be cleared to accommodate the proposed development.  The 
CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23(a)1) provides that all clearing shall be limited to that which is necessary to 
accommodate development that is permitted by the CMP and, where practical, all clearing shall avoid 
wooded areas. The proposed recreational facility will occupy the entire parcel. The proposed clearing 
and soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the permitted development.  



2 

 
The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 
tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions.  The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture which 
meets that recommendation. 
 
Water Quality Standard (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.83) 
 
The proposed public recreational facility will be serviced by public sanitary sewer. 
 
Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6) 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the CMP stormwater 
management standards. To meet the stormwater management standards, the applicant will be 
constructing a stormwater infiltration basin. 
 
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 
upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 
not required. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required landowners within 200 feet of 
the above referenced parcel was completed on September 29, 2021. Newspaper public notice was 
completed on October 1, 2021. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s 
website on November 1, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on November 12, 
2021. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 
the plan, consisting of 10 sheets, prepared by Mott Watkins Associates, LLC and dated as 
follows: 
 
Sheets 1, 8 & 10 - June 10, 2021 with no revisions 
Sheets 2, 3, 6 & 7 - June 10, 2021 and revised to September 29, 2021 
Sheets 4, 5 & 9 - June 10, 2021 and revised to September 28, 2021 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 
licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  
Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 
grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

 



3 

 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 
recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 
above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on December 6, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

 

       November 15, 2021 
 
Brenna Fairfax (via email) 
New Jersey Department of Transportation 
1035 Parkway Avenue 
Trenton, NJ 08625 
 
 Re: Application # 2006-0322.002 
  State Route 47 
  Dennis Township 
 
Dear Ms. Fairfax: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this amended application for construction of an 
electronic traffic advisory sign with associated development within the State Route 47 right-of-way.  
Enclosed is a copy of an Amended Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the 
Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve 
the application with conditions at its December 10, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document.  If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Dennis Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Dennis Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Dennis Township Environmental Commission (via email) 
 Secretary, Cape May County Planning Board (via email) 
  
 



 
 
 
 



 

 

AMENDED PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

       November 15, 2021 
Brenna Fairfax (via email) 
New Jersey Department of Transportation 
1035 Parkway Avenue 
Trenton, NJ 08625 
 
Application No.: 2006-0322.002 
   State Route 47 
   Dennis Township 
 
This application proposes construction of an electronic traffic advisory sign with associated 
development within the State Route 47 right-of-way in Dennis Township. 
 
On August 9, 2019, the Commission approved this application for the construction of the electronic 
traffic advisory sign, the installation of 12,379 linear feet of fiber optic cable and the construction of 190 
linear feet of guiderail, equipment cabinets and a paver pad for maintenance vehicle parking.  
 
As part of that prior Commission approval, approximately 1,201 linear feet of fiber optic cable was to be 
installed overhead on existing utility poles for two sections of the proposed development.  During 
construction, the applicant determined that the installation of the fiber optic cable on the existing utility 
poles was not feasible.  The applicant now proposes to install the two sections of the fiber optic cable by 
trenching within the existing road shoulder.    
 
The applicant indicates that the proposed development will be utilized to inform motorists of traffic 
congestion and to assist the New Jersey Department of Transportation with emergency management and 
congestion mitigation.  
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP).  The following reviews the CMP standards that are 
relevant to this application:   
 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.23(b)12 & 14 and (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.27(a)) 
  
The proposed development is located partially in a Pinelands Forest Area and partially in the Pinelands 
Villages of North Dennis and Dennisville.  
 
 



2 

The proposed electronic sign is located in a Pinelands Forest Area. As a traffic directional and 
informational sign, the proposed electronic sign is a permitted use in a Pinelands Forest Area.   
 
Approximately 4,600 linear feet of the proposed fiber optic cable (public service infrastructure) is 
located in a Pinelands Forest Area. The proposed fiber optic cable is a permitted use in a Pinelands 
Forest Area as it is intended to primarily serve only the needs of the Pinelands. 
  
Approximately 7,779 linear feet of the proposed fiber optic cable (public service infrastructure) is 
located in the Pinelands Villages of North Dennis and Dennisville. The proposed fiber optic cable is a 
permitted use in a Pinelands Village.  
  
Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.13) 
 
There are wetlands located within 300 feet of the proposed development. A portion of the proposed fiber 
optic cable that is proposed under existing grassed road shoulders will be located in the required buffer 
to wetlands.  The fiber optic cable will be located approximately 25 feet from wetlands at its closest 
point.         
 
The CMP permits fiber optic cables (linear improvements) in the required buffer to wetlands provided 
the applicant demonstrates that certain CMP specified conditions are met.  The applicant has 
demonstrated that there is no feasible alternative to the proposed development that does not involve 
development in the required buffer to wetlands or that will result in a less significant adverse impact to 
the required buffer to wetlands.  In addition, the proposed development will not result in a substantial 
impairment of the resources of the Pinelands.  With the conditions below, all practical measures are 
being taken to mitigate the impact on the required buffer to wetlands.  The applicant has represented that 
the proposed development is necessary to improve the safety of the existing roadway.  The applicant has 
demonstrated that the need for the proposed development overrides the importance of protecting the 
wetlands buffer.  
 
Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 
 
The proposed development will be located within an existing maintained grassed road shoulder. The 
proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed 
development. 
 
The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 
tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The existing grasses within the maintained road shoulder 
are non-native. The applicant proposes to replant non-native lawn grasses along the maintained road 
shoulder.   
    
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
A cultural resource survey was prepared for this application. It was determined that there were no 
cultural resources eligible for Pinelands designation within the project area.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Newspaper public notice was completed on 
October 27, 2021.  The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on 



3 

October 29, 2021.  The Commission’s public comment period closed on November 12, 2021.  No public 
comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 
the plan, consisting of 12 sheets, prepared by Michael Baker International, Inc. and dated 
as follows: 
 
Sheet 1 - December 14, 2018; revised to October 2021 
Sheets 2-4, 6, 7, 10 & 12 - December 14, 2018 
Sheet 5 - July 17, 2019 
Sheets 8, 9 & 11 - December 14, 2018; revised to September 2021 
 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 
licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  
Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 
grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 
approvals. 

5. Appropriate measures shall be taken during construction to preclude sedimentation from 
entering wetlands and shall be maintained in place until all development has been 
completed and the area has been stabilized. 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 
recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 
above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on December 3, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery     Jannarone     Quinn     
Christy     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Higginbotham     Lohbauer     Prickett     
Irick     Pikolycky          
       *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:     

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  
 

NO. PC4-21-    
 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 
2007-0318.001) 

 
Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 

 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Report and 
the recommendation of the Acting Executive Director that the following application for Public 
Development be approved with conditions: 
 

2007-0318.001 
Applicant: NJDEP, NJ Forest Service 
Municipality: Bass River Township 
 Little Egg Harbor Township 
Management Area: Pinelands Preservation Area District 
Date of Report:  November 18, 2021 
Proposed Development: 1,304 acres of forestry and the creation of approximately 13 miles 

of forest fire fuel break. 
 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Acting 
Executive Director’s recommendation has been received for this application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Acting Executive Director 
for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that the proposed public development 
conforms to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in N.J.A.C. 
7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Acting Executive Director are imposed; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 
effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 
of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Number 2007-0318.001 for public 
development is hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Acting Executive 
Director. 
 



 

 

       November 18, 2021 
John Sacco, State Forester (via email) 
NJDEP, NJ Forest Service 
Mail Code 501-04 
PO Box 3420 
Trenton, NJ 08625 
 
 Re: Application # 2007-0318.001 

Allen Road right-of-way  
Oswego Road right-of-way   

  Blocks/Lots: See Attachment A 
  Bass River Township  
  Little Egg Harbor Township  
  
Dear Mr. Sacco: 
 
The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for 1,304 acres of forestry and the 
creation of approximately 13 miles of forest firebreak. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development 
Application Report. On behalf of the Commission’s Acting Executive Director, I am recommending that 
the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its December 10, 2021 meeting. 
 
Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 
to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 
recommendation of the Acting Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. 
 
Prior to any forestry or the creation of the forest firebreak, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary 
permits and approvals. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 
 Director of Regulatory Programs 
 
Enc: Appeal Procedure 
 
c: Secretary, Bass River Township Planning Board (via email) 
 Bass River Township Construction Code Official (via email) 
 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 



 Oliver Clifford, Construction Official, Little Egg Harbor Township (via email) 
 Robin Schilling, Planning Board Secretary, Little Egg Harbor Township (via email) 
 Robin Florio, Planning Board Secretary, Ocean County (via email) 
 Bill Zipse (via email) 
 Dave Garrison (via email) 
 Jason Howell (via email) 
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 
 

November 18, 2021 
 
John Sacco, State Forester (via email) 
New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, NJ Forest Service 
Mail Code 501-04 
PO Box 3420 
Trenton, NJ 08625 
 
Application No.: 2007-0318.001 

Allen Road right-of-way 
Oswego Road right-of-way    

   Blocks/Lots: See Attachment A 
Bass River Township  

   Little Egg Harbor Township 
 
This application proposes 1,304 acres of forestry and approximately 13 miles of forest firebreak on the 
above referenced 1,383 acre parcel and on either side of Oswego Road and Allen Road in Bass River 
Township and Little Egg Harbor Township.  
 
Forest thinning is proposed to occur in a pine-dominated forest type and a pine-shrub oak forest type. 
The applicant represents that the acreage subject of the proposed forestry contains an abnormally high 
density of tree and shrub layer and is classified as overstocked. The applicant further represents that this 
overstocking creates a very high forest fire fuel load and encourages the persistence of ladder fuels, 
which in turn lead to a very high risk of wildfire.  
 
Approximately 1,041 acres of pine-dominated forest type will be thinned twice. The applicant proposes 
that this acreage will be “thinned low and from below.” This type of thinning cuts and removes those 
trees that are the shortest in height and smallest in diameter. The applicant indicates that these trees 
generally act as forest fire “ladder fuels” by connecting the plants and shrubs on the ground with the 
upper canopy of taller trees. The proposed “low and from below” thinning will reduce the forest from 
2,173 trees per acre to 226 trees per acre. Canopy cover will be reduced from 64% to 43%.  
 
Approximately 255 acres of pine-shrub oak forest type will be subject to a variable density thinning 
treatment. This thinning will reduce the forest from 2,000 trees per acre to 77 trees per acre. Canopy 
cover will be reduced from 71% to 30%. 
 
Approximately 8 acres of pine-shrub oak forest type along the western outside edge of the Allen Road 
firebreak will be subject to a “feathered” variable density thinning treatment. The applicant indicates 
that this type of thinning means the creation of a gradual transition in tree density from 0 trees per acre 



2 

created by the proposed forest firebreak to 34 trees per acre for a distance back from the proposed forest 
firebreak of 70 feet. Canopy cover will be reduced from 71% to 19% by the “feathered” variable density 
thinning treatment. The applicant indicates that this “feathered” treatment is intended to reduce the harsh 
forest edges and create a more visually appealing aesthetic between the proposed forest firebreak and the 
variable density thinning treatment. 
 
To control invasive species that could inhibit the regeneration of pine in the pine-shrub oak forest type, 
the application proposes a combination of mechanical site preparation methods and herbiciding.      
 
The application also proposes the creation of a forest firebreak along both sides of Allen Road.  The 
forest firebreak will be created by clearing all trees within a 30 foot wide strip for approximately five 
miles on either side of Allen Road between the southern boundary of the Warren Grove Gunnery Range 
and Stage Road. The application also proposes the creation of a 30 foot wide forest firebreak along both 
sides of Oswego Road for approximately eight miles between Cutts Road and County Route 539. In 
total, the proposed forest firebreak will result in the clearing of approximately 79 acres of forest.  
 
Mowing, drum chopping, disking and spot application of herbicide are proposed to maintain the forest 
firebreak.  
 
Mowing of the forest firebreak on an ongoing basis constitutes a routine and customary maintenance 
activity and does not require application to the Commission.     
 
Drum chopping, disking and the spot application of herbicides do not constitute routine and customary 
maintenance activities. The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.45) provides that permits and approvals authorizing 
forestry activities shall be valid for a period of 10 years. After December 10, 2031, any proposed drum 
chopping, disking or spot application of herbicides for the proposed forestry and the forest firebreak 
requires application to the Commission.  
 
The applicant also proposes road maintenance activities to include grading and the addition of gravel to 
the existing sand/gravel roadway. Routine and customary road maintenance activities do not require 
application to the Commission.  
 
For Allen Road and that portion of Oswego Road located in Bass River Township, the Township tax 
map indicates that both roads are 66 foot wide municipal road rights-of-way. In Little Egg Harbor 
Township, the Township tax map indicates that Oswego Road has a 30 foot wide municipal road right-
of-way. A portion of Allen Road is comprised of broken deteriorated pavement and a portion is sand. 
Owego Road is entirely a sand road. Both roads range in width from 13 feet to 24 feet. A condition is 
included in this recommended approval requiring that the applicant obtain any necessary municipal 
authorization to undertake vegetation removal or maintenance activities within either of the two road 
rights-of-way.     
 
The application also proposes to undertake prescribed burning on the parcel. Prescribed burning does 
not require application to the Commission. 
 

STANDARDS 
 
The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed forestry and forest firebreak for consistency with all 
standards of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP 
standards that are relevant to this application:   



3 

 
Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.22(a)3 & (b)4) 
 
The proposed forestry and forest firebreak are located in the Pinelands Preservation Area District.  
Forestry is permitted in the Pinelands Preservation Area District. 
 
Forestry (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.41) 
 
The application proposes herbiciding in association with the proposed forestry and forest firebreak. The 
CMP permits herbicide treatment as a forestry practice for site preparation provided the following five 
conditions are met:  
 

1. Condition One: The proposed treatment is identified in an application submitted to the 
Pinelands Commission.  

 
The submitted Pinelands application identifies the proposed herbicide treatment.  

 
2. Condition Two: Control of competitive plant species is clearly necessary.  
 

For the proposed forestry in the pine dominated forest type, the applicant represents that 
herbiciding is clearly necessary to control invasive plant species, encourage native 
grasses and facilitate the regeneration of pine.  For the proposed forestry in the pine-
shrub oak forest type the applicant represents that herbiciding is clearly necessary to 
control invasive plant species that inhibit the regeneration of pine.   

 
3. Condition Three: Control of competitive plant species by other non-chemical means is 

not practical.  
 

For the proposed 1,304 acres of forestry and the 13 miles of forest firebreak, the applicant 
represents that non-chemical means is not practical considering the number of multiple 
entries per year for an approximate five year period that would be required to control 
growth, thereby greatly increasing impacts to the site and resulting in very high costs.   

 
4. Condition Four: All chemicals shall be expressly labeled for forestry use and shall be 

used and mixed in a manner that is consistent with relevant State and Federal 
requirements.  

 
For the proposed forestry and the forest firebreak, the applicant has indicated that the 
chemicals proposed for use are labeled for forestry use and will be applied by a licensed 
pesticide applicator.  

 
5.  Condition Five: In pine-shrub oak native forest type, herbicide treatments shall only be 

permitted as a method to temporarily suppress shrub-oak understory in order to facilitate 
pine regeneration. All such herbicide treatments shall be applied in a targeted manner so 
that there will be no significant reduction in tree or shrub-oak re-sprouting outside those 
areas subject to the herbicide treatment.  

 
 
 



4 

For the proposed forestry in the pine-shrub oak forest type, the applicant has indicated 
that herbicides will only be applied in a targeted manner for areas where invasive plant 
species become established in the understory that inhibit the regeneration of pine, when 
all other mechanical site preparation methods are exhausted. 
 

The applicant has demonstrated that the five conditions to permit the use of herbicide for forestry will be 
met. 
 
Threatened and Endangered Species Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.27 & 6.33) 
 
Available information identifies known sightings of threatened and endangered (T&E) animal and 
wetland associated plant species in the vicinity of the proposed forestry and the forest firebreak. The 
applicant represents that the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), Division of 
Fish and Wildlife, Endangered and Nongame Species Program, Office of Natural Lands Management 
and the Natural Heritage Review Group reviewed and approved the proposed activities. The 
Commission staff reviewed the proposed forestry and forest firebreak to determine whether it was 
designed to avoid irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the survival of any local 
populations of T&E animal species and irreversible adverse impacts on the survival of any local 
populations of T&E plant species. 
 
To avoid potential irreversible adverse impacts on any T&E avian species that may be present, the 
applicant proposes to conduct visual surveys to identify and mark any trees containing potential T&E 
avian species cavities or nests. Any identified and marked trees will not be harvested.  
 
To avoid any irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the survival of any local 
populations of T&E snake species, the applicant proposes that the proposed forestry and the creation of 
the forest firebreak shall only occur between April 15 to November 15, the period when the concerned 
snake species are active.  
 
To avoid potential irreversible adverse impacts on the survival of any local populations of Pine Barrens 
treefrog, the applicant proposes that a 100 foot buffer shall be maintained between the proposed forestry 
and proposed forest firebreak to potential Pine Barrens treefrog breeding habitat.   
 
There are known sightings of wetland associated T&E plant species in the project area. To avoid 
potential irreversible adverse impacts on the survival of any local populations of wetland associated 
T&E plant species, the applicant proposes to maintain a 100 foot buffer to any identified T&E plant 
species.  This Public Development Application Report contains a condition requiring that, prior to 
undertaking the proposed forestry and creating the forest firebreak, the applicant shall conduct visual 
surveys to identify any wetlands associated T&E plant species within 100 feet of the proposed forestry 
and forest firebreak.   
 
The proposed forestry is designed to avoid irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the 
survival of any local populations of T&E animal species and irreversible adverse impacts on the survival 
of any local populations of T&E plant species. 
 
 
 
 
 



5 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.6) 
 
There are wetlands located within the area proposed for forestry and the forest firebreak. The CMP 
permits forestry in both wetlands and the required buffer to wetlands. To maintain consistency with the 
T&E species protection standards, the application proposes to maintain a 100 foot buffer to any wetlands 
containing potential Pine Barrens treefrog breeding habitat and a 100 foot buffer to any wetlands 
associated T&E plant species. Other than the proposed buffers to maintain consistency with the T&E 
species protection standards, all other forestry will maintain an 80 foot buffer to wetlands and the 
proposed firebreak will maintain a 50 foot buffer to wetlands.    
   
Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 
 
No new or temporary access roads are proposed as part of this application. Minimal soil disturbance 
caused by the proposed forestry and forest firebreak will occur. As a result, a cultural resource survey 
was not required for the proposed forestry or forest fire fuel break. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the required public notices. Newspaper public notice was completed on 
March 13, 2021. Notice to required landowners within 200 feet of the above referenced parcel was 
completed on March 16, 2021. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s 
website on June 22, 2021. The Commission’s public comment period closed on July 9, 2021.  
 
The Commission received one oral comment at its August 13, 2021 meeting and one written comment 
(attached) regarding this application. Each commenter will receive a copy of this Report on an 
Application for Public Development.     
 
Public Comment: 
  

 Written Commenter (Dave Garrigan): The commenter requested an explanation of the “low and 
below” thinning proposed and when the project would start.  
 
Staff Response: The applicant has indicated that low and from below thinning means that the 
cutting/removal of the shortest in height and smallest in diameter trees will occur up to the 
specified density. The commenter may wish to discuss with a representative of the NJDEP, 
Forest Service as to when the project would start.   
 

 Oral Commenter (Jason Howell): The commenter raised concerns regarding critical T&E species 
habitat within the project area, increased vehicle speed upon project completion and the change 
in landscape.  

 
Staff Response: The application was reviewed by New Jersey Division of Fish and Wildlife, 
Endangered and Nongame Species Program, NJDEP Office of Natural Lands Management, the 
NJDEP Natural Heritage Review Group and Commission staff. It was concluded that no 
irreversible adverse impacts will occur on habitats critical to the survival of any local populations 
of T&E animal species or on any local populations of T&E plant species known to be in the 
project area.  The Commission staff appreciates the commenter’s concerns regarding possible 
increased vehicle speed on the concerned roads. The CMP contains no relevant standards or 
regulations addressing maintenance of existing roads and vehicle speed on those roads. The 



6 

commenter may wish to discuss this concern regarding possible increased vehicle speed with 
appropriate representatives of Bass River Township and Little Egg Harbor Township.  The 
Commission staff also appreciates the commenter’s concerns regarding the proposed change in 
the landscape. The CMP permits forestry in all parts of the Pinelands Area, including the 
Preservation Area District. Forestry can result in a change in the visual appearance of the 
landscape. Other than requiring buffers between parcel boundaries and areas of clearcutting, 
coppicing and seed tree cutting, none of which are proposed by this application, the CMP does 
not directly regulate the visual appearance of lands that are subject to forestry.  
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. The proposed forestry activities shall adhere to the “Proposal for Silvicultural Activity on State 
Forest and Park Lands New Jersey State Forestry Service,” dated December 9, 2020 as amended 
to November 10, 2021. 

 
2. Prior to any forestry or creation of the forest firebreak proposed in this application, the applicant 

shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 
 

3. To avoid irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the survival of any local 
populations of T&E snake species, all forestry and the creation of the forest firebreak shall occur 
between April 15 and November 15, the time period when the snakes are active.  
 

4. To avoid potential irreversible adverse impacts on any T&E avian species, prior to undertaking 
the proposed forestry and forest firebreak, visual surveys to identify and mark any trees 
containing potential T&E avian species cavities or nests shall be conducted and any tree 
containing potential T & E avian species cavities or nests shall not be harvested.   

 
5. To avoid irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the survival of any local 

populations of T&E Pines Barrens treefrog, a 100 foot buffer to potential treefrog breeding 
habitat shall be maintained.  

 
6. To avoid irreversible adverse impacts on habitats that are critical to the survival of any local 

populations of wetlands associated T&E plant species, prior to undertaking the proposed forestry 
and forest firebreak, the applicant shall conduct visual surveys to identify and mark any wetlands 
associated T&E plant species located within 100 feet of the proposed forestry and forest 
firebreak and a 100 foot buffer shall be maintained to any identified wetlands associated T&E 
plant species.   

 
7. No vegetation removal shall occur in the Allen Road right-of-way or the Oswego Road right-of 

way until any municipal authorization that may be necessary is obtained from Bass River 
Township and Little Egg Harbor Township.  

 
8. No forest thinning or creation of a forest firebreak shall occur after December 10, 2031 unless a 

new application has been completed with and approved by the Pinelands Commission. 
 

 
 
 
 



7 

CONCLUSION 
 

As the proposed forestry and forest firebreak conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it 
is recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed forestry and forest firebreak 
subject to the above conditions. 
 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
APPEAL PROCEDURE 

 
The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 
right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 
require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 
meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 
Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 
received by the Commission’s office no later than 5:00 PM on December 6, 2021 and include the 
following information: 
 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 
 

2. the application number; 
 
3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 
4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 
5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 
environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 
decision. 

 
Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 
procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 
Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 
of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 
Administrative Law. 
  



 

ATTACHMENT “A” 
 

 



 

 
  



 

Written Public Comment 
 

 



 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-21-    
 

 
TITLE: To Revise and Adopt Proposed Amendments to the Comprehensive Management Plan 

(Stormwater Management) 
 
 

Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, on February 4, 2004, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) 
adopted a set of Stormwater Management Rules (N.J.A.C. 7:8) that addressed stormwater-related water 
quality, groundwater recharge and water quantity impacts of major development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission conducted a detailed review of the 2004 NJDEP regulations 
and identified amendments to the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) that were 
necessary to integrate the NJDEP’s new regulations, reflect then state-of-the-art stormwater engineering 
practices and provide for enhanced protection of Pinelands resources; and 
 
WHEREAS, following adoption by the Pinelands Commission, these CMP amendments took effect on 
May 1, 2006 and were subsequently implemented by Pinelands municipalities through the adoption of 
Stormwater Management Plans and Stormwater Control Ordinances; and  
 
WHEREAS, on October 25, 2019, the NJDEP adopted amendments to its Stormwater Management 
Rules, focusing on the use of green infrastructure to meet groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff 
quantity and stormwater runoff quality standards; and 
 
WHEREAS, the amended NJDEP rules took effect on March 2, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission again identified the need to once again amend the CMP in 
order to integrate the new NJDEP regulations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission determined that it is appropriate and necessary to modify the 
amended NJDEP rules to provide enhanced protection of Pinelands resources and address the potential 
impacts of climate change on stormwater runoff; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission therefore proposed adoption of more stringent standards, requiring 
stormwater management for both major and minor development and limiting the potential for variations 
or exceptions from stormwater management requirements; and  
 
WHEREAS, on June 11, 2021, the Pinelands Commission authorized the publication of the proposed 
amendments through adoption of Resolution PC4-21-16; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendments were published in the July 19, 2021 issue of the New Jersey 
Register at 53 N.J.R. 1195(a), posted on the Commission’s website and distributed to all Pinelands 
municipalities and counties, the Pinelands Municipal Council and a wide range of interested parties; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission held a public hearing to elicit public comment on the proposed 
amendments on September 1, 2021; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission also solicited written comment on the proposed amendments 
through September 17, 2021; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received both oral and written comments on the proposed 
amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, at its October 29, 2021 meeting, the Commission’s Policy & Implementation Committee 
reviewed all public comments received on the proposed Comprehensive Management Plan amendments 



 2 

and the responses prepared by Commission staff, including a number of minor clarifications and 
corrections to the amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, these minor clarifications and corrections are reflected in the attached Notice of Adoption, 
dated December 1, 2021; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the December 1, 2021 Notice of Adoption and all 
public comments received by the Commission on the proposed amendments; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission desires to revise and adopt the proposed amendments in 
accordance with the December 1, 2021 Notice of Adoption; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission in adopting the 
Comprehensive Management Plan or amendments thereto shall have force or effect until thirty (30) 
days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes of the meeting of the 
Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to expiration of the review 
period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become effective upon such 
approval.  
 
  
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  
 
1. The Pinelands Commission hereby revises the proposed Comprehensive Management Plan 

amendments, as published in the July 19, 2021 New Jersey Register, in accordance with the 
attached December 1, 2021 Notice of Adoption.  

 
2. The Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the proposed Comprehensive Management Plan 

amendments, as published in the July 19, 2021 New Jersey Register, and in accordance with the 
attached December 1, 2021 Notice of Adoption.  

 
3. The Acting Executive Director shall forward the amendments and minutes of this action to the 

Governor of the State of New Jersey, and shall also forward these amendments to the United 
States Secretary of the Interior for review in accordance with Section 502 of the National Parks 
and Recreation Act of 1978. 

 
4. The amendments shall take effect as provided in the Pinelands Protection Act and upon 

publication in the New Jersey Register. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery     Jannarone     Quinn     
Christy     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Higginbotham     Lohbauer     Prickett     
Irick     Pikolycky          

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:              

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 



December 1, 2021 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan    
 
Definitions; Standards for Certification of Municipal Master Plans and Land Use 

Ordinances; and Minimum Standards for Point and Non-Point Source Discharges  

Adopted Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39, and 6.84 

Proposed: July 19, 2021 at 53 N.J.R. 1195(a) 
 
Adopted: ________________ by the New Jersey Pinelands Commission, 
Susan R. Grogan, Acting Executive Director  
 
Filed:                         , as R.     d.                   , with non-substantive changes not requiring   
     additional public notice and comment (see N.J.A.C. 1:30-6.3). 
 
Authorized by:  New Jersey Pinelands Commission  
 
Authority: N.J.S.A. 13:18A-6j. 
 
Effective Date:   
 
Expiration Date:  Exempt. 
 

The New Jersey Pinelands Commission (Commission) is adopting amendments to 

Subchapter 2, Interpretations and Definitions, Subchapter 3, Certification of County, Municipal, 

and Federal Installation Plans, and Subchapter 6, Management Programs and Minimum 

Standards of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The amendments were 

proposed on July 19, 2021 at 53 N.J.R. 1195(a). The adopted amendments relate to stormwater 

management in the Pinelands Area and harmonize the CMP with the stormwater management 

rules adopted by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection in 2019 (see 50 N.J.R. 



 2 

2375(a)), with modifications consistent with the goals of the CMP and in recognition of the 

special resources of the Pinelands that the Commission is charged with protecting.  

The Pinelands Commission transmitted the notice of proposal to each Pinelands 

municipality and county, as well as to other interested parties, for review and comment. 

Additionally, the Pinelands Commission: 

- Sent notice of the public hearing to all persons and organizations that subscribe to the 

Commission's public hearing registry; 

- Sent notice of the public hearing and provided a copy of the notice of proposal to all 

Pinelands counties and municipalities, a lengthy list of municipal and consulting engineers who 

typically represent applications or submit development applications to the Commission, and 

other interested parties; 

- Placed advertisements of the public hearing in the four official newspapers of the 

Commission, as well as on the Commission's own web page; 

- Submitted the proposed amendments to the Pinelands Municipal Council pursuant to 

N.J.S.A. 13:18A-7.f; 

- Distributed the proposed amendments to the news media maintaining a press office in 

the State House Complex; and 

- Published a copy of the proposed amendments on its web page 

at www.nj.gov/pinelands. 

Summary of Hearing Officer Recommendations and Agency Response:  

A formal public hearing was held in live video format (Zoom) before the Commission 

staff on September 1, 2021. Instructions for how to participate in the video hearing were 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands


 3 

included in the public hearing notice as well as on the Commission’s website. The public hearing 

was recorded in video format and is on file in the Commission’s digital records. Six people 

called in to provide oral testimony on the notice of proposal.  

In addition to the oral comments, the Commission received 10 written comments, two of 

which were from individuals that provided oral comment at the public hearing. 

Summary of Public Comments and Agency Responses: 

 The Commission accepted oral comments on the July 19, 2021 proposal at the above-

discussed September 1, 2021 public hearing and written comments by regular mail, facsimile or 

e-mail through September 17, 2021. 

 The following individuals and organizations submitted comments: 

1. Rhyan Grech, Pinelands Preservation Alliance  

2. Georgina Shanley, Citizens United for Renewable Energy  

3. Marie Pezzato, resident of Burlington County 

4. Wendy Brophy, former Tabernacle resident, current Ocean County resident 

5. Charles Caruso, in personal capacity 

6. Sandra Blick (public hearing) and Joseph Sweger (written comment), New Jersey 

Department of Transportation 

7. L. Stanton Hales, Jr. PhD, Barnegat Bay Partnership 

8. Stephen M. Mazur, PE, PP, PTOE, CME, South Jersey Transportation Authority  

9. Patrick Stewart, New Jersey Society of Professional Engineers 

10. Tony DiLodovico, Tony D Environmental Permitting, LLC 

11. Dan Kennedy, P.P., MCRP, Utility and Transportation Contractors Association  



 4 

12. Robert J. Fischer, P.E., New Jersey Turnpike Authority  

13. Hunter Birckhead, P.E., CFM, Colliers Engineering 

14. Grant Lucking, New Jersey Builders Association  

 The Commission’s detailed response to the comments is set forth below. The numbers in 

parentheses after each comment correspond to the list of commenters above. 

 
 
General Comments 
 

1.  COMMENT: Several commenters expressed general support for the proposal, with 

many stating that the proposal will strengthen and enhance stormwater protection in the 

Pinelands. Two commenters added that the proposal will have the same benefits in Barnegat 

Bay. Some expressed appreciation for the efforts of the Pinelands Commission to go further than 

the stormwater rules recently adopted by the New Jersey Department of Environmental 

Protection (NJDEP) in protecting the natural resources of the Pinelands. (1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenters for their support.  

2.  COMMENT: Several commenters noted that the additional protections provided for in 

the rule proposal are important in the face of climate change and its impact on stormwater runoff. 

(1, 3, 7)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenters for their support.  

3.  COMMENT: Two commenters stated that the proposed changes establish reasonable 

requirements for home builders and developers. (5, 7)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenters for their support.  

4.  COMMENT:  Two commenters stated that they believe municipalities that have areas 

both within and outside the Pinelands Area should be encouraged to apply the Commission’s 



 5 

stormwater rules that are superior to the NJDEP rules, both within and outside the Pinelands 

Area. The commenters submit that such a change would result in overall improvements in water 

quality in the Pinelands and adjoining areas and give municipalities additional flexibility in their 

management of stormwater. (5, 7)  

RESPONSE: The Commission appreciates the commenters’ interest in improving water 

quality in the Pinelands Area and in the areas adjacent to it. Pursuant to the Pinelands Protection 

Act at N.J.S.A. 13:18A-8, the Commission’s regulatory authority is limited to the State 

designated Pinelands Area. Consequently, the Commission cannot mandate that municipalities 

implement the Commission’s stormwater rules in those portions of the municipality located 

outside of the Pinelands Area.  

5.  COMMENT: Three commenters requested an exception for de minimis impact for 

public roadway projects. For example, a threshold of allowable impervious surface with no 

additional BMP required for each HUC14. (6, 8, 11)    

RESPONSE:  Neither the current stormwater management rules nor the proposed rules 

provide a means for granting exceptions for de minimis impacts for public roadway projects. 

Additionally, it is not feasible within the context of the proposed rule to address all situations 

where exceptions for de minimis impacts could be sought by a public agency. However, pursuant 

to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.52 of the CMP, the Commission may enter into an intergovernmental 

agreement that authorizes a public agency to undertake development activities that are not fully 

consistent with Pinelands land use and development standards. Such an agreement could address 

specific concerns of intergovernmental agency staff and could provide a formal means of 

defining potentially de minimis impacts as well as streamlined application and review procedures 

on a more comprehensive basis. 



 6 

6.  COMMENT: One commenter relayed her personal experience installing a rain  

garden at her house, with guidance from Rutgers University, that has been successful in 

combating flooding issues on her property. She explained that her community had once been 

forested but is now a housing development that has drainage issues when it rains. She feels that if 

her one rain garden can be so successful for one house, the State should adopt stronger 

stormwater management requirements.  (4)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenter for her support.  

7.  COMMENT: One commenter advised the Pinelands Commission that he and another 

engineer have submitted updates to Chapter 9 NEH4 Part 630 Hydrology to USDA NRCS for 

their review. Among the recommended changes is the acknowledgment that the Curve Number 

Method is not applicable in forest HSG A and B soils. They conducted a hydrology study in 

McDonald’s Branch within the Pinelands National Reserve which confirmed their findings. He 

suggested an informal meeting with Pinelands Commission staff to discuss these findings on the 

proper use of the Curve Number in the Pinelands National Reserve and to address storm water 

management on a valid scientific basis. (13)  

RESPONSE: The Commission thanks the commenter for the offer to meet with the 

Pinelands Commission staff to discuss recommendations on the use of the Curve Number in the 

Pinelands National Reserve. The Commission suggests meeting after the USDA NRCS has 

reviewed the commenter’s report and has issued a formal response thereto. 

 

Runoff rate and volume, runoff quality, and groundwater recharge methodologies 

(recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ii) 



 7 

8.  COMMENT:  Three commenters requested that the Rational Method be acceptable 

when assessing peak flows and that the NRCS method limits apply only for runoff volume 

calculations and the sizing of a stormwater management measure. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE:  The proposed amendments at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ii(1) prohibit use of 

the Rational Method only when calculating rates of stormwater runoff and volume of stormwater 

to be recharged. They codify the Commission’s long-standing policy to prohibit use of the 

Rational Method for demonstrating compliance with the runoff requirements and recharge 

standards in the CMP. The Rational Method can continue to be utilized for stormwater system 

design purposes for standards that are not specifically addressed in the CMP (e.g., calculations 

for sizing stormwater conveyance pipe). 

 

Runoff requirements (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii) 

9.  COMMENT:  Several commenters urged the Commission to leave intact the 

requirement for applicants to file a deed notice on any undeveloped area of the property in order 

to be allowed to deduct that acreage from stormwater calculations. One of the commenters stated 

that deeds allow for accurate tracking of portions of properties be useful down the road, 

particularly after properties have changed hands. Two of the commenters stated that the current 

rule, which permanently restricts those areas from development, is more protective of Pinelands 

habitats, biotic resources, and water quality throughout all Pinelands watersheds, including the 

Barnegat Bay. (1, 5, 7)  

RESPONSE: Prior to the adoption of these amendments, the CMP provided applicants 

with two options for the undeveloped portions of their parcels: recordation of a permanent deed 

restriction or the filing of a deed notice. The Commission chose to remove the option for an 



 8 

applicant to impose a permanent deed restriction on the undeveloped portion of a parcel of land 

because applicants rarely, if ever, chose this option as a way of demonstrating compliance with 

stormwater management requirements. They more frequently opted to file a deed notice stating 

that the undeveloped portion of the parcel would be subject to CMP stormwater management 

requirements when and if a proposal for its development was submitted in the future. The 

Commission has determined that deed notices are not necessary because any future development 

of the parcel would be required to meet all CMP standards, including stormwater management, 

regardless of whether a deed notice is placed on the parcel. The notice does not impose new 

requirements on the parcel and only results in additional costs to the property owner and delays 

in the approval process. In addition, the Commission maintains an accurate and effective 

application tracking database and process that serve the same purpose as the deed notice – to 

ensure that applicants meet the CMP stormwater management requirements when any remaining 

portion of a parcel in the Pinelands Area is developed.  

10.  COMMENT: Two commenters expressed concern that prohibiting stormwater runoff 

from being directed in such a way as to increase volume and rate of discharge into any wetland, 

wetlands transition area at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii(1) appears to require infiltration of the 

increased in runoff from the 100-year storm. The commenters state that this is contrary to the 

Commission’s long-established position that it only requires infiltrating the increase in runoff 

from the 10-year storm runoff. (10, 14)  

RESONSE: The Commission believes the commenters have misinterpreted this 

amendment. It does not require infiltration of the increase in runoff from the 100-year storm. The 

Commission is merely adding “wetlands” and “wetlands transition areas” to the existing 

prohibition against directing stormwater runoff in such a way as to increase the volume and rate 



 9 

of discharge into a surface water body. The Commission historically has not allowed applicants 

to direct stormwater in a way that that increases the volume and rate of discharge into wetlands 

and wetlands transition areas and this amendment simply codifies this existing, long-standing 

practice.  

 
Recharge standards (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv) 
 

11.  COMMENT: One commenter applauded the Commission’s proposal to exceed 

DEP’s standards regarding nitrogen removal and minor development. The commenter stated that 

the CMP already further protected surface waters and areas around high pollutant areas, and the 

new standards are appropriate to preserve the quantity and quality of the Kirkwood Cohansey 

aquifer. (1)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenter for its support.  

12.  COMMENT: Three commenters believe that the major and minor development 

thresholds should not include temporary disturbances as part of public roadway projects that will 

be restored upon the completion of the project. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE:  The proposed amendments do not change the definitions of major and 

minor development in the CMP and the Commission does not see a need to make any changes to 

these definitions at this time. The CMP does not distinguish between temporary or permanent 

disturbance. Both have always been required to be considered in stormwater calculations and the 

Commission continues to believe that is appropriate.   

13.  COMMENT: Three commenters believe the threshold for both major and minor 

development projects should be determined on a watershed basis, not the project in its entirety, 

as roadway projects cross multiple watersheds. (6, 8, 11)  



 10 

RESPONSE:  The Commission notes that the current proposal does not include any 

changes to the current CMP definitions of major and minor development. The CMP requires an 

applicant to consider the total amount of proposed disturbance associated with a development 

application submitted to the Commission.  The Commission does not believe any changes are 

warranted.  

14.  COMMENT: Two commenters expressed support for the definitions of major and 

minor development in the proposed rule because the definitions enable better protection of 

Pinelands resources beyond that provided by the current NJDEP rules. (5, 7)  

RESPONSE: The Commission thanks the commenters for their support. 

 

Minor residential development (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2)) 

15.  COMMENT: Two commenters believe the recharge standards for minor residential 

development should be expanded to include recharge from all impervious surfaces in the 

development, such as driveways, and not just from roofs. (5, 7)  

RESPONSE:   The proposed recharge standards for minor residential development offer 

greater protection of Pinelands resources than both the current CMP and the NJDEP stormwater 

rules. The Commission does not agree that those standards should be expanded any further at this 

time, given the proposed rule already captures smaller development projects that would not be 

subject to stormwater management requirements under the NJDEP rule.  

 

Minor non-residential development (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(3)(A)) 

16.  COMMENT: Three commenters expressed concern over the effect of the infiltration 

thresholds on public roadway projects. They stated that the requirement for infiltration when an 



 11 

excess of 1,000 square feet of regulated motor vehicle surface is proposed for minor non-

residential development will cause project delays, additional costs for design, right-of-way 

acquisition and maintenance for additional BMPs. Drainage issues that could have been resolved 

with a few additional inlets may now require BMPs. The commenters request a waiver process 

for public roadway projects. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The Commission does not believe that it is necessary or appropriate to 

incorporate a special waiver process for public roadway projects. The amendments already 

provide the Commission with the ability to grant exceptions and allow for off-site mitigation for 

all public development projects that cannot meet CMP on-site design and performance standards 

for green infrastructure, groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quality, and stormwater runoff 

quality for public development projects. The proposed amendment to require that the infiltration 

of the water quality design storm volume generated on any increase of more than 1,000 square 

feet of regulated motor vehicle surfaces will apply only to new motor vehicle surfaces. The 

requirement will not be applied to existing regulated motor vehicle surfaces and will not be 

triggered when existing stormwater conveyance systems are repaired or replaced. 

17.  COMMENT:  Three commenters stated that at locations where the water table is 

high, infiltration will not function, yet the new criteria will require more infiltration BMPs. The 

commenters recommend that N.J.A.C. 7:50-6:84(a)6vii indicate that where infiltration is not 

feasible within the project area, infiltration will not be required for minor non-residential 

development. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The Commission is not amenable to this request, as the amendments 

provide for the granting of exceptions at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii, which allow for off-site 

mitigation for minor non-residential projects that cannot meet the on-site design and performance 



 12 

standards for green infrastructure, groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quality, and 

stormwater runoff quality for public development projects.  

18.  COMMENT: Several commenters questioned the basis for recharge standards for an 

increase of 1,000 square feet of regulated motor vehicle surfaces. One commenter requested 

justification for the additional recharge standard and two commenters asked: (1) why the 

Commission is deviating from existing standards; and (2) how the Commission determined that 

1,000 square feet is appropriate. (10, 11, 14)  

RESPONSE: To strengthen the protection of Pinelands water resources, the Commission 

decided to improve stormwater runoff quality from minor nonresidential regulated motor vehicle 

surfaces, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2. Regulated motor vehicle surfaces are subject to 

contamination from automotive chemicals. These pollutants frequently bind to soil particulates 

(sand, silt, and clay) that collect on regulated motor vehicle surfaces. The proposed amendments 

require that stormwater runoff originating from new regulated motor vehicle surfaces be treated 

to remove 80 percent of total suspended solids (TSS) from the water quality design storm (1.25 

inches/2-hours). Treated stormwater, free of most particulate-bound pollutants, is then recharged 

to groundwater.  

The Commission selected 1,000 square feet as the threshold at which enhanced water 

quality protections were warranted based upon the area of standard parking spaces and interior 

roadway widths to access those spaces, as well as the typical length and width of highway 

acceleration and deceleration lanes. The addition of four new parking spaces and the necessary 

travel lanes to access those spaces would create approximately 1,000 square feet of new 

regulated motor vehicle surface. Under the proposed amendments, parking lot expansions 

exceeding four parking spaces and highway acceleration and deceleration lanes, for example, 



 13 

would be subject to the enhanced stormwater quality and groundwater recharge standard. 

Increases in regulated motor vehicle surface below the 1,000 square feet threshold would not be 

subject to the TSS removal and groundwater recharge standard as they are considered to be de 

minimis for regulatory purposes.  

The Commission’s decision to set 1,000 square feet as the threshold for TSS removal was 

also based on the minimum size of non-residential development that requires Commission 

review. Under the review requirements and exemptions contained in the CMP at N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.1(a)8ii, the expansion of a parking lot by 1,000 square feet or less would not require 

application to the Commission and therefore would not require Commission review. The 

threshold for the recharge standard for minor nonresidential regulated motor vehicle surfaces at 

1,000 square feet is thus consistent with the CMP’s review requirements for non-residential 

development. 

This proposed stormwater runoff quality standard provides greater protection of the 

Pinelands water resources than NJDEP’s stormwater runoff quality standards provide. NJDEP’s 

stormwater runoff quality standards at N.J.A.C 7:8-5.5 require 80 percent TSS removal and 

groundwater recharge from regulated motor vehicle surfaces when major development results in 

an increase of 10,890 square feet or more of regulated motor vehicle surface.   

The Commission is making a minor, non-substantive change to the proposed 

amendments, at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(3)(A), to clarify that it will require 80 

percent TSS removal from stormwater runoff from regulated motor vehicle surface for all 

development (major and minor) that results in an increase of greater than 1,000 square feet of 

regulated motor vehicle surface. Development that results in 1,000 square feet or less of 

regulated motor vehicle surface will not be subject to the 80 percent TSS removal requirement.   



 14 

19.  COMMENT:  A commenter asked that the Commission consider expanding the 

recharge standards for minor non-residential development to require onsite infiltration if more 

than 500 square feet of regulated motor-vehicle surface is added (as opposed to the proposed 

1,000 square feet). The commenter referenced the Commission’s rule proposal summary which 

stated that chemicals from individual parking spaces warrant removal before they enter the 

groundwater table, adding that some municipalities have already considered using the 500 square 

foot benchmark. (7)  

RESPONSE: The Commission does not believe that expansion of this provision to 500 

square feet is appropriate given the CMP does not require review for the expansion of a parking 

lot of up to 1,000 square feet. Individual municipalities, however, may choose to apply a stricter 

standard in their land use ordinances if they believe they have the enabling authority to do so. 

See also response to comment #18, above. 

 
Nitrogen Removal (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(6)) 

 
20.  COMMENT: Several commenters enthusiastically supported the Commission’s 

proposal to exceed NJDEP’s standards regarding nitrogen removal, recognizing nitrogen as a 

significant source of harm to the Pinelands. One commenter also noted the downstream impacts 

of nitrogen on Barnegat Bay. (1, 5, 7)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenters for their support.  

21.  COMMENT: Two commenters expressed concern with the 65 percent nitrogen 

removal standard. One commenter explicitly opposed it; one asked how the Commission came 

up with standard; and both requested justification for having a specific nitrogen standard and 

requested scientific information, literature, studies, and Pinelands-specific studies to support the 

standard. (10, 14)  



 15 

RESPONSE: The Commission’s decision to establish a specific, quantitative nitrogen 

removal standard is based on: (1) the need for the development community to have a specific, 

quantitative standard to help improve the predictability and efficiency of regulatory reviews; (2) 

the unique characteristics of ground and surface water in the Pinelands and the need to afford 

these resources the highest levels of protection; (3) a longstanding objective of the Pinelands 

Commission to control the amount of nitrogen entering the environment, as reflected in the 

CMP; and (4) peer-reviewed scientific research.  

In its experience reviewing stormwater management plans, the Commission has found 

that it is often difficult for stormwater management system designers and regulatory design 

reviewers to agree on whether a plan meets the NJDEP standard that nitrogen be removed from 

stormwater runoff to the “maximum extent feasible.” N.J.A.C 7:8-5. 5(f). The Commission 

believes that the “maximum extent feasible” standard does not provide the necessary 

predictability for the development community and often delays regulatory reviews. The 

Commission concluded that setting a quantitative standard that can be achieved by using the 

NJDEP’s NJ Stormwater Best Management Practices (BMP) Manual inserts specificity and 

clarity into the regulatory process for both designers and reviewers of stormwater management 

systems. The BMP Manual provides both individual BMP nitrogen removal rates as well as a 

simple way to calculate how BMPs can be arranged in series to attain 65 percent nitrogen 

removal. 

Numerous scientific studies have demonstrated that unpolluted groundwater aquifers and 

surface waters in the Pinelands Area are characterized by very low concentrations of nutrients, 

including nitrogen, with natural nitrate-nitrogen concentrations being reported as low as 0.17 

ppm. Pinelands surface waters are classified by NJDEP as Outstanding National Resource 



 16 

Waters and are identified as Pinelands (PL) waters. These PL water resources are afforded the 

highest level of protection under NJDEP’s Surface Water Quality Standards, N.J.A.C 7:9B. 

Similarly, groundwater in the Pinelands Protection Area, classified as Class 1-PL (Pinelands 

Protection Area) are known as Ground Water of Special Ecological Significance and, pursuant to 

NJDEP regulations, “background water quality” is to be maintained. (See N.J.A.C 7:9C).  

The requirement to remove at least 65% of nitrogen in stormwater runoff from the water 

quality storm at major development sites is based on this mandate that waters of the Pinelands 

Area be afforded the highest level of protection from pollution.  

The proposed removal standard is also consistent with a fundamental objective of the 

Pinelands CMP to control the amount of nitrogen that enters the Pinelands environment. N.J.A.C 

7:50-10.21(b). This objective is reflected in the CMP requirement, adopted in 2002, that total 

nitrogen concentrations in wastewater discharged from septic systems be reduced by 65 percent 

when septic systems are used on one-acre lots in the Pinelands Area. N.J.A.C. 7:50-10.21. 

Multiple studies by the Pinelands Commission and others have demonstrated the 

connection between land use, the occurrence of nitrogen and other pollution-related 

contaminants, and changes in native Pinelands plant and animal assemblages. Land use that 

involves application of fertilizer or the deposition of pet waste degrades ambient Pinelands water 

quality, which allows the invasion and establishment of non-native plants and animals that can 

outcompete, prey upon, and eventually eliminate native Pinelands species. All but the Brown and 

Rhodehamel studies listed below are scientific research papers that were published in peer-

reviewed journal articles. 

Brown, K. W. and Associates. 1980. An assessment of the impact of septic leach fields, 
home lawn fertilization and agricultural activities on groundwater quality. Prepared for 
the New Jersey Pinelands Commission, College Station, TX, 77840. March 1980, 108 pp. 



 17 

Bunnell, J. F. and R. A. Zampella. 2008. Native fish and anuran assemblages differ 
between impoundments with and without non-native centrarchids and Bullfrogs. Copeia 
2008:931-939. 

Dow, C. L. and R. A. Zampella. 2000. Specific conductance and pH as indicators of 
watershed disturbance in streams of the New Jersey Pinelands, U.S.A. Environmental 
Management. 26:437-445. 

Rhodehamel, E.C. 1970. A hydrologic analysis of the New Jersey Pine Barrens. New 
Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Div. of Water Policy and Supply, 
Water Resources Circular No. 22. 

Smalling, K. L., S. E. Breitmeyer, J. F. Bunnell, K. J. Laidig, P. M. Burritt, M, C. Sobel, 
J. A. Cohl, M. L. Hladik, K. M. Romanok, and P. M. Bradley. 2021. Assessing the 
ecological functionality and integrity of natural ponds, excavated ponds and stormwater 
basins for conserving amphibian diversity. Global Ecology and Conservation 30:e01765. 

Zampella, R. A. 1994. Characterization of surface water quality along a watershed 
disturbance gradient. Water Resources Bulletin 30:605-611. 

Zampella, R. A. and J. F. Bunnell. 1998. Use of reference-site fish assemblages to assess 
aquatic degradation in Pinelands streams. Ecological Applications 8:645-658. 

Zampella, R. A. and K. J. Laidig. 1997. Effect of watershed disturbance on Pinelands 
stream vegetation. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 124:52-66. 

Zampella, R. A., N. A. Procopio, R. G. Lathrop, C. L. Dow. 2007 Relationship of land-
use/land-cover patterns and surface-water quality in the Mullica River Basin. Journal of 
the American Water Resources Association 43:594-604. 

22.  COMMENT: Several commenters expressed concern over the ability of applicants to 

prove they have achieved 65 percent nitrogen removal. Two commenters asked how the standard 

will be enforced. One commenter believes the rule should explicitly address how the standard 

will be enforced. (5, 7, 10, 14)  

RESPONSE: As noted in our response to #21, above, the NJDEP BMP Manual provides 

nitrogen percentage removal rates for individual stormwater BMPs and also provides a 

methodology of how to calculate the percentage of nitrogen removed from stormwater when 

individual BMPs are arranged in series.  When developing a stormwater management plan, an 



 18 

applicant will be required to evaluate the nitrogen removal from each stormwater BMP and to 

calculate the total nitrogen removal percentage when two or more BMPs are arranged in series. 

This computational method will be relied upon to confirm that the proposed stormwater 

management plan meets the Commission’s minimum 65% nitrogen removal standard.  

23.  COMMENT: Two commenters suggested that a water quality assessment be 

performed prior to introducing a water quality standard such as nitrogen removal rates. One 

commenter compared nitrogen removal to removal of total suspended solids (TSS), stating that 

TSS removal is a secondary treatment standard so 80 percent removal of TSS does not need to be 

specifically justified. The commenter stated that nitrogen, however, is a nutrient subject to water 

quality standards and that it is inappropriate to require a set percentage removal standard 

throughout the Pinelands without a specific water quality assessment. (10, 14) 

RESPONSE: The Commission agrees that the requirement to remove 80 percent of TSS 

from stormwater runoff does not need to be justified, however, it is important to note that TSS 

removal accomplishes significant reductions in the pollutant load that adsorbs to solids 

suspended in stormwater runoff.    

With respect to the nitrogen removal standard, as noted in the response to comment #21, 

above, numerous research studies by the Pinelands Commission and others have characterized 

ambient surface and groundwater quality in the Pinelands Area and have identified water quality 

impairments, including elevated nitrogen concentrations related to land use. Also as noted in 

#21, above, the NJDEP’s Surface Water Quality Standards (see N.J.A.C 7:9B) and Groundwater 

Quality Standards (see N.J.A.C. 7:9C) establish “nondegradation” and “background water 

quality,” respectively) as the applicable water quality standards in the Pinelands Area. The 



 19 

Commission disagrees that additional water quality assessments are needed to support the 

adoption of a minimum 65 percent nitrogen removal standard. 

Further, the Commission believes it is appropriate to establish a quantitative removal 

standard for nitrogen. The March 1980 assessment by K.W. Brown and Associates cited in the 

response to comment #21, above, included a review of available information on the potential 

movement of nutrients (including nitrogen) to groundwater from fertilized lawns in light of the 

characteristics of Pinelands Area soils. Brown notes that lawn fertilization would be expected to 

add large amounts of nitrogen to the groundwater and even larger acreages than are required for 

septic fields would need to be set aside to allow dilution of the nitrogen laden stormwater to 

reach acceptable levels. Brown reports that up to 52 percent of nitrogen applied as inorganic N 

may be leached to groundwater as nitrate. Slow release organic nitrogen sources are reported to 

leach approximately 33 percent of the applied nitrogen as nitrate to the groundwater aquifer. 

Based on Brown’s work in which various nitrogen fertilizer applications are anticipated 

each year, coupled with Rhodehamel’s findings in the work cited in the response to comment 

#21, above, that an average of 20 inches of water infiltrates and percolates to groundwater 

annually, nitrate-nitrogen concentrations ranging from a high of 16.9 ppm (inorganic nitrogen 

fertilizer) to a low of 3.9 ppm (inorganic nitrogen fertilizer) would occur in groundwater beneath 

lawn areas.  

Assuming lawn areas in the Pinelands Area are fertilized using (slow release) organic 

forms of nitrogen, Brown calculated the resultant nitrate-nitrogen concentrations in groundwater 

beneath the lawn area for the three fertilizer application scenarios presented below:  

1.  A 1,000 square foot house with a 1-car garage and 50 foot long driveway on a 

0.25 acre lot. All land not occupied by the house and driveway will be lawn.  



 20 

2.  A 1,500 square foot house with a 2-car garage and 200 foot long driveway on a 

1.0 acre lot. Eighty percent of the land not occupied by the house and driveway 

will be lawn.  

3.  A 2,000 square foot house with a 2-car garage, a 500 square foot utility building 

and 1.5 acres of lawn on a 5.0 acre lot. 

Based upon a homeowner’s fertilizing his or her lawn area with an inorganic (slow 

release) fertilizer formulation of 2 lb. N/1000 square feet in April-May and 1 lb. N/1000 square 

feet each June and August, the concentration of nitrate entering the groundwater aquifer from 

these three scenarios would be 10.7 ppm, 9.4 ppm and 3.9 ppm respectively with an average 

concentration of 8 ppm. Reducing the average value by 65 percent would result in water 

infiltrating to the underlying water table aquifer containing 2.8 ppm nitrate, which although still 

above the Pinelands Area water quality standard of 2 ppm nitrate-nitrogen, is a vast 

improvement.    

If the Commission required more than 65 percent nitrogen removal from stormwater 

runoff using green infrastructure (GI) BMPs, at least three GI BMPs in series would be required. 

The Commission has determined that these multiple measures are not feasible in most instances 

and that 65 percent removal is more easily achievable, provides a significant reduction in the 

concentration of nitrate entering the aquifer and is thus appropriate at this time. 

24.  COMMENT: Two commenters requested that the Commission follow NJDEP’s lead 

regarding nutrient removal rates, stating that further study and evaluation are necessary for both 

a prudent rate of removal and the rate at which specific BMPs can achieve this result. One of the 

commenters noted that he is on the stakeholder subgroup that has been investigating the nutrient 

removal issue and that they are a long way away from agreeing that a numerical standard is 



 21 

appropriate, no less a specific percentage removal standard. They stated that there are no specific 

studies that address a statewide percentage total nitrogen removal standard and that the 

performance of BMPs to reduce nutrients is “all over the place.” (10, 14)  

RESPONSE: As noted in the response to comment #21, above, the requirement to 

remove at least 65 percent of nitrogen in stormwater runoff from the water quality storm at major 

development sites is based on a fundamental objective of the CMP to control the amount of 

nitrogen that enters the Pinelands environment.  See N.J.A.C 7:50-10.21(b). Ample research has 

characterized the Pinelands Area as an ecologically sensitive environment, particularly 

vulnerable to excessive nitrogen loading that can lead to eutrophication, proliferation of invasive 

species and the decline of native Pinelands plants and animals. The lack of consensus among the 

stakeholder subgroup investigating the applicability of a statewide nutrient removal percentage 

has no relevance to the uniquely environmentally sensitive Pinelands environment.  

The Commission is aware that the BMP Manual, Chapter 4, Table 4.2 “Typical 

Phosphorous and Nitrogen Removal Rates for BMPs” provides the “Total Nitrogen Removal 

Rates (%)” for various stormwater BMPs and that such values should be considered typical 

values based upon data from a range of research studies. While the reported total nitrogen 

removal rates may be based on a range of studies, the Commission believes that it is important to 

act now to protect Pinelands water resources by establishing minimum nitrogen removal rates 

from stormwater runoff. The Commission is relying on the best information currently available, 

including the existing assessments of Pinelands water quality, the known impacts of land use on 

the ecologically sensitive Pinelands ecosystem, the need to protect Pinelands water resources and 

the information provided by the NJDEP for typical nitrogen removal rates of various BMPs. 



 22 

25.  COMMENT: A commenter noted that BMPs will need to be studied and provided to 

address water quality standards as the stormwater rules only require water quality treatment from 

motor vehicle areas. (14)  

RESPONSE: The Commission supports further research on the performance of 

stormwater BMPs and, in fact, applied jointly with the USGS New Jersey Water Science Center 

for grant funding to evaluate BMP nutrient attenuation performance in the Pinelands Area. 

However, the requested grant funding for that research was not provided. 

26. COMMENT: A commenter noted that since the stormwater regulations only require 

water quality treatment from motor vehicle areas, there will have to be separate BMPs for 

vegetative areas. (10)  

RESPONSE: The Commission recognizes that a design engineer may be required to 

utilize separate BMPs to meet all stormwater management standards for a given project. 

27.  COMMENT: Two commenters expressed concern that combining the runoff from 

motor vehicle and vegetative surfaces into one water quality BMP will exacerbate the 

requirement to restrict the drainage areas to 1 and 2.5 acres. (10, 14)  

RESPONSE: The commenters did not provide specific examples to illustrate their 

concerns, but the Commission does not anticipate that combining runoff from the two surfaces 

will be problematic. The design engineer is not limited in the number of BMPs that could be 

utilized to meet all stormwater management standards. Additionally, the engineer may design the 

project so that the runoff from the motor vehicle and vegetated surfaces remain separate and are 

not combined into the same BMP. 

28.  COMMENT: Four commenters requested an exception for public roadway projects 

from the nitrogen removal requirement based on their assumption that the new standard is 



 23 

intended to address only nitrogen loading produced by fertilizer. Although the rule proposal 

summary references lawn and turf areas specifically intended for active human use, public 

roadway projects use fertilizer when initially establishing vegetation. The commenters thought 

that this description of lawn and turf areas is vague. For public roadway projects, fertilizer is 

applied only during initial construction activities in accordance with the Standards for Soil 

Erosion and Sediment Control in New Jersey and is not a contributor to nitrogen loading in 

stormwater beyond the construction period. The commenters recommended that the Commission 

not classify roadway embankments, specifically limited access highways, as areas of “active 

human use” that would require nitrogen treatment. (6, 8, 11, 12)  

RESPONSE: The amendments require a 65 percent reduction of the post-construction 

total nitrogen load “from the developed site, including permanent lawn or turf areas that are 

specifically intended for active human use…” (Proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(6)). Vegetated 

areas associated with public roadway projects, are typically not managed in such a way that they 

receive, or have the potential to receive, regular applications of fertilizer. Nor are they intended 

for active human use. They are therefore not considered to be permanent lawn or turf areas and 

are not required to meet the 65 percent reduction of the post-construction total nitrogen load rule 

amendment. The Commission recognizes that a one-time application of fertilizer may be 

necessary to establish a meadow area or stabilize a road shoulder. If there was no plan for routine 

or regular application of fertilizer in the future, such areas would not be considered part of the 

“developed site” for purposes of meeting this standard.  

29. COMMENT: Four commenters said that it is impractical to use two green 

infrastructure BMPs in series to achieve the 65 percent nitrogen reduction in linear transportation 

projects. (6, 8, 11, 12)  



 24 

RESPONSE: The Commission disagrees. Provided that the vegetated areas are not 

intended to receive, or have the potential to receive, regular applications of fertilizers, the 

standard would not apply to linear roadway projects. See response to Comment #28, above. 

30.  COMMENT: Two commenters stated that using two green infrastructure (GI) BMPs 

in series to achieve the 65 percent nitrogen reduction could require greater amounts of 

disturbance to achieve. The commenters recommended a lower nitrogen load requirement so that 

the limit can be met without BMPs installed in series and, if needed, without an infiltration basin. 

(11, 12).  

RESPONSE: The Commission recognizes that the use of multiple GI BMPs in series 

would be required to achieve the minimum 65 percent reduction on total nitrogen in stormwater 

runoff. The Commission envisions that this would most often be accomplished by routing 

stormwater runoff through a Vegetative Filter Strip prior to discharge to a Small-Scale 

Infiltration Basin. Vegetative Filter Strips may consist of meadow cover, planted woods, existing 

forested areas and other vegetated areas that are not managed in such a way that they receive, or 

have the potential to receive, regular applications of fertilizer. Where existing forested areas are 

present and can provide the requisite sheet flow, the Commission would expect that those 

forested areas be left intact and utilized for both TSS and nutrient removal. Planted woods and 

meadow cover, while requiring temporary disturbance, would also be suitable for use in 

combination with a Small Scale Infiltration Basin. The use of turf grass vegetation in a 

Vegetative Filter Strip, while identified as an acceptable vegetative cover per the NJDEPs BMP 

Manual, would not be suitable for use in the Pinelands Area given these areas are typically 

managed to receive, or have the potential to receive, regular applications of fertilizers. 



 25 

Alternatively, the minimum 65 percent nitrogen removal requirement could be met by 

routing stormwater through an under-drained Small-Scale Bioretention System (such as a 

bioswale) with discharge to a Small-Scale Infiltration Basin. While the construction of a Small-

Scale Bioretention System would also require temporary disturbance, these systems can be 

vegetated with a Terrestrial Forested Community, Site-Tolerant Grasses both of which provide 

TSS removal and nutrient uptake as well as the removal of a wide range of pollutants with an 

esthetically pleasing appearance on the landscape. 

The Commission has determined that the environmental benefits of nitrogen attenuation 

provided by these GI BMPs and the importance of ground water recharge to maintain 

groundwater levels in the Kirkwood Cohansey Aquifer outweighs the temporary disturbance 

associated with GI BMP construction. 

31.  COMMENT: Several commenters expressed concern over the removal of nitrogen 

from water that has been infiltrated. Two commenters stated that to meet the nitrogen removal 

standard would require a minimum of two BMPs, but following infiltration of the water quality 

design storm, there will be insufficient flow left to send to another BMP. The commenters stated 

that further complicating this is NJDEP’s requirement that the lower percentage removal BMP 

be used first in a series. In addition, they said that the only way to achieve a 65 percent removal 

rate is to use a vegetative filter strip followed by an infiltration basin, which is highly impractical 

for residential subdivisions because lawn areas would have to sheet flow to an additional 

vegetated area, which can’t be part of the lawn, and then sheet flow to an infiltration basin, 

resulting in multiple vegetated filer and infiltration basin BMPs on each lot. Three commenters 

requested that if the Water Quality design storm is being infiltrated, no additional treatment 

should be required to address the nitrogen removal criteria. (6, 8, 10, 11, 14)  



 26 

RESPONSE: The Commission agrees that it will be necessary to use two GI BMPs in 

series to meet the minimum 65 percent nitrogen removal standard. However, as noted in the 

response to comment #30, above, this could be achieved either through the use of a Small-Scale 

Filter Strip followed by a Small-Scale Infiltration Basin or an under-drained Small-Scale 

Bioretention System followed by a Small-Scale Infiltration Basin. The Commission disagrees 

that the need to use the GI BMP that provides the lower nitrogen removal first in the treatment 

train is problematic or presents a further design complication. The Commission acknowledges 

that stormwater that flows over lawn areas in a residential subdivision and then directly into an 

infiltration BMP may now have to first flow through a vegetative filter strip that is not part of the 

maintained lawn area, prior to entering the infiltration BMP, to meet the standard. The 

Commission does not believe that smaller storm events, such as the Water Quality Design Storm, 

if partially infiltrated or evaporated prior to reaching the Small-Scale Infiltration Basin, is 

problematic.  As noted in the responses to comments #21 and #24, above, the requirement to 

remove at least 65 percent of nitrogen in stormwater runoff from the water quality storm at major 

development sites is based on a fundamental objective of the Pinelands Comprehensive 

Management Plan to control the amount of nitrogen that enters the Pinelands environment. 

(N.J.A.C 7:50-10.21(b)). Further, the NJDEP’s Surface Water Quality Standards at N.J.A.C 7:9B 

and Groundwater Quality Standards at N.J.A.C 7:9C impose non-degradation and background 

water quality standards that are the most protective of Pinelands water resources. As a result of 

the fundamental principal of the CMP, and the highly protective water quality standards that 

apply to the Pinelands Outstanding National Resource Waters and Ground Water of Special 

Ecological Significance, the Commission is committed to the minimum 65 percent nitrogen 

removal standard applicable to the Water Quality Design Storm. 



 27 

32.  COMMENT: Three commenters requested that Constructed Gravel Wetlands be 

approved as a BMP because it has 90 percent nitrogen removal rate (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The Commission acknowledges that Subsurface Gravel Wetlands are an 

effective method of removing nitrogen. However, because the NJDEP does not recognize 

Subsurface Gravel Wetlands as a GI BMP and because nutrient reduction must be achieved 

through the use of GI BMPs before non-GI BMPs may be used, the Commission suggests that 

the commenters bring this matter to the attention of the NJDEP for consideration.  

 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v 

33.  COMMENT: Three commenters recommended that the groundwater mounding 

analysis that is required for major development also be required for minor development, as it is 

indicative of whether the facilities will infiltrate. Failure to infiltrate could adversely impact 

adjacent properties, including the State Roadway system. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The proposed amendments impose stormwater infiltration requirements for 

minor development. The current rule does not impose any infiltration requirement on minor 

development, and therefore the proposed amendment will be more protective of adjacent 

properties including the State Roadway system. The Commission does not agree that requiring a 

groundwater mounding analysis for each minor development is necessary since it is anticipated 

that, when compared to the current rule, the proposed amendments will result in the retention and 

infiltration of a greater volume of stormwater throughout the Pinelands Area, and that the rule 

will result in less stormwater runoff onto adjacent properties and roadways. While the 

Commission has chosen not to impose a requirement to provide a groundwater mounding 



 28 

analysis for minor development, such an analysis may be required by other government entities 

that have regulatory authority over the development.  

34.  COMMENT: Three commenters stated that the requirement for spatial distribution of 

smaller stormwater management measures may not always be practicable for public roadway 

projects and is the basis for NJDEP’s plans to amend its stormwater management rules to allow 

flexibility for major developments associated with public roadways. The commenters requested 

that the rule continue to allow spatial distribution of smaller stormwater management measures 

“to the maximum extent practical” for public roadway projects and that the CMP state that it will 

incorporate any future amendments to NJDEP’s stormwater management rules, N.J.A.C. 7:8-5 

and 6, that provide flexibility for green infrastructure for roadways. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The Commission believes the proposed amendments provide sufficient 

flexibility for the placement of BMPs for major development associated with public roadways. 

These measures may include the use of two or more  infiltration swales, bioretention basins, or 

vegetated conveyance swales situated on opposite sides of a roadway, or the use of subsurface 

porous infiltration pipe within linear stone trenches along portions of the proposed road 

improvements. Public roadway and other public projects that cannot meet the Commission’s 

amended stormwater rules will continue to have the opportunity to request and receive 

“exceptions” in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii, and by incorporation, N.J.A.C. 7:8-

4.6.     

Should DEP adopt amendments to N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, 5, and 6 in the future, such 

amendments will automatically be applicable to development in the Pinelands Area by virtue of 

the cross-references contained at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6 and N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(1) and 

(2), provided the amendments are not inconsistent with the modifications and supplementary 



 29 

provisions expressly set forth in the CMP.  The words “as amended” were mistakenly deleted 

from the introductory paragraph of N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6 and are being restored upon adoption 

of these amendments. Additionally, the Commission may choose to engage in a future 

rulemaking process, akin to the one it undertook in 2006 and this one, should DEP promulgate 

significant amendments to its stormwater management regulations that require modification for 

the Pinelands Area.  

35.  COMMENT: Three commenters requested that the pretreatment requirement in 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-6:84(a)6v(5) specifically indicate that sediment forebays within a basin meet the 

pretreatment criteria. (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The use of sediment forebays as a method of pretreatment has been 

accepted, and will continue to be accepted, as a method of pretreating stormwater prior to 

entering a basin. The Commission has chosen not to identify specific methods of pretreatment in 

the rule given that many different structural and non-structural methods may be acceptable. 

Additionally, the Commission wishes to allow flexibility for the use of future technologies and 

methods to meet this standard. 

 36.  COMMENT: Two commenters stated that the proposed requirement that "methods 

of treating stormwater prior to entering any stormwater management measure shall be 

incorporated into the design of the stormwater management measure to the maximum extent 

practical" needs to be better defined. The commenters asked the Commission to identify the 

other methods of treating stormwater that are not stormwater management measures and asked 

how one incorporates these other methods of treatment into the design of the stormwater 

management measure if they are not part of the stormwater management measure. (10, 14)  



 30 

RESPONSE: The requirement to pretreat stormwater “to the maximum extent practical” 

is in the current rule, recodified at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v(5), and the requirement itself is not 

part of the proposed amendments. The Commission is merely proposing to separate this 

requirement from the other standards in that provision. As stated in the response to comment 

#35, above, the Commission has chosen not to identify specific methods of pretreatment in the 

rule as it recognizes that many different structural and non-structural methods may be acceptable. 

The Commission also wishes to allow flexibility for the use of future technologies and methods 

to meet this standard. 

 

Exceptions (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii)   

37.  COMMENT: Three commenters stated that a waiver from full compliance with CMP 

stormwater standards should be available for public roadway projects to recognize the benefit 

versus the impact of having to  place required infiltration BMP in ecologically valuable 

areas. (For example, if a major development project increases impervious area by 100 square feet 

in a HUC14 watershed and the feasible locations of infiltration BMPs are in environmentally 

sensitive areas, such as threatened/endangered species habitat.) (6, 8, 11)  

RESPONSE: The Commission shares the commenters’ concern regarding the potential 

impact of infiltration BMPs within environmentally sensitive areas. Both the current rule, 

recodified at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii, and the proposed amendments (through incorporation of 

N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6) provide methods of managing stormwater offsite if the applicant demonstrates 

that it is technically impracticable to meet one or more of the design and performance standards 

on-site. As part of this analysis in the proposed amendments, technical impracticability exists 

when the design and performance standard cannot be met for engineering, environmental, or 



 31 

safety reasons. Should that determination be made, N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii provides the 

Commission with the ability to grant an exception from CMP stormwater standards for a major 

public development project.  As is the case under the current rules, that exception will carry with 

it an obligation for offsite mitigation.  

As discussed in the response to comment #16, above, the Commission does not believe it 

is necessary or appropriate to provide for waivers from full compliance with the proposed 

amendments for public roadway or any other projects in the Pinelands Area without mitigation.  

38.  COMMENT: A commenter requested that the Commission adopt NJDEP’s 

provisions for waivers and exemptions for public development projects, allow for 

grandfathering, or delay application of the new standards after the rule is adopted. The 

commenter expressed concern that the absence of these provisions will make the transition to 

these revised regulatory standards very challenging for active applicants in various stages of 

design, including critically needed infrastructure projects that meet the definition of a major 

development. (11)  

RESPONSE:  Given the important natural resources it is charged with protecting, the 

Commission does not believe that adoption of NJDEP’s waiver and exemption standards for 

public development projects is appropriate in the Pinelands Area.  Both the current CMP and the 

proposed amendments provide the Commission with to the ability to grant an exception and 

allow for off-site mitigation for public development projects that cannot meet the on-site design 

and performance standards for green infrastructure, groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff 

quality, and stormwater runoff quality for public development projects.  These exception 

provisions have been in effect since 2006 and the Commission believes they will continue to be 

sufficient and appropriate.  



 32 

The commenter’s concern with the transition to the revised stormwater standards is valid 

and acknowledged. As is the case following adoption of any set of CMP amendments, the 

Commission will develop an implementation schedule that takes into consideration projects at 

various stages of the application process.   

 39.  COMMENT: Two commenters noted a citation error in N.J.A.C 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(2), 

which refers to the first part of the recharge standards at (a)6iv(1) instead of the off-site 

mitigation requirements at (a)6vii(1)(A). (11, 12)  

 RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenter for noting the citation error 

which has been corrected in this adoption. 

40.  COMMENT: A commenter noted an incorrect citation in N.J.A.C. 6:84(a)6vii(2), 

which states that “the Commission may grant an exception in accordance with the standards 

described at N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.6, as amended ...”  N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.6 is a reserved section. (6)  

RESPONSE:  The Commission thanks the commenter for noting the citation error, 

which has been corrected to “N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6” in this adoption. This corrected citation 

references the standards in NJDEP’s stormwater management rule for granting municipal 

variances from the design and performance standards for stormwater management measures. By 

incorporating this provision into N.J.A.C. 6:84(a)6vii(2), the Commission will be applying these 

same standards to exceptions from the on-site design and performance standards for green 

infrastructure, groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quality, and stormwater runoff quality 

and on-site recharge standards for public development projects. 

  41.  COMMENT: Two commenters expressed support for the requirement that mitigation 

projects approved by variance be located within either the same HUC-14 or HUC-11 watershed 



 33 

as the parcel proposed for development but requested that the provision be amended to allow the 

mitigation project to be located outside the Pinelands Area. (5, 7)  

RESPONSE: As stated in response to Comment #4, pursuant to the Pinelands Protection 

Act, the Commission’s jurisdiction is limited to the boundaries of the State designated Pinelands 

Area. Given the Commission would not be able to approve or regulate mitigation projects 

conducted outside of the Pinelands Area, locating mitigation projects outside the Pinelands Area 

to address regulatory obligations within the Pinelands Area is not appropriate. 

 

Maintenance standards (Recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii) 

42.  COMMENT: Several commenters expressed support for the maintenance plan 

requirements for major and minor development but noted that maintenance plans must be 

enforced because improper maintenance and monitoring of stormwater infrastructure can lead to 

malfunction or contribute to worsening stormwater issues. The commenters noted that failure to 

maintain stormwater management infrastructure is a documented, common, and serious problem 

that results in adverse impacts to water quality in watersheds and coastal waterbodies, such as 

Barnegat Bay.  (1, 5, 7)  

RESPONSE: The Commission appreciates the commenters’ support of the maintenance 

plan requirements. While the Commission understands the commenters’ concerns, it notes that 

the respective municipalities are responsible for enforcing implementation of stormwater 

maintenance plans, as required by the conditions in each municipality’s Municipal Separate 

Storm Sewer System (MS4) NJPDES Permit.  Further, it should be noted that major 

developments must include a deed notice on the property, which describes the stormwater 

management measures associated with the project and includes the location of each in NAD 



 34 

1983 State Plan New Jersey FIPS 2900 US Feet or Latitude and Longitude in decimal degrees. 

The referenced maintenance plans must also be attached to the deed.  

43.  COMMENT: Two commenters stated that the responsibility for maintenance of 

stormwater management measures should be restricted to measures that only collect runoff from 

the owner/tenant parcel. (10, 14)  

RESPONSE: Because improperly maintained stormwater BMPs impact the natural 

resources of the Pinelands environment as well as adjacent properties and roadways, the 

Commission disagrees with the comment and will continue to require that all stormwater BMPs 

be maintained in accordance with the proposed amendments. 

 

Federal Standards Statement 

Section 502 of the National Parks and Recreation Act of 1978 (16 U.S.C. § 471i) called 

upon the State of New Jersey to develop a comprehensive management plan for the Pinelands 

National Reserve. The original plan adopted in 1980 was subject to the approval of the United 

States Secretary of the Interior, as are all amendments to the plan.  

 The Federal Pinelands legislation sets forth rigorous goals that the plan must meet, 

including the protection, preservation, and enhancement of the land and water resources of the 

Pinelands. The adopted amendments are designed to meet those goals by imposing stringent 

stormwater management requirements on development in the Pinelands Area, which will provide 

greater protection of the Pinelands resources. 

The Federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 251 et seq.) regulates stormwater runoff and 

nonpoint source pollution control. The Federal Clean Water Act requires permits under Section 

402 of that Act (33 U.S.C. § 1342) for certain stormwater discharges. Section 319 of the Clean 



 35 

Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1329) authorizes a Federal grant-in-aid program to encourage states to 

control nonpoint sources. The Commission's existing and amended rules are designed to control 

stormwater and minimize nonpoint source pollution and are fully consistent with the Federal 

requirements. 

There are no other Federal requirements which apply to the subject matter of these 

amendments and new rule. 

 

Full text of the adoption follows (additions to proposal indicated in boldface with asterisks 

*thus*; deletions from proposal indicated in brackets with asterisks *[thus]*): 

7:50-6.84 Minimum standards for point and non-point source discharges 

(a) The following point and non-point sources may be permitted in the Pinelands: 

 1.-5. (No change) 

6.   Surface water runoff in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, 5, and 6, *as 

amended,* except as modified and supplemented as follows:  

i-iii.  (No change from proposal). 

iv.  Recharge standards: 

(1)-(2) (No change from proposal). 

(3)  For minor development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, that 

involves any nonresidential use, the following standards shall 

apply: 

(A)  If the proposed development will result in an increase of 

*greater than* 1,000 square feet *[or more]* of regulated 

motor vehicle surfaces as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2, the 



 36 

stormwater runoff quality standards contained at N.J.A.C. 

7:8-5.5 shall apply. The water quality design storm volume 

generated from these surfaces shall be recharged onsite; 

and 

(B)  (No change from proposal). 

(4)-(5) (No change from proposal). 

(6)  For all major development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 

stormwater management measures shall be designed to achieve a 

minimum of 65 percent reduction of the post-construction total 

nitrogen load from the developed site, including *those* 

permanent lawn or turf areas that are specifically intended for 

active human use as described at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.24(c)3, in 

stormwater runoff generated from the water quality design storm. 

In achieving a minimum 65 percent reduction of total nitrogen, the 

design of the site shall include green infrastructure in accordance 

with the BMP Manual and shall optimize nutrient removal. The 

minimum 65 percent total nitrogen reduction may be achieved by 

using a singular stormwater management measure or multiple 

stormwater management measures in series.  

v- vi.  (No change from proposal). 

vii.   Exceptions: 

(1)  (No change from proposal). 



 37 

(2)  For applications submitted pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.51 through 

4.60, the Commission may grant an exception in accordance with 

the standards described at *N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6* *[N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.6]*, as amended, from the on-site design and performance 

standards for green infrastructure, groundwater recharge, 

stormwater runoff quality, and stormwater runoff quality at 

N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.3, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6 and on-site recharge standards 

set forth at (a)6iv above, provided the conditions set forth at 

*(a)6vii(1)(A)* *[(a)6iv(1)*] above are met. 

(3)-(4) (No change from proposal). 

viii-ix. (No change from proposal). 



Summary of Oral Comments on Proposed Stormwater Management Amendments1  
Public Hearing September 1, 2021 

 

1. Georgina Shanley, Citizens United for Renewable Energy  

Ms. Shanley agrees with the comments of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance, noting 
that water is the lifeblood of the Pinelands and has to be protected.  She applauds the 
Pinelands Commission for the strong protections that are included in the rule proposal.   

 

2. Maria Pezzato, resident of Burlington County 

Ms. Pezzato commends the Pinelands Commission for fighting against global warming 
and preserving the State’s waters, especially the aquifer. 

  

3. Wendy Brophy, former Tabernacle resident, current Ocean County resident 

With guidance from Rutgers University, Ms. Brophy recently installed a rain garden and 
pollinator garden at her house that has been successful in combating flooding issues on 
her property. She explained that her community had once been forested but is now a 
housing development that has drainage issues when it rains. She feels that if her one rain 
garden can be so successful for one house, the State should adopt stronger stormwater 
management requirements. She agrees with the comments provided by the Pinelands 
Preservation Alliance and Georgina Shanley. 

 

4. Charles Caruso, individual 

Mr. Caruso stated that he is he Chairman of the Barnegat Bay Partnership Stormwater 
Work Group but that his comments are in his personal capacity. 

He supports the proposed amendments and appreciates the efforts of the Pinelands 
Commission and staff to protect the resources of the Pinelands beyond what is provided 
for in DEP’s stormwater rule.  The proposed changes will strengthen and enhance 
stormwater management in the Pinelands area and downstream in Barnegat Bay while 
establishing reasonable requirements of builders and developers.  

Major and minor development. Mr. Caruso supports the definitions of these terms in the 
proposed rule as they provide protection beyond that provided by the DEP rules.  He 
believes, however, that the recharge standards for minor residential development should 
be expanded to include recharge from all impervious surfaces in the development, such as 
driveways, and not just from roofs. 

Nitrogen removal. Mr. Caruso supports the new nitrogen removal standard as it 
recognizes nitrogen as a significant source of harm to both the Pinelands and the 



2 
 

downstream impacts on Barnegat Bay. He believes, however, that the rule should address 
enforcement of the nitrogen removal standard. 

Municipal variances for private development. Mr. Caruso supports the requirement that 
mitigation projects approved by variance be located in same HUC 11 or HUC 14 
watershed as the parcel proposed for development, but believes that the provision should 
be amended to allow the mitigation project to occur outside Pinelands Area.  

Runoff requirement. Mr. Caruso opposes the proposal to remove the requirement for 
filing deed restrictions on open space that is excluded from stormwater runoff 
calculations. He concurs with the position of the Pinelands Protection Alliance on this 
proposed rule amendment and notes that the requirement protects Pinelands resources. 

Maintenance. Mr. Caruso supports the proposed changes for maintenance of stormwater 
management infrastructure but believes the rule should include enforcement mechanisms 
in the event infrastructure is not maintained. He stated that failure to maintain 
infrastructure is fairly common and noted that this has been a serious problem in the past.  

Applicability outside the Pinelands. Mr. Caruso believes that municipalities with land 
both outside and inside the Pinelands should be encouraged to apply the stricter 
stormwater management rules to areas outside the Pinelands.  

 
1 Two other individuals offered oral testimony at the public hearing but subsequently submitted their comments on 
writing. Rather than summarize their oral testimony, copies of their letters have been provided.  



1 
 

PINELANDS   PRESERVATION  ALLIANCE     
 

Bishop Farmstead  17 Pemberton Road  Southampton, NJ 08088    

Phone: 609-859-8860  ppa@pinelandsalliance.org  www.pinelandsalliance.org 

 

September 17, 2021 

 

Acting Executive Director Susan Grogan 

New Jersey Pinelands Commission 

15 Springfield Road 

Pemberton, NJ 08068 

Re: Proposed Stormwater Amendments to Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan 

 

 

Dear Acting Director Grogan, 

Pinelands Preservation Alliance (PPA) would like to express support for the proposed 

amendments to the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) revising stormwater management 

standards for development within the Pinelands Area. PPA recognizes that the proposed changes would 

go a step further than the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection’s (DEP) revised rules at 

N.J.A.C. 7:8, offering additional protections to the natural resources of the Pinelands. These additional 

protections adhere to the spirit of the Pinelands Protection Act and are especially crucial in the face of 

climate change. 

According to the Mullica River Watershed Stormwater Basin Assessment Project conducted by 
the Pinelands Commission in 2005, 70% of sampled stormwater management facilities did not function 
properly. Specifically, they were found to contain standing water beyond the proper infiltration time 
frame. The report “revealed severe deficiencies in the site selection and soil assessment methodologies, 
construction practices, post construction performance verification and long-term basin infiltration 
surface maintenance” of the sampled basins.  
 

PPA is supportive of maintenance plan requirements for both major and minor development, as 
improper maintenance and monitoring of stormwater infrastructure can lead to malfunction, or even 
contribute to worsening stormwater issues. But maintenance plans are ineffective if they aren’t 
followed. Despite the fact that the basins in the Mullica River study area all had some form of 
maintenance plan, “[f]ollow up site visits to these same basins indicated that the required basin 
maintenance is not occurring.” Clearly, maintenance plans must be enforced and go beyond simple 
mowing: “Even though 57% of the basins appeared to be mowed, 74% of those had standing water 
present, indicating that mere mowing provides little or no benefit to basin hydraulic performance.” 

 

mailto:ppa@pinelandsalliance.org
brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 1



2 
 

We applaud the Commission’s proposal to exceed DEP’s standards regarding nitrogen removal 

and minor development inclusion. The CMP already further protected surface waters and areas around 

high pollutant areas, and the new standards are appropriate to preserve the quantity and quality of the 

Kirkwood Cohansey aquifer water.  

In recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii, the Commission proposes to remove a requirement for 

applicants to file a deed notice on any undeveloped area of the property in order to deduct it from 

stormwater calculations. We urge the Commission to leave this requirement in place. Deeds allow for 

accurate tracking of portions of properties that can come in useful years and landowners after the fact.  

Pinelands Preservation Alliance thanks the Pinelands Commissioners and staff for the significant 

effort put forth to strengthen stormwater management requirements in the Pinelands. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Rhyan Grech 

Policy Advocate 



brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 6







         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

17 September 2021 
 
Susan R. Grogan, Acting Executive Director 
New Jersey Pinelands Commission 
P.O. Box 359 
New Lisbon, New Jersey 08064 
VIA EMAIL 
 
Re: Proposed amendments to NJAC 7:50-2.11, 3.39, and 6.84 (Pinelands Stormwater Management 
Rules) 
 
Dear Ms. Grogan, 
   
I am submitting these comments to the New Jersey Pinelands Commission regarding the proposed 
amendments to NJAC 7:50-2.11, 3.39, and 6.84, the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) 
stormwater rules, on behalf of the Barnegat Bay Partnership (BBP), which comprises federal, state, and 
local government agencies, academic institutions, nongovernmental organizations, and businesses 
working together to restore and protect a nationally significant estuary, the Barnegat Bay.  
 
AUTHORITY 
 
The BBP submits these comments pursuant to Section 320 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §1330; as 
amended by P.L. 100-4, 114-162, and 116-337), which established the Barnegat Bay as an estuary of 
national significance. Section 320 further identifies important purposes of our management conference: 
addressing point and nonpoint sources of pollution, maintaining sustainable populations of fishes and 
wildlife, protecting their habitats, and assuring that the designated uses of the estuary are protected. In 
accordance with the BBP’s Memorandum of Understanding Regarding the Roles and Responsibilities of 
Partners and its attendant charters and policies, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), N.J. 
Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), and N.J. Pinelands Commission neither participated 
in the development of these comments nor reviewed them for endorsement.  
 
COMMENTS 
 
The Barnegat Bay Partnership supports the Pinelands Commission’s proposed amendments to the CMP 
Stormwater Rules. We appreciate the efforts of the Pinelands Commission to protect the resources of the 
Pinelands beyond what is provided for in the NJDEP stormwater rules and to further address the impact 
of climate change on stormwater runoff. The proposed changes will strengthen and enhance stormwater 
management in the Pinelands Area and downstream in the Barnegat Bay, while establishing reasonable 
requirements for home builders and developers. The BBP has specific comments in the following areas. 

brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 7



  

Major and Minor Development 
The BBP supports the proposed rule definitions of major and minor development, because the 
definitions enable better protection of Pinelands resources beyond that provided by the current NJDEP 
rules. However, we believe the recharge standards for minor residential development should be 
expanded to include recharge from all impervious surfaces (e.g., driveways) and not just from roofs in 
the proposed development. We also ask that the NJDEP consider expanding the recharge standards for 
minor non-residential development to require onsite infiltration if more than 500 square feet of regulated 
motor-vehicle surface is added (as opposed to the proposed 1000 square feet). As the Pinelands 
Commission stated in its description of the rule amendments, even chemicals from individual parking 
spaces warrant removal before they enter the groundwater table. Some municipalities have already 
considered using the 500 square foot benchmark. 
 
Nitrogen Removal 
The BBP enthusiastically supports the new requirement of a nitrogen removal standard for major 
development. The Pinelands Commission recognizes nitrogen as a significant source of harm to the 
Pinelands flora and fauna, and that the NJDEP standard is not sufficiently protective of Pinelands 
resources. Nitrogen pollution promotes some invasive species, potentially reduces blueberry production, 
and may contribute to downstream impacts to receiving waterbodies, including the Barnegat Bay. The 
65% removal standard is a good starting point; however, we encourage clarification of how the standard 
is achieved and enforced. 
 
Municipal Variances for Private Development 
The BBP supports the requirement that mitigation projects approved by variance be located within either 
the same HUC-14 or HUC-11 watershed as the parcel proposed for development, however, we believe 
that the provision might be amended to allow the mitigation project to be located outside the Pinelands 
Area. This change would be allowable, should the Pinelands Stormwater Rules be applied to the total 
area of municipalities that have areas both within and outside the Pinelands Area (see Applicability 
Outside the Pinelands Area below). 
 
Runoff Requirements 
The BBP opposes the proposed change at NJAC 7:50-6.84(a)6iii that would remove the requirement for 
filing a deed restriction on open space excluded from stormwater runoff calculations. We believe that 
the current rule, which permanently restricts those areas from development, is more protective of 
Pinelands habitats, biotic resources, and water quality throughout all Pinelands watersheds, including the 
Barnegat Bay. 
 
Maintenance 
The BBP supports the proposed rule changes for stormwater maintenance standards; the proposed 
changes would slightly modify stormwater maintenance plans for major development and now include 
requirements of maintenance plans for minor development. However, the BBP asks the Pinelands 
Commission and the NJDEP to clarify their review and enforcement of maintenance plans. Failure of 
maintenance of many stormwater BMPs historically has been a serious problem, which results in 
adverse impacts to water quality in watersheds and coastal waterbodies, such as Barnegat Bay. 
 
Applicability Outside the Pinelands Area 
Municipalities that have areas both within and outside the Pinelands Area should be encouraged to apply 
these stormwater rules that are superior to the NJDEP rules, both within and outside the Pinelands Area. 
Combined with our recommendation regarding municipal variances, this change would result in overall 



  

improvements in water quality in Pinelands and adjoining areas, and give municipalities additional 
flexibility in their management of stormwater. 
 
We hope that you find our comments to be constructive and consistent with the BBP’s 2021 
Comprehensive Conservation Management Plan, including our mission to protect water quality, habitats, 
and biotic resources throughout the Barnegat Bay and its contributing watershed, much of which lies 
within the Pinelands National Reserve. We hope you find that our comments are consistent with the 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan and welcome the opportunity to discuss them in more 
detail. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me (shales@ocean.edu) or Dr. Jim Vasslides 
(jvasslides@ocean.edu), our Program Scientist, at 732-255-0472. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
L. Stanton Hales, Jr., Ph.D. 
Director 
 
 
cc:  Dr. Elizabeth Lacey, Stockton University, STAC Chair 
       Mr. Gregg Sakowicz, JCNERR, Rutgers University, STAC Vice-Chair 
       Ms. Karen Green, NOAA-NMFS, Advisory Committee Co-Chair 
  Mr. Charles Caruso, Pinelands Preservation Alliance, Stormwater Working Group Chair 
        
 

mailto:shales@ocean.edu
mailto:jvasslides@ocean.edu


brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 8









PRESIDENT 

WILLIAM P. DELISKY, P.E., 

PRESIDENT-ELECT 

TEJAL PATEL, P.E. 
T&M ASSOCIATES 

VICE PRESIDENT 

ERICA ANN VIGLIOROLO, E.I.T. 
MOTT MACDONALD 

TREASURER 

JEFFREY LAUX, P.E. 
AFFILIATED ENGINEERING LABS 

PAST PRESIDENT 

JOSPEH MANCINI, P.E., P.P., 
TRISTATE ENG. & SVY 

SECRETARY 

CAROLYN FEIGIN, P.E., P.P., 
FWH ASSOC., PA 

NJSPE DIRECTOR AT LARGE 

BRIAN VAN NORTWICK, P.E. 
CDM SMITH 

NSPE DELEGATE (TWO YEAR TERM 2020-2022) 

MARK V. SHOURDS, P.E., P.P., 
SHOURDS CONSULTING, PC 

COUNSEL 

LAWRENCE POWERS 
HOAGLAND, LONGO, MORAN 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

JOSEPH SIMONETTA, C.A.E. 

NJSPE 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

PATRICK STEWART 
NJSPE 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Susan R. Grogan, P.P., AICP  
Acting Executive Director Pinelands Commission  
PO Box 359 New Lisbon, NJ 08064 
 
Dear Acting Executive Director Pinelands Commission: 
 
The New Jersey Society of Professional Engineers write to express no concerns with the pending “DEP 
stormwater rule” or “DEP rule” adoption.  We do recognize in the proposed rule that the role of the 
Professional Engineer (PE) is vital in the Stormwater process.  We agree and support the role of the PE in this 
process. 
 
There are many powerful reasons both professional and personal for earning and maintaining a PE license. 
Only a licensed engineer, for instance, may prepare, sign, seal and submit engineering plans and drawings to 
a public authority for approval, or to seal engineering work for public and private clients. 
 
For consulting engineers and private practitioners, licensure is a vital necessity. In fact, it is a legal 
requirement for those who are in responsible charge of work, be they principals or employees. 
 
More and more with each passing day, government agencies, educational institutions and private industries 
are requiring that they hire and contract only with licensed professional engineers. This is a trend that is 
almost certain to continue in the future and we support that the pending DEP rule continues this trend 
regarding the role of the PE. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
Patrick Stewart, Executive Director  
New Jersey Society of Professional Engineers 

brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 9



Tony D Environmental Permitting, LLC
September 16, 2021                    Proposal No. PRN: 2021-063 

Via Email (planning@pinelands.nj.gov) 
Susan R. Grogan, P.P., AICP Acting Executive Director Pinelands Commission 
PO Box 359  
New Lisbon, NJ 08064 

Re: Proposal Number: PRN 2021-063.  
   Comments to Proposed Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39, and 6.84  

Dear Ms. Grogan, 

Tony DEP is pleased to provide the below comments on the Pinelands Commission’s 
proposal to amend N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39 and 6.84: 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(6) - I seriously believe that you should not move 
forward with the requirement for a minimum of 65%   nitrogen removal. Comments 
on/reasons for this are: 

1. What is the justification for a specific % total nitrogen standard? 

2. Are you relying on any specific scientific literature or studies to defend a spe-
cific blanket % removal standard? 

3. Are there any Pineland specific studies on this? 

4. TSS is a secondary treatment standard so 80% removal of TSS does not need to 
be specifically justified. Nitrogen, however, is a nutrient subject to water quality 
standards and it is inappropriate to require a set % removal standard throughout 
the Pinelands without a specific water quality assessment. 

5. Why 65%? 

6. How are you planning to have an applicant prove 65%? 

7. NJDEP does not have a specific nitrogen removal standard and the NJDEP regu-
lations only provide specific BMP % removals for TSS. 

8. In adopting the new stormwater standard, NJDEP specifically states that,  as 
part of the ongoing stakeholder process, the Department is currently exploring po-
tential changes to the nutrient standard at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5(f) and should the De-
partment determine that it is appropriate to amend the rules to incorporate nu-
merical nutrient removal standards, additional information will be provided on the 
BMPs capable of achieving the standard as part of any future rule making and 
in amendments to the New Jersey Stormwater BMP manual. The Pinelands needs to 
wait for NJDEP to conclude that a numerical nutrient standard is appropriate and 

 1900 Hamilton Street, Unit C2, Philadelphia, PA. 19130    TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com      732-740-5725

mailto:TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com
brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 10



   Proposal Number 2021-063 
Grogan Rule Comments   

September 16, 2021 
Page  of 2 3

utilize the BMP's that the Department concludes are capable of meeting the stan-
dard. 

9. I am on the stakeholder subgroup that has been investigating the nutrient re-
moval issue and we are a long way away from agreeing that a numerical standard is 
appropriate no less a specific % removal standard. There are no specific studies 
that address a statewide % total nitrogen removal standard and the performance 
of BMPs to reduce nutrients is all over the place. 

10. Since the stormwater regulations only require water quality treatment from 
motor vehicle areas, there will have to be separate BMPs for vegetative areas. 

11. Combining the motor vehicle and vegetation runoffs into one water quality BMP 
will exacerbate the requirement to restrict the drainage areas to 1 and 2.5 acres.  

12. If you move forward now with a specific % removal standard, the only BMP per-
formance information in NJDEP guidance is the chart in Chapter 4 of the BMP 
Manual which gives the following removal rates: 

 Table 4.2 – Typical Nitrogen Removal Rates for BMPs: 

  Bioretention Basin  30% 

  Constructed Stormwater Wetland  30% 

  Extended Detention Basin 20% 

  Infiltration Basin 50% 

  Pervious Paving  50% 

  Sand Filter 35% 

  Vegetative Filter  30% 

  Wet Pond  30% 

The NJDEP regulations do not allow use of constructed stormwater wetlands, ex-
tended detention basins and wet ponds for water quality treatment. 

As you can see, there are no BMPs that are given a 65% removal rate, so, using this 
chart would require a minimum of two BMPs since once you infiltrate the water 
quality storm there is no flow left to send to another BMP. Also, NJDEP requires 
that the lower % removal BMP be used first in series. This means that the only way 
to achieve 65% is to use a vegetative filter strip followed by an infiltration basin. 
This is impractical for residential subdivisions in that lawn areas would have to 
sheet flow to an additional vegetated area, which cannot be part of the lawn and 
then sheet flow to an infiltration basin. You will have multiple vegetated filter and 
infiltration basin BMPs on each lot. 

 1900 Hamilton Street, Unit C2, Philadelphia, PA. 19130    TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com      732-740-5725

mailto:TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com


   Proposal Number 2021-063 
Grogan Rule Comments   

September 16, 2021 
Page  of 3 3

6.84(a)6iii(1): The proposed requirement that "stormwater runoff shall not be 
directed in such a way as to increase the volume and rate of discharge into any 
wetland, wetlands transition area or surface water body from that which existed 
prior to development of the parcel" would appear to require that one has to infil-
trate the increase in the 100-year storm runoff. This would be contrary to the 
Pinelands long established position that it only requires infiltrating the increase in 
the 10-year storm runoff and not the 100-year storm runoff. 

iv(3)(A): What is the justification for regulating motor vehicle surfaces as small 
as 1,000 SF? 

v(5): The proposed requirement that "methods of treating stormwater prior to 
entering any stormwater management measure shall be incorporated into the de-
sign of the stormwater management measure to the maximum extent practical" 
needs to be better defined. What are "other methods of treating stormwater" 
that are not stormwater management measures. How does one incorporate these 
other methods of treatment into the design of the stormwater management mea-
sure if they are not part of the stormwater management measure? 

viii(2)(B):  Responsibility for maintenance of stormwater management measures 
that may be assigned or transferred to the owner or tenant of the parcel should 
be restricted to measures that only collect runoff from the owner/tenant parcel. 

Should you have any questions, please call me at 732-740-5725 or email me at the 
address listed below.   

Very truly yours, 
Tony D Environmental Permitting, LLC 

Tony DiLodovico 
President 
TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com 

   

 

 1900 Hamilton Street, Unit C2, Philadelphia, PA. 19130    TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com      732-740-5725

mailto:TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com
mailto:TonyDEP.llc@gmail.com


brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 11





brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 12





FW: Proposed Regulatory Amendments to the Pinelands Comprehensive Management
Plan

Grogan, Susan [PINELANDS] <Susan.Grogan@pinelands.nj.gov>
Fri 9/17/2021 12:32 PM
To:  Wengrowski, Ed [PINELANDS] <Ed.Wengrowski@pinelands.nj.gov>; Szura, Brian [PINELANDS]
<Brian.Szura@pinelands.nj.gov>
Cc:  Roth, Stacey [PINELANDS] <Stacey.Roth@pinelands.nj.gov>; Green, Marci [PINELANDS] <Marci.Green@pinelands.nj.gov>

1 attachments (2 MB)
Pinelands Hydrology Study.zip;

 
 
From: Hunter Birckhead <hunter.birckhead@colliersengineering.com>  
Sent: Friday, September 17, 2021 12:27 PM 
To: Grogan, Susan [PINELANDS] <Susan.Grogan@pinelands.nj.gov>; Horner, Charles [PINELANDS]
<Charles.Horner@pinelands.nj.gov>; Berg, Gina [PINELANDS] <Gina.Berg@pinelands.nj.gov>; Lanute, Brad
[PINELANDS] <Brad.Lanute@pinelands.nj.gov>; jon.bunnell@pinelands.nj.gov 
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Proposed Regulatory Amendments to the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan
 
Dear members and staff of the Pinelands Commission,
 
We are responding to your Proposed Regulatory Amendments to the Pinelands Management Comprehensive Plan regarding
storm water management.
 
Dr. Hawkins and I are members of the “ASCE Curve Number Hydrology Task Group.” We have submi�ed updates to Chapter 9
NEH4 Part 630 Hydrology to USDA NRCS for their review. Among the recommended changes is the acknowledgment that the
Curve Number Method IS NOT applicable in forest HSG A and B soils. We have conducted a hydrology study in McDonald’s
Branch within the Na�onal Pinelands Preserve which has confirmed our findings. We have enclosed two hydrology reports
that have been submi�ed to USDA NRCS in Somerset NJ and Washington.
Many of the hydrology prac��oners in Southern NJ are aware of the non-response of overland runoff from rainfall events in
the forested HSG A (and perhaps B) in the Pinelands.
We would suggest an informal mee�ng with the Pinelands Commission Staff to discuss our findings on the proper use of the
Curve Number in the Pinelands Na�onal Preserve and to address storm water management on a valid scien�fic basis.
 
Hunter Birckhead
 
 
Hunter Birckhead, P.E., CFM
Technical Manager
hunter.birckhead@colliersengineering.com
Main: 877 627 3772 | Direct: 732 704 5212 | Mobile: 609 213 2016
331 Newman Springs Road Suite 203 | Red Bank, New Jersey 07701

colliersengineering.com

mailto:hunter.birckhead@colliersengineering.com
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.linkedin.com/company/colliers-engineering__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeLJIcJ3zw$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/twitter.com/collierseng__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeIR-Wb26w$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.youtube.com/c/ColliersEngineeringDesign__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeIS_WWkDQ$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.instagram.com/colliersengineering__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeLr8Ml3cg$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.facebook.com/ColliersEngineering__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeLHBhJNug$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/www.colliersengineering.com__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeIu1qS0EA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http:/www.colliersengineering.com/__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeLWBdEDCg$
brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 13



 

DISCLAIMER This e-mail is confidential. It may also be legally privileged. If you are not the

addressee you may not copy, forward, disclose or use any part of this email text or

attachments. If you have received this message in error, please delete it and all copies from

your system and notify the sender immediately by return e-mail. Internet communications

cannot be guaranteed to be timely, secure, error or virus free. The sender does not accept

liability for any errors or omissions. Any drawings, sketches, images, or data are to be

understood as copyright protected.

 

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www2.colliers.com/en/services/engineering__;!!J30X0ZrnC1oQtbA!ZWyOR6l9SVNpmtmpttP-Ro449M8LnpTazGBtbk79xqBUpwi90oxONbtNdYeQt2VgWeJue_jULg$


 

 
One Washington Boulevard, Suite 5 

Robbinsville, NJ  08691 
www.NJBA.org  ●  www.ABConvention.com  (609) 587-5577 

 
 

Jeff Kolakowski 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Grant Lucking 
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER 

Kyle Holder 
DIR. OF LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS 

 

Since 1948, the New Jersey Builders Association (NJBA) has been the State’s leading trade association and voice 
of the homebuilding industry in Trenton. As a major influencer on the state’s economic strength, its mission is to 

advocate for a sustainable and healthy economy and a more affordable and vibrant housing market. NJBA’s 
diverse membership includes residential builders, developers, remodelers, subcontractors, suppliers, 

engineers, architects, lawyers, consultants and industry professionals that are involved in constructing entry-level 
to luxury units in for-sale, rental and mixed-use developments. 

 
September 17, 2021 
 
Susan R. Grogan, P.P., AICP,  
Acting Executive Director Pinelands Commission  
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL  
planning@pinelands.nj.gov 
 
 RE: Pinelands Stormwater Rule Proposal, 
  Proposed Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39 and 6.84 
 
Dear Susan R. Grogan, P.P., AICP: 
 
The New Jersey Builders Association (NJBA) is pleased to provide the following comments on 
the proposed amendments to N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39 and 6.84.  
 
Comments Regarding the Nitrogen Removal Standard 
NJBA is aware of the negative effects of excess nitrogen in stormwater but requests additional 
information as to why the removal rate has been set at 65%. Scientific evidence should be 
provided regarding the 65% rate and additionally, Pinelands specific studies should be conducted 
due to the unique nature of the Pinelands ecosystem.  
 
NJBA believes that a water quality assessment should be performed prior to introducing a water 
quality standard such as nitrogen removal rates.  
 
NJBA notes that Best Management Practices (BMP’s) for vegetative areas will need to be 
studied and provided to address water quality standards since the stormwater regulations only 
require water quality treatment from motor vehicle areas. Combining the motor vehicle and 
vegetation runoffs into one water quality BMP will exacerbate the requirement to restrict the 
drainage areas to 1 and 2.5 acres.  
 
NJBA notes that utilization of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) 
BMP Manual, Chapter 4, Table 4.2 performance information to meet the 65% removal rate 
presents major issues. Table 4.2 describes typical nitrogen removal rates for BMPs as follows: 
Bioretention Basin 30%, Constructed Stormwater Wetland 30%, Extended Detention Basin 20%, 
Infiltration Basin 50%, Pervious Paving 50%, Sand Filter 35%, Vegetative Filter 30%, Wet Pond 
30%. DEP regulations do not allow the use of constructed stormwater wetlands, ex-tended 
detention basins or wet ponds for water quality treatment. Utilizing this chart of BMPs would 
require a minimum of two BMPs. Following infiltration of the Water Quality Design Storm 
(WQDS) there is insufficient flow left to send to another BMP. Furthermore, DEP requires that 

brad.lanute
Rectangle

brad.lanute
Typewriter
Pinelands CMP Amendment Proposal
53 N.J.R. 1195(a)
Comment 14



New Jersey Builders Association 
September 17, 2021 
Proposed Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39 and 6.84 
P a g e  | 2 

 

 
609-587-5577 

the lower % removal BMP be used first in a series. This means the only way to achieve a 65% 
removal rate is to use a vegetative filter strip followed by an infiltration basin. This is highly 
impractical for residential subdivisions in that lawn areas would have to sheet flow to an 
additional vegetated area, which cannot be part of the lawn, and then sheet flow to an infiltration 
basin. This would result in multiple vegetated filter and infiltration basin BMPs on each lot. 
 
NJBA is concerned that applicants will be unable to prove or achieve a nitrogen removal rate of 
65% and that insufficient information is available for applications to do so. The Pinelands 
Commission should explain how applicants can document achieving this standard. As 
aforementioned, DEP’s BMP Manual has limited information regarding nutrient removal rates 
and none of the referenced BMPs provide removal rates higher than 50%. In adopting the new 
green infrastructure stormwater standard, DEP noted in response to comment 339: 
 

“Currently, the Department has only certified MTDs, including media filters, for the 
removal of total suspended solids. There are no media filters certified for nutrient 
removal in New Jersey. However, as part of the ongoing stakeholder process noted in the 
introduction to this adoption, the Department is currently exploring potential changes to 
the nutrient standard at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5(f). Should the Department determine that it is 
appropriate to amend the rules to incorporate numerical nutrient removal standards, 
additional information will be provided on the BMPs capable of achieving the standard as 
part of any future rulemaking and in amendments to the New Jersey Stormwater BMP 
manual.”i 

 
The Pinelands Commission should follow DEP’s lead regarding nutrient removal rates as further 
study and evaluation are necessary for both the rate of removal that may be prudent and the rate 
at which specific BMPs achieve this result.  
 
Miscellaneous Comments 
NJBA requests clarification regarding 6.84(a)6iii(1) which proposes that "stormwater runoff 
shall not be directed in such a way as to increase the volume and rate of discharge into any wet-
land, wetlands transition area or surface water body from that which existed prior to 
development of the parcel." This appears to require infiltration of the increase in the 100-year 
storm runoff which is contrary to the Pinelands Commission’s long-established position that it 
only requires infiltrating the increase in the 10-year storm runoff and not the 100-year storm 
runoff. 
 
Regarding iv(3)(A), NJBA requests justification for the regulation of motor vehicle surfaces as 
small as 1,000 SF and why this number was chosen. 
 
Regarding v(5), the proposed requirement that "methods of treating stormwater prior to entering 
any stormwater management measure shall be incorporated into the design of the stormwater 
management measure to the maximum extent practical," NJBA requests that clarification is 
provided regarding "other methods of treating stormwater" that are not stormwater management 



New Jersey Builders Association 
September 17, 2021 
Proposed Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39 and 6.84 
P a g e  | 3 

609-587-5577

measures. It is unclear how these other methods of treatment are incorporated into the design of a 
stormwater management measure if they are not part of the stormwater management measure. 

NJBA believes viii(2)(B), the responsibility for maintenance of stormwater management 
measures that may be assigned or transferred to the owner or tenant of the parcel, should be 
restricted to measures that only collect runoff from the owner's/tenant's parcel. 

NJBA appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on this rule proposal. Please feel free to 
contact us with any questions or requests for clarification. 

Sincerely, 

Grant Lucking 
Chief Operating Officer 
New Jersey Builders Association 

CC: NJBA Environmental Counsel, Michael Gross, Esq. 

i 52 N.J.R. 402(a) 

https://advance.lexis.com/documentpage/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=79fdffda-e076-4bf9-ad20-1ad4f1ad4509&config=025154JABiMmFjYzAxMy1hNjIyLTQ0YTctOTY0NS1iOGNlMTRiYzBkNGQKAFBvZENhdGFsb2flnvGwky16hNN9rcMfcun6&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fadministrative-codes%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A5YB9-R8M1-F8D9-M2K5-00008-00&pdcontentcomponentid=234140&pdteaserkey=sr0&pditab=allpods&ecomp=_ss_kkk&earg=sr0&prid=5fd738b5-f289-42a4-b5b0-7a31d5cff264


PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1195) 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

(a) 
PINELANDS COMMISSION 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan 
Definitions; Standards for Certification of Municipal 

Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances; and 
Minimum Standards for Point and Non-Point 
Source Discharges 

Proposed Amendments: N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 3.39, 
and 6.84 

Authorized By: New Jersey Pinelands Commission, Susan R. 
Grogan, Acting Executive Director. 

Authority: N.J.S.A. 13:18A-6.j. 
Calendar Reference: See Summary below for explanation of 

exception to calendar requirement. 
Proposal Number: PRN 2021-063. 

A public hearing concerning this notice of proposal will be held on: 
Wednesday, September 1, 2021, at 9:30 A.M. 
Richard J. Sullivan Center 
15C Springfield Road 
New Lisbon, New Jersey 

Submit written comments by regular mail, facsimile, or email by 
September 17, 2021, to: 

Susan R. Grogan, P.P., AICP 
Acting Executive Director 
Pinelands Commission 
PO Box 359 
New Lisbon, NJ 08064 
Facsimile: (609) 894-7330 
Email: planning@pinelands.nj.gov or through the Commission’s 
website at http://nj.gov/pinelands/home/contact/planning.shtml 

The name and mailing address of the commenter must be submitted 
with all public comments. Commenters who do not wish their names and 
affiliations to be published in any notice of adoption subsequently 
prepared by the Commission should so indicate when they submit their 
comments. 
The agency proposal follows: 

Summary 
The New Jersey Pinelands Commission (Commission) proposes to 

amend Subchapter 2, Interpretations and Definitions, Subchapter 3, 
Certification of County, Municipal, and Federal Installation Plans, and 
Subchapter 6, Management Programs and Minimum Standards. The 
Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP) has been guiding 
land use and development activities in the Pinelands since it took effect 
on January 14, 1981. The CMP has been amended many times, most 
recently in December 2020, through a set of amendments related to the 
Pilot Program for Alternate Design Wastewater Treatment Systems (see 
52 N.J.R. 2177(a)).  

This rulemaking is in response to amendments adopted by the New 
Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) on October 25, 
2019, effective March 2, 2020, to its stormwater management rules at 
N.J.A.C. 7:8 (referred to as “DEP stormwater rule” or “DEP rule”). In 
those amendments (see 50 N.J.R. 2375(a)), the DEP replaced the 
requirement for use of nonstructural stormwater management strategies to 
the “maximum extent practicable” with a requirement for use of green 
infrastructure to meet its groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff 
quantity, and stormwater runoff quality standards. DEP relocated the 
nonstructural strategies to a different section of its rules (N.J.A.C. 7:8-
2.4(g)), so that will now be something municipalities may address in the 
preparation of their stormwater management plans. Green infrastructure 
measures or best management practices are intended to mimic natural 
hydrologic conditions and, thus, typically incorporate infiltration and/or 
vegetation to a greater extent than traditional stormwater management 
methods. The DEP also clarified and modified its definition of major 

development, which defines the scope of projects to which the amended 
rules apply. Lastly, it amended the stormwater management rules to 
require total suspended solids (TSS) be removed from runoff from motor 
vehicle surfaces and eliminated the TSS removal requirement for runoff 
from other impervious surfaces not traveled by automobiles, such as 
rooftops and sidewalks. 

The Commission proposes to amend the stormwater management 
provisions of the CMP at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6 to harmonize them with 
the amended DEP rule in a manner consistent with the goals of the CMP 
and recognizing the special resources of the Pinelands that the 
Commission is charged with protecting. Related, minor changes are also 
being proposed to the definitions section of the CMP at N.J.A.C. 7:50-
2.11 and to the certification requirements for municipal stormwater 
management plans at N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39. 

The last time the Commission made significant changes to the CMP 
stormwater management provisions was in 2006, in response to the DEP’s 
2004 adoption of its stormwater management rule. The Commission 
conducted an extensive review of the 2004 DEP rule to determine how to 
mesh the new rule with the CMP in a manner that was most appropriate 
for the Pinelands. It ultimately decided to adopt Subchapters 5 and 6 of 
the DEP stormwater rule by incorporating them into the CMP by 
reference, with modifications to provide additional protections to the 
resources of the Pinelands. Subchapter 5 of the DEP rule contains design 
and performance standards for stormwater management measures and 
Subchapter 6 contains safety standards for stormwater management 
basins. The modifications adopted by the Commission in 2006 included: 
a stricter stormwater recharge requirement; a prohibition against 
discharging stormwater into wetlands and streams; special treatment of 
stormwater runoff from high pollutant load areas; and an emphasis on soil 
testing and as-built certifications (see 38 N.J.R. 1829(b)). At the same 
time, the Commission developed a joint Pinelands-DEP model 
stormwater control ordinance for adoption by all municipalities located, 
in whole or in part, in the Pinelands Area. 

The Commission has extensively compared the DEP’s 2020 
amendments to its stormwater management rule and has similarly 
determined that the CMP should continue to incorporate Subchapters 5 
and 6 of the DEP rule, as amended. The Commission has also decided to 
incorporate by reference an additional provision of the DEP rule (N.J.A.C. 
7:8-4.6) that addresses municipal variances from the design and 
performance standards for stormwater management measures. 

To protect the resources of the Pinelands beyond what is provided for 
in the DEP stormwater rule and to further address the impacts of climate 
change on stormwater runoff, the Commission is again proposing to adopt 
additional, more stringent, stormwater management requirements, as 
discussed in detail below. These changes will strengthen and enhance 
stormwater management in the Pinelands Area while establishing 
reasonable requirements for home builders and developers. 

The proposed amendments also update, correct, and clarify various 
provisions of the existing rules. 

The proposed amendments were discussed and reviewed at multiple 
public meetings of the Commission and the Commission’s CMP Policy & 
Implementation Committee in 2020 and 2021. If requested, Commission 
staff will also provide a presentation on the proposed amendments at a 
public meeting of the Pinelands Municipal Council (PMC). The PMC, 
created by the Pinelands Protection Act (N.J.S.A. 13:18A-1 et seq.), is 
made up of the mayors of the 53 municipalities in the Pinelands Area, or 
their designees. The PMC is empowered to review and comment upon 
changes to the CMP proposed by the Commission and advises the 
Commission on matters of interest regarding the Pinelands. 

A more detailed description of the proposed amendments follows. 
Subchapter 2 

The Commission is proposing to add definitions of “HUC-11” or 
“hydrologic unit code 11” and “HUC-14” or “hydrologic unit code 14” to 
Subchapter 2, Interpretations and Definitions. The proposed amendments 
to Subchapter 6 introduce these terms, which are not currently defined in 
the CMP. HUC-11 and HUC-14 are subwatersheds delineated by the 
United States Geological Survey. 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1196) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

Subchapter 3 

The CMP contains a series of standards that municipal master plans 
and land use ordinances must meet in order to be certified (approved) by 
the Commission. N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39(a). One such standard, N.J.A.C. 
7:50-3.39(a)viii, currently requires that Pinelands municipalities establish 
and implement mitigation plans as part of any municipal stormwater 
management plan and ordinance, adopted for purposes of compliance with 
DEP’s requirements. In these mitigation plans, municipalities can identify 
potential stormwater mitigation projects for applicants that cannot meet 
CMP stormwater management requirements on the proposed 
development site. When a municipality grants a variance from the 
stormwater management requirements, it requires that the off-site 
mitigation project be selected from the list in the municipality’s 
stormwater management plan, if such a list is included therein. These off-
site mitigation projects could remediate existing stormwater problems or 
areas with existing impervious surfaces. 

The Commission is proposing some minor changes to this certification 
standard so that it will be consistent with changes being proposed to the 
stormwater management provisions of the CMP at Subchapter 6. The term 
“exception” is being changed to “variance” throughout N.J.A.C. 7:50-
3.39(a)2viii, to be consistent with the proposed changes to terms at 
recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii (existing N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi). 

The Commission is also proposing to remove language from N.J.A.C. 
7:50-3.39(a)2viii(2) that allows a municipality to grant a variance from 
CMP stormwater management requirements if the municipality 
determines that stormwater management would more effectively be 
achieved through alternative measures. This language is vague and not 
consistent with the variance requirements in the DEP stormwater 
management rule at N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, which the Commission is proposing 
to adopt through incorporation. 

The Commission is proposing, at N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39(a)2viii(3), to 
require municipalities to specify, in their mitigation plans, that mitigation 
projects are to be located in the same HUC-14, as the parcel proposed for 
development, or the same HUC-11 within the Pinelands Area if no such 
projects are available. It may not always be feasible to find a mitigation 
site that is in both the Pinelands Area and the same HUC-14 as some 
HUC-14 watersheds extend beyond the boundary of the Pinelands Area 
and may contain very little land in the Pinelands Area. This is consistent 
with the Commission’s proposed changes to DEP’s variance standards set 
forth at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(1)(A) and described in detail below. 

The Commission is proposing to remove N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39(a)2viii(4), 
which allows a municipality to collect a monetary contribution from a 
development applicant in lieu of requiring off-site stormwater mitigation 
measures. N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39(a)2viii(5), which requires municipal 
expenditure of any such contributions within five years of their receipt, is 
also proposed for deletion. The Commission believes these provisions are 
not necessary as they have never been invoked by a municipality likely 
because of the administrative and financial burden resulting from this 
provision. 
Subchapter 6 

The stormwater management provisions of the CMP at N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6 currently incorporate Subchapters 5 and 6 of the DEP stormwater 
rule. The Commission is proposing to incorporate an additional provision 
from the DEP rule, N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, Variance from the design and 
performance standards for stormwater management measures, into the 
CMP, with modifications discussed below. (See discussion on proposed 
change to the “Exceptions” section at proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vii.) 
Definitions (new N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6i) 

Many terms in the DEP stormwater rule are either not defined in the 
CMP or are defined differently. To avoid confusion over which definitions 
will apply in the Pinelands Area for stormwater management purposes, 
the Commission is proposing to add a new provision at N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6i. This language clarifies that the DEP definitions at N.J.A.C. 7:8-
1.2 are incorporated into the CMP’s stormwater management provisions 
unless a term is defined differently in the CMP, in which case the CMP 
definition will apply. 

The term “major development” is the most significant example of a 
term that is defined differently in the CMP and the DEP stormwater rule. 
Both rules rely upon this term to establish the scope of development 
projects that are subject to the CMP stormwater management 
requirements, but each defines it differently. 

The CMP defines major development as “any division of land into five 
or more lots; any construction or expansion of any housing development 
of five or more dwelling units; any construction or expansion of any 
commercial or industrial use or structure on a site of more than three acres; 
or any grading, clearing or disturbance of an area in excess of 5,000 square 
feet.” N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11. The DEP stormwater rule defines major 
development as an “individual development, as well as multiple 
developments, that individually or collectively result in: 

1. The disturbance of one or more acres of land since February 2, 2004; 
2. The creation of one-quarter acre or more of “regulated impervious 

surface” since February 2, 2004; 
3. The creation of one-quarter acre or more of “regulated motor vehicle 

surface” since March 2, 2021; or 
4. A combination of 2 and 3 above that total an area of one-quarter acre 

or more. The same surface shall not be counted twice when determining 
if the combination area equals one-quarter acre or more…” N.J.A.C. 7:8-
1.2. 

As explained in greater detail below (in the discussion of proposed 
changes to the “Recharge” section of the CMP), the Commission decided 
in 2006 to rely upon the CMP definition of major development instead of 
adopting the DEP definition. The Commission is not proposing to change 
this practice, but new N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6i will clarify that the CMP 
definition of terms such as “major development” will be used when the 
CMP has a different definition than the DEP rule. 

All subsequent sections of the CMP stormwater management 
provisions will be recodified accordingly. 
Runoff Rate and Volume, Runoff Quality, and Groundwater Recharge 
Methodologies (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ii) 

When the Commission adopted subsections of the DEP stormwater 
rule into the CMP in 2006, it also added language directly from the DEP 
rule into some CMP provisions in addition to incorporating those 
provisions by reference. The Commission is proposing to remove some of 
this redundant language from the CMP, which is contained in the DEP 
rule at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5 and 6, as those subchapters are already incorporated 
into the CMP. 

Both the DEP rule and the current CMP incorporate by reference 
publications of the Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) that 
describe methodologies for the calculation of stormwater runoff. At 
proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ii(1), (2), and (3), the Commission 
proposes to delete the details of those methodologies and simply refer to 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.7, the DEP provision that contains the details. The 
Commission, however, is proposing one modification to this DEP 
provision related to calculation methodologies. Specifically, the 
Commission is codifying its current practice of allowing only the NRCS 
methodology. Although DEP allows the use of the Rational Method for 
peak flow or the Modified Rational Method for hydrograph computation 
described at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.7(a)1ii and 2, the Commission requires the 
NRCS methodology, because it is a more conservative methodology and, 
therefore, more protective of the resources of the Pinelands. 

Both the CMP and the DEP rule require applicants to use existing 
rainfall data published by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA) to calculate the volume of stormwater runoff that 
must be managed. The website addresses that contain this rainfall data 
have been changed; therefore, updated references are being included at 
proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ii(2). 
Runoff Requirements (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii) 

The Commission is proposing to remove language related to 
stormwater runoff requirements at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii, as 
these requirements are already contained in the DEP rule at N.J.A.C. 7:8-
5.6. The Commission is also proposing to amend the current restrictions 
in the CMP that prohibits the direct discharge of stormwater runoff to any 
wetlands, wetlands transition area, or stream, at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6iii(1). That same provision also prohibits stormwater runoff from 



PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1197) 

being directed in such a way as to increase the volume and rate of 
discharge into any surface water body that existed prior to development 
of the parcel. The Commission has always interpreted this latter restriction 
to also prohibit such runoff from increasing the volume and rate of 
discharge into any wetland or wetlands transition area. The Commission 
is proposing to amend recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii(1), to clarify 
that the prohibition extends to wetlands and wetlands transition areas. 

The Commission is also proposing to remove language at recodified 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii, that sets forth conditions an applicant must 
meet to be able to deduct the acreage of any undeveloped portion of a 
parcel from certain stormwater runoff calculations. The CMP currently 
allows an undeveloped area of the property to be deducted from the 
stormwater calculations only if the area has been permanently protected 
from future development or if the applicant files a deed notice stating that 
the area will be subject to stormwater management when it is proposed 
for development. Through practice, the Commission has realized that 
these conditions are unnecessary, as the stormwater rules would require 
any land that is not permanently protected to comply with stormwater 
management requirements once it is proposed for development. As a 
result, recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii, will continue to permit an 
applicant to deduct undeveloped acreage from stormwater runoff 
calculations. However, the filing of a deed notice on the undeveloped 
acreage will no longer be required. 
Recharge Standards (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv) 

As explained in greater detail below, the Commission is proposing to 
expand the scope of development projects that will be required to 
implement stormwater management measures. These new measures will 
strengthen protection of Pinelands resources through a reduction in 
localized flooding and help to maintain water levels within the Kirkwood-
Cohansey Aquifer. Like the current CMP, the scope of projects will be 
based on the CMP definitions of major and minor development. 

When the Commission adopted portions of the DEP stormwater rule in 
2006, it chose not to adopt the DEP definition of major development at 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2. This definition establishes the scope of projects subject 
to the DEP’s stormwater management requirements. The CMP definitions 
of major and minor development are the foundation for requirements 
throughout the CMP and the Commission concluded that adopting a set 
of definitions applicable only to stormwater management could cause 
confusion and create inconsistencies for the regulated community in the 
Pinelands. 

For the same reasons, the Commission has again decided to use the 
CMP definitions of major and minor development for purposes of 
stormwater management. Although the CMP will continue to incorporate 
many of the DEP’s stormwater management standards, the scope of 
projects subject to those standards (as well as additional Pinelands-
specific standards in the CMP) will continue to be based on the CMP 
definitions of minor and major development, and not the DEP definition 
of major development. 

While the DEP stormwater rule does not define or use the term minor 
development, the CMP uses both its definitions of minor and major 
development to help establish the scope of projects required to comply 
with stormwater management. The CMP defines major development as 
“any division of land into five or more lots; any construction or expansion 
of any housing development of five or more dwelling units; any 
construction or expansion of any commercial or industrial use or structure 
on a site of more than three acres; or any grading, clearing or disturbance 
of an area in excess of 5,000 square feet.” The construction of four or 
fewer dwelling units is deemed minor residential development under the 
CMP. The construction or expansion of any commercial or industrial use 
or structure on a site less than three acres or any grading, clearing, or 
disturbance of an area less than 5,000 square feet is deemed minor 
nonresidential development. N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11. 
Minor Residential Development (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2)) 

To reduce the impact of stormwater runoff from minor residential 
development in the Pinelands Area, the Commission is proposing to 
require all minor residential development to comply with a limited 
stormwater management requirement. Currently, minor residential 
development in the Pinelands is not required to implement any stormwater 

management measures unless the development involves the construction 
of new roads. N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11 and 6.84(a)6vi(1).  

The Commission analyzed recent residential development trends in the 
Pinelands Area to determine how much development was subject to the 
CMP’s stormwater management requirements. It found that the 
overwhelming number of residential development applications completed 
with the Commission over the last 11 years were for minor development. 
Of 817 applications completed, 767 were for minor residential 
development (one to four units) and 50 were for major development (more 
than five units). Because most minor residential development does not 
include the construction of roads, most of the 767 developments were not 
required to implement any stormwater management measures under the 
existing CMP stormwater rule.  

Based on this analysis, the Commission is proposing that all minor 
residential development be required to retain and infiltrate stormwater 
runoff solely from the roof(s) of the new dwelling(s). Expanding 
stormwater management to minor residential development in this manner 
will further reduce the volume of stormwater runoff and, thereby, reduce 
the potential for localized flooding. Redirecting rooftop runoff to green 
infrastructure measures that provide infiltration and groundwater recharge 
will help maintain water levels in the Kirkwood-Cohansey Aquifer. The 
minor residential development requirements are being added to the 
“recharge” section of the rule at proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2) and 
the exemption for minor residential development is being removed from 
recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi(1). 

Minor residential development would be required to retain and 
infiltrate the stormwater volume generated on the roof(s) of the 
dwelling(s) through one or more green infrastructure best management 
practices including, but not limited to: dry wells, pervious pavement 
systems, or small scale bioretention systems, such as a rain garden. See 
proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2)(A). 

The calculation of stormwater runoff volume will be based on the area 
of the roof and the 10-year storm. N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2). A key 
difference between the stormwater management requirements for minor 
and major residential development is that major development will have to 
retain and infiltrate stormwater runoff generated from the net increase in 
all impervious surfaces, whereas minor residential development will only 
have to retain and infiltrate stormwater runoff generated from the roof(s) 
of the dwelling(s). 

There may be limited situations where a project could be deemed minor 
residential development under the CMP and major development under the 
DEP stormwater rule. In those situations, the CMP will prevail and the 
stormwater standards for minor residential development will apply. For 
example, a two-lot subdivision in a Pinelands Rural Development Area, 
with one house proposed for development on each lot, would be deemed 
minor development under the CMP but could be deemed major 
development under the DEP stormwater rule, if it resulted in disturbance 
of more than one acre of land. Similarly, a single-family dwelling in a 
Pinelands Forest Area would also qualify as minor residential 
development under the CMP but could be defined as major development 
under the DEP rule if the CMP’s 200-foot scenic setback requirement 
necessitated the clearing of an acre of land to accommodate a driveway or 
other improvements. In both of these examples, the development would 
be defined as minor residential under the CMP and be subject to the 
stormwater recharge standards at proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(2). 
In most cases, the proposed changes to the CMP will result in a much 
larger amount of stormwater being retained and infiltrated than the DEP 
stormwater rule requires. 
Minor Non-Residential Development (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(3)(A)) 

The Commission is also proposing to expand the stormwater 
management requirements for minor non-residential development. The 
CMP defines minor non-residential development as the construction or 
expansion of any commercial or industrial use or structure on a site less 
than three acres, or any grading, clearing, or disturbance of an area less 
than 5,000 square feet (see N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11). Such development is not 
required to comply with the current CMP’s stormwater management 
requirements unless the cumulative development over a five-year period 
results in the grading, clearing, or disturbance of an area greater than 5,000 
square feet. N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi(1). 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1198) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

In deciding whether to extend stormwater management to minor non-
residential development, the Commission concluded that the chemicals 
originating from motor vehicles, even in small areas, such as individual 
parking spaces, justify a requirement to capture and remove those 
pollutants before they enter the groundwater table. Proposed N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6iv(3)(A) will require onsite infiltration of stormwater runoff 
from new motor vehicle surfaces in compliance with the DEP stormwater 
runoff quality standards described at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5, for any minor non-
residential development that results in an increase of 1,000 square feet or 
more of regulated motor vehicle surface, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2. 
Only the stormwater generated on these surfaces will be required to be 
recharged onsite.  

The Commission is requiring infiltration of a smaller volume of water 
from these motor vehicle surfaces than is currently required for major 
development in the Pinelands Area and smaller than is being proposed for 
minor residential development. Instead of requiring the stormwater runoff 
volume to be based on the 10-year storm, the volume of stormwater runoff 
generated from regulated motor vehicle surfaces of minor non-residential 
development will be based on the smaller “water quality design storm,” 
which is 1.25 inches of rain over a 24-hour period. This smaller volume 
requirement is sufficient because most pollutants from motor vehicles get 
carried away in the first inch of rainfall, often referred to as the “first 
flush.” By infiltrating the volume of stormwater runoff from that first inch 
of rainfall, many of the pollutants will be filtered out before mixing with 
groundwater. 

In order to understand how many applications would likely be affected 
by the proposed extension of stormwater management requirements to 
certain minor nonresidential development, a review of past application 
activity was conducted. The Commission found that only 455 or 36 
percent of the nonresidential development applications completed with 
the Commission over the last 11 years were required to manage 
stormwater in accordance with the CMP’s stormwater management 
standards. The remainder (800 completed applications) did not qualify as 
major development and, therefore, were not required to manage 
stormwater. These 800 minor nonresidential applications were for a broad 
range of development types, many of which (small building additions, 
building demolitions, irrigation wells, and hiking trails) would likely not 
be impacted by the proposed requirement to infiltrate stormwater runoff 
from new regulated motor vehicle surfaces. Depending on their size and 
extent, minor nonresidential applications for road widening or the 
expansion of parking lots could be affected by the new standard; however, 
it was not possible to identify the exact number of prior applications that 
fit into this category without a more detailed review of site plans and other 
application materials. 

The requirements for minor non-residential development will be added 
to the recharge section at proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(3) and the 
exemption for minor non-residential development will be removed from 
existing N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi(1). 

The CMP will continue to require that minor nonresidential 
development involving the grading, clearing, or disturbance of an area in 
excess of 5,000 square feet within any five-year period be required to 
comply with the CMP stormwater management standards for major 
development. The Commission is proposing to relocate that requirement 
from N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi(1) to (a)6iv(3)(B). 
Application Requirements for Minor Development (new N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6iv(4)) 

The application requirements for all minor development will be 
included in a new provision at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(4). An applicant 
will be required to submit a plan, certified by a design engineer, showing 
detailed information and drawings of each green infrastructure stormwater 
management measure, in addition to soil profiles, soil permeability test 
elevation, soil permeability rate, and the elevation of, and vertical 
separation to, the seasonal high water table. An applicant will also have 
to submit the design engineer’s certification that the infiltrated stormwater 
will not adversely impact basements or septic systems of the proposed 
development. 

Stormwater Runoff from High Pollutant Loading Areas (HPLA) (recodified 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(5)) 

The Commission is proposing to clarify the CMP provision regarding 
treatment of stormwater runoff from HPLA at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6iv(5). The HPLA requirements were added to the CMP in 2006 
to address DEP’s prohibition against the direct discharge of stormwater 
runoff from HPLAs to groundwater recharge systems. The only 
permissible option for stormwater runoff under the DEP rule would be 
discharge from HPLAs into surface waterbodies, such as wetlands and 
streams, which has long been prohibited in the CMP, for stormwater from 
all areas, not just HLPAs. To resolve this issue, the Commission began 
requiring applicants to remove 90 percent of the major pollutant load, also 
referred to as total suspended solids (TSS), from stormwater runoff from 
HPLAs before the runoff enters an infiltration basin (groundwater 
recharge system). This was agreed to by DEP and codified at existing 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii(2)(C) in 2006. 

This provision, however, inadvertently implies that the 90 percent TSS 
removal be attained before the stormwater runoff enters an infiltration 
basin. Despite how the provision was drafted, the Commission had always 
intended to allow the infiltration basin to serve as one of the devices used 
to achieve the 90 percent removal standard, as an infiltration basin itself 
can remove up to 80 percent of TSS. To correct this, the Commission is 
proposing to amend the TSS removal language at recodified N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6iv(5), to clarify that 90 percent TSS removal can be achieved 
by routing stormwater runoff through one or more stormwater 
management measures, in series, which could include the infiltration basin 
itself. A key element of this proposed revision is removing references to 
“pretreatment” of the stormwater runoff, as pretreatment implies that 90 
percent TSS removal has to occur prior to the runoff entering an 
infiltration basin. 

This provision also currently mandates that applicants use specific 
types of devices to achieve 90 percent TSS removal. The Commission 
believes applicants should have more flexibility in how to achieve that 
removal standard. It is proposing to remove references to specific 
stormwater management devices and require only that applicants use 
stormwater management measures that are: (1) designed to remove TSS 
in accordance with the New Jersey Stormwater Best Practices Manual; or 
(2) certified by DEP. See recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(5)(C)(I) 
and (II), existing N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii(2)(C)(I)-(V). 
Nitrogen Removal (new N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(6)) 

The Commission is proposing to add a quantitative nitrogen removal 
standard for major development at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(6). This 
provision will require all major development to implement stormwater 
management measures designed to achieve a minimum of 65 percent 
reduction of the post-construction nitrogen load from the developed site 
from stormwater runoff generated from the water quality design storm. A 
“developed site” includes permanent lawn or turf areas that are 
specifically intended for active human use, as nitrogen fertilizer applied 
to managed turf has long been identified as a significant source of nitrogen 
in stormwater in New Jersey, and in the Pinelands specifically. Original 
New Jersey Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (November 
1981); New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual, 
Chapter 4 (Feb. 2004). 

The original New Jersey Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan, 
effective January 14, 1981, recognized that the ecosystem of the Pinelands 
cannot accept elevated concentrations of nitrogen without risk of 
irreparable harm. Elevated nitrogen levels in the sandy soils, surface 
waters, and shallow groundwater of the Pinelands can provide the 
opportunity for invasive plant and animal species to out-compete and 
displace native biota that is adapted to naturally low levels of these 
nutrients. Moreover, elevated nitrogen levels can reduce berry production 
in blueberry crops. Original New Jersey Pinelands Comprehensive 
Management Plan (November 1981). 

Since its inception, the Commission has sought to control the release 
of nitrogen in the Pinelands. This fundamental concern is reflected 
throughout the CMP, which itself states that the CMP’s water quality 
requirements include “provisions that are aimed at controlling the amount 
of nitrogen that enters the environment both because nitrogen in itself is a 
significant pollutant, but also because it often serves as an indicator of 



PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1199) 

changes in overall water quality.” N.J.A.C. 7:50-10.21(b). An example is 
the CMP’s onsite wastewater treatment system requirements, which are 
intended to reduce nitrogen loading where development densities preclude 
sufficient nitrogen dilution in groundwater. N.J.A.C. 7:50-6 Appendix A 
and 10.21. 

The Commission has chosen to impose a stricter nitrogen removal 
requirement than DEP, because it believes that DEP’s nitrogen removal 
standard (removal to the “maximum extent feasible”) will not sufficiently 
protect Pinelands resources. See N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5(f). The Commission’s 
decision to require 65 percent nitrogen removal from stormwater runoff 
in the CMP is consistent with its long history of controlling nitrogen to 
protect the ecosystem. 

The proposed standard is attainable by combining two different best 
management practices in series. The New Jersey Stormwater Best 
Management Practices Manual (BMP Manual) provides a method to 
calculate total nitrogen removal rates achieved when BMPs are used in 
series. For example, based on the calculation method in the BMP Manual, 
stormwater routed through a vegetated swale and then discharged to an 
infiltration basin could achieve 65 percent removal of nitrogen. 
Stormwater Management Measure Design, Siting, and Construction 
Standards (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v) 

The Commission is proposing to update terminology at recodified 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v and vi by substituting the term “stormwater 
management measure” for “infiltration basin,” as an infiltration basin is 
now considered only one of several types of available stormwater 
management measures. The proposed amendments also clarify that the 
groundwater mounding analysis required at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6v(3), would apply only to major development. Minor changes are 
also being proposed at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v(6) to maintain 
consistent use of terminology. 

The standards contained at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v(4) will 
be clarified and reorganized by removing the following requirements: 1) 
limit site disturbance, as that is already addressed in the CMP at N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.23; 2) maximize stormwater management efficiencies, as the 
standard is vague and the CMP already requires stormwater management 
measures to be designed and maintained in accordance with the BMP 
Manual; and 3) maintain aesthetic conditions, as the standard is too 
subjective and the CMP already contains landscaping standards at 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.24 and 6.26. 

Consistent with DEP’s new stormwater rule, the Commission is 
proposing to require stormwater management measures that are smaller in 
size and distributed spatially throughout a parcel, rather than a single, 
larger measure. The CMP currently requires applicants to achieve this 
goal “to the maximum extent practical” at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(4). 
This requirement will become mandatory by removing the language “to 
the maximum extent practical” at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v(4). Further, by 
limiting the contributory drainage area to defined maximum acreages, the 
new rules eliminate the subjective nature of the prior maximum extent 
practical standard. 

The stormwater pretreatment requirement, which is grouped together 
with other requirements at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv(4), will become a 
separate requirement at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v(5). To address some 
confusion about whether this standard requires treatment of stormwater 
runoff prior to the runoff entering an infiltration basin, the Commission is 
proposing to reword it to more succinctly require that methods of treating 
stormwater prior to entering any stormwater management measure are to 
be incorporated into the design of the measure to the maximum extent 
practical. 

The Commission is also proposing to add a requirement that dry wells 
be designed to prevent access by amphibians and reptiles, as they become 
trapped in the dry wells. 
As-Built Requirements (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi) 

The CMP at existing N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6v requires testing of 
stormwater management measures after all construction has been 
completed to ensure that the measures are performing as designed. 
Amendments to the post-construction requirements at recodified N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6vi would clarify that the requirements apply only to major 
development. The Commission is also proposing minor changes at 

recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi to clarify that the test results required 
under this provision are to be reviewed either by a municipal engineer or 
other appropriate reviewing engineer in recognition of the fact that some 
development is proposed by county or State entities and, therefore, is not 
subject to municipal review and approval. The term “field permeability 
testing” is being shortened to “permeability testing” to acknowledge that 
some permeability testing is done in a lab and not in the field. Other non-
substantive language changes are being proposed at recodified N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6vi. 
Exceptions (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii) 

The CMP currently allows for waivers and exceptions to be granted if 
an applicant for a private or public development project demonstrates that 
it cannot meet the CMP stormwater management standards on the site of 
the proposed development. (See N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vi(3) and (4)). The 
Commission is proposing to add more detail and clarity to this section, as 
described below, in order to strengthen off-site mitigation requirements. 
Municipal variances from stormwater management requirements for private 
development 

The Commission is proposing to clarify the circumstances under which 
Pinelands municipalities can grant variances from the CMP’s stormwater 
management requirements. 

Currently, a Pinelands municipality can grant a variance (currently 
called a “waiver”) for a private, major development application in the 
Pinelands Area that cannot meet CMP stormwater management 
requirements on the parcel proposed for development. (See N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vi(3)). Municipalities will continue to have the discretion to grant 
such variances, but the proposed amendments at N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vii(1) will now incorporate the municipal variance provision of 
the DEP stormwater rule at N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, with modifications specific 
to the Pinelands Area. 

The municipal variance provisions of the DEP rule were not 
incorporated in the CMP by the Commission in 2006. However, the DEP 
rule, as amended in 2020, now includes more detailed off-site mitigation 
requirements that, with some modifications, the Commission believes will 
adequately protect environmental resources in the Pinelands. 

Incorporation of N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6 into the CMP at new N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vii(1), would provide municipalities the authority to grant 
variances from the following stormwater management standards: 1) on-
site design and performance standards for green infrastructure; 2) 
groundwater recharge; and 3) stormwater runoff quality standards. 
Municipalities will also be able to grant variances from the CMP’s on-site 
recharge standards at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv. 

To further protect the resources of the Pinelands, the Commission is 
proposing to modify DEP’s variance standards. Proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vii(1)(A) will require that all mitigation projects approved by 
variance be located in the Pinelands Area and within either the same 
HUC-14 or HUC-11 watershed as the parcel proposed for development. 
The DEP variance provisions at N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6 require mitigation 
projects to be located in the same HUC-14 watershed. However, it may 
not always be feasible to find a mitigation site that is in both the Pinelands 
Area and the same HUC-14. Some HUC-14 watersheds extend beyond 
the boundary of the Pinelands Area and contain very little land in the 
Pinelands Area. If an applicant can demonstrate that there are no available 
locations for off-site mitigation within that portion of the HUC-14 in the 
Pinelands Area, the Commission is proposing to allow a mitigation project 
to be identified in the next largest watershed, the HUC-11. If a mitigation 
project is proposed for the HUC-11, rather than the HUC-14, it must still 
be located within the Pinelands Area. 

The CMP currently requires that any proposed mitigation project be 
consistent with the municipal stormwater management plan certified by 
the Commission pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-3, unless that plan does not 
identify appropriate parcels or projects where mitigation may occur. This 
provision will remain unchanged but will be recodified as N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6vii(1)(B). 

The Commission is also proposing at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(5)(C), 
to require that the total volume of stormwater infiltrated off-site as part of 
a mitigation project approved by a municipality equal or exceed the on-
site volume required by the CMP at proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iv. 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1200) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

Exceptions from stormwater requirements for public development projects 
The Commission is proposing to clarify and strengthen the off-site 

mitigation requirements for public development projects at proposed new 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(2). It has decided not to adopt the DEP 
provisions for waivers and exemptions for public development projects at 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-5, as the DEP rule imposes less stringent requirements on 
public linear projects, such as roads, for off-site mitigation and provides a 
blanket exemption from implementing stormwater management measures 
for utility lines, including pipelines, with no requirement for off-site 
mitigation. 

In addition to the DEP provisions being less stringent than the current 
CMP off-site mitigation requirements for stormwater management, they 
are also fundamentally inconsistent with the way the Commission has 
traditionally addressed public development in the Pinelands Area that 
cannot meet other standards in the CMP. Such development must either 
seek a Waiver of Strict Compliance to relieve an extraordinary hardship 
or satisfy a compelling public need or seek a Memorandum of Agreement 
(MOA) with the Commission that provides for a deviation from the CMP 
standards. N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.61 through 4.70 and 4.52(c)2. In either case, 
waiver or MOA, offsetting measures are required to ensure the protection 
of Pinelands resources. These offsetting measures often take the form of 
land preservation or redemption of Pinelands Development Credits. 

To maintain consistency in the treatment of public development 
projects throughout the CMP, the Commission is proposing that off-site 
mitigation continue to be required whenever the Commission grants relief 
from CMP stormwater standards for a public development application. To 
provide stronger protection of Pinelands environmental resources, the 
Commission is proposing, at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(2), to strengthen 
the off-site mitigation requirements by requiring that public development 
projects meet the same conditions and requirements that private 
development projects are required to meet to receive a municipal variance 
from stormwater management standards. This provision would apply to 
both linear projects, such as a roadway and utility lines, and nonlinear 
projects, such as a parking lot for a public school. 

It should be noted that only a handful of applicants have applied for 
exceptions, which going forward will be called variances, since the CMP 
was amended in 2006 to allow for them. Most of these exception 
applications were for road and sidewalk widening projects that could not 
meet stormwater management requirements because the projects 
traversed freshwater wetlands. The Commission required offsetting 
measures to mitigate the effects of the projects. For example, the applicant 
for one road widening project was required to offset the proposed increase 
in impervious surfaces and changes in rates of runoff by removing an area 
of existing pavement that was located in the same drainage area as the 
proposed improvements. 

Another public development project involved the construction of a 
commuter parking lot across from a train station on the site of a previous 
soil remediation project. Stormwater management measures could not 
meet the depth to seasonal high or permeability rate standards of the CMP. 
The Commission required the applicant to offset the increase in 
impervious surfaces by removing sections of existing pavement from two 
nearby roads that were located within the same drainage area as the 
commuter parking lot. The applicant also was required to install a 
manufactured treatment device (MTD) to treat stormwater from the 
parking lot prior to the stormwater entering the existing stormwater 
conveyance infrastructure. 

The Commission’s standards for exceptions and mitigation will 
continue to be more stringent than those applicable in the rest of the State 
in order to provide additional protection for the resources of the Pinelands 
and remain consistent with long-standing Commission policy. 
Other Changes to “Exceptions” Provision 

The provision that prohibits the application of any provision in DEP’s 
stormwater rule that allows for exemptions and waivers from the 
stormwater standards, unless explicitly allowed in the CMP, will be 
recodified as N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(3). 

The Commission is also proposing to add N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6vii(4) 
to explicitly ban the granting of variances or exceptions from the CMP’s 
prohibition against discharging stormwater runoff into wetlands and 
streams. 

Maintenance Standards (recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii) 

The Commission is proposing to clarify that the CMP’s existing 
stormwater maintenance standards, existing N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii, 
apply only to major development. Minor, non-substantive language 
changes are also proposed at recodified N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii(1)(A) 
to clarify that maintenance plans for major development are required 
pursuant to the DEP rule and must be supplemented in accordance with 
the CMP. 

The Commission is also proposing to add maintenance standards for 
minor development at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii(2), which are less 
stringent than for major development. Specifically, for minor 
development, a maintenance plan will be required in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6viii(2)(A). Such a maintenance plan must include 
a copy of the stormwater plan required pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6iv(4) and a description of all required maintenance activities and 
the frequency of such maintenance activities. Proposed N.J.A.C. 7:50-
6.84(a)6viii(2)(B) is being added to permit the assignment or transfer of 
stormwater maintenance responsibilities to the owner or tenant of the 
parcel that is the subject of the minor development application. 
New Jersey Stormwater Best Practices Manual (recodified N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6ix) 

Minor, non-substantive changes are being proposed at recodified 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6ix. 

As the Commission has provided a 60-day comment period on this 
notice of proposal, this notice is excepted from the rulemaking 
requirement at N.J.A.C. 1:30-3.3(a)5. 

Social Impact 
By continuing to incorporate key provisions of the DEP’s recently 

amended stormwater management rule, while retaining and adding more 
stringent measures to further protect the resources of the Pinelands, the 
Commission anticipates that this rulemaking will have a positive social 
impact in the Pinelands Area. Protection of resources in the Pinelands 
benefits society within the Pinelands and in the surrounding areas. 

The social benefits from the DEP’s amended stormwater management 
rule are described in detail in its 2019 notice of proposal at 50 N.J.R. 
2375(a) and include reducing flooding potential, improving water quality, 
increasing groundwater recharge, protecting stream channel integrity, 
reducing erosion, maintaining the adequacy of bridges and culverts, 
improving air quality, reducing heat island effect, and decreasing energy 
use. Through incorporation of key provisions of DEP’s rule, these benefits 
will extend to the Pinelands Area.  

In addition to the benefits listed above, the Commission’s 
modifications to the DEP’s stormwater requirements will have an even 
greater positive social impact in the Pinelands Area, as the modifications 
will provide enhanced protection of Pinelands resources. Requiring 
stormwater management for minor residential and nonresidential 
development will result in the infiltration of more stormwater, removal of 
more pollutants from stormwater runoff prior to its entering groundwater, 
maintenance of the water levels of the vital Kirkwood-Cohansey Aquifer, 
and the further reduction of localized flooding in the Pinelands. 

The Commission’s more stringent nitrogen removal requirement will 
also have a positive social impact, as the unique ecology of the Pinelands 
Area is especially sensitive to nitrogen. Fertilizer on lawn and turf has 
been identified as the largest source of nitrogen pollution in the State and 
the Commission’s quantitative nitrogen removal requirement will extend 
to newly developed permanent lawn and turf areas. This is expected to 
result in greater nitrogen removal from the stormwater flowing from these 
areas. 

The stricter conditions for off-site mitigation will also provide 
additional protections of Pinelands resources by ensuring that all 
mitigation for private or public development be required to offset the 
effects of stormwater runoff from the proposed development within the 
same watershed and that the offsets occur within the Pinelands Area. 

To be granted an exception from meeting stormwater requirements on-
site, a public project will have to meet the same conditions and be subject 
to the same standards as a private development that cannot meet the 
stormwater requirements onsite. This standard for granting an exception 
is more stringent than DEP’s waiver and exemption standards for public 



PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1201) 

linear projects. This provides greater protection for the resources of the 
Pinelands. It is also consistent with how the Commission handles public 
development projects in other CMP provisions. 

Each of the stricter stormwater management measures being proposed 
by the Commission will result in societal benefits by affording enhanced 
protection of the resources in the Pinelands. 

Economic Impact 
The Commission’s rulemaking is expected to have little to no 

economic impact and in some areas, a positive impact. The DEP 
summarized the economic impact of its amended stormwater rule at 50 
N.J.R. 2375(a). This statement addresses only those economic impacts of 
the modifications to the DEP rule that the Commission is proposing in the 
CMP, as well as some additional proposed changes to the CMP’s 
stormwater provisions. 

The following parties may be economically affected by the proposed 
amendments to the CMP: land developers, suppliers of green 
infrastructure components (such as plants, pervious pavement, 
bioretention soil mixes), property owners, applicants, and review 
agencies. 
Land Developers 

The Commission does not expect that its proposed green infrastructure 
requirement for minor residential development will significantly affect the 
cost of a development project. Developers will be required only to retain 
and infiltrate stormwater runoff generated from the roof(s) of the 
dwellings, which in most cases will be a much smaller total volume than 
that which is required for major development. Developers will likely have 
to install only one, or possibly two, green infrastructure best management 
practices (BMPs), such as a rain garden and/or dry well(s), to infiltrate 
stormwater runoff from the roof(s) of the dwelling(s). Green infrastructure 
BMPs should not add any significant cost to the development project. For 
example, rain gardens can be installed in lieu of more conventional 
landscape plantings, providing similar esthetic benefits, and additional 
environmental benefits. In addition to replenishing groundwater, properly 
located drywells can also direct roof runoff away from residences, 
preventing costly damage from moisture and seepage into basements. 

The proposed requirements for stormwater management by minor 
nonresidential projects are also not expected to result in a significant cost 
increase. If a minor nonresidential development involves more than 1,000 
square feet of impervious surface used by motor vehicles, the developer 
will be required to infiltrate the stormwater runoff from only those new 
impervious surfaces, with measures designed to reduce the post-
construction load of total suspended solids (TSS) in the runoff generated 
from the water quality design storm. A green infrastructure BMP required 
to infiltrate the water quality design storm is relatively small, about one-
fourth the size of an infiltration BMP designed to infiltrate the runoff 
volume from the larger 10-year, 24-hour storm. 

Applicants for both minor residential and non-residential development 
will be required to conduct soil tests and submit plans certified by a design 
engineer as part of the application process, and a maintenance plan, which 
will result in additional new costs. These additional costs may be partially 
offset by having the engineer perform the tests in conjunction with soil 
testing performed for an onsite septic system and/or testing performed to 
identify the distance between the seasonal high-water table and the 
basement floor. Because proper design and operation of an infiltration 
BMP, such as a rain garden, a dry well, or an infiltration basin is highly 
dependent on a thorough evaluation of site-specific soil and groundwater 
conditions, the evaluation of the site by a licensed professional engineer 
is considered essential. 

In its 2019 rulemaking, at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a), the DEP cited United 
States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) research showing that, 
for the majority of 17 case studies, low impact development, which 
includes the use of green infrastructure BMPs, such as bioretention 
systems, grass swales, and pervious paving systems, resulted in reduced 
overall costs (15 to 80 percent) when compared to conventional designs, 
which include underground vaults, manufactured treatment devices, 
curbs, and gutters (USEPA, 2007). In only a few cases were the initial low 
impact development costs higher than those for conventional designs. The 
research also showed that in all cases, the use of low impact development 

resulted in reduced volumes and pollutant loadings, as well as non-
monetized benefits such as improved aesthetics, expanded recreational 
opportunities, and increased property values (USEPA, 2007). Additional 
information on costs associated with green infrastructure can be found at 
DEP’s rulemaking at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a). 

The proposed amendments to the requirement that developers remove 
90 percent of TSS from stormwater runoff in high pollutant load areas 
(HPLA) are intended to clarify the intent of the existing CMP rule 
language at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6iii(2)(C). The CMP currently implies 
that stormwater runoff from HPLA must be pretreated to achieve the 90 
percent TSS removal prior to infiltration. The amendment will clarify that 
the requirement can be met by routing stormwater runoff through one or 
more stormwater management measures, which could include a 
bioretention system alone or an infiltration basin as the last BMP in the 
treatment train. Importantly, the 90 percent TSS removal would not need 
to be attained prior to infiltration, but can instead be met through 
infiltration. This will significantly reduce costs associated with 
installation of stormwater management measures. For example, a gas 
station could use an infiltration basin to help meet the 90 percent TSS 
removal requirement and might not need to use multiple TSS removal 
BMPs before the stormwater enters an infiltration basin, as the CMP 
currently implies. 

Providing more flexibility to developers in how they meet the 90 
percent TSS removal requirement can also reduce costs. Whereas, the 
CMP currently identifies specific types of green infrastructure BMPs that 
must be used to meet the 90 percent TSS reduction requirement, the 
proposed changes will give a developer greater latitude on which BMPs it 
can use, potentially reducing costs. 

Likewise, the proposed clarification that developers are required only 
to treat stormwater runoff prior to entering infiltration basins to the 
maximum extent practical could reduce costs to developers. 

There are no anticipated increased costs to developers who seek 
municipal variances or exceptions from the onsite stormwater 
management requirements under the proposed changes to the CMP. 
Suppliers of Green Infrastructure Inputs 

With the extension of stormwater management requirements to minor 
development in the Pinelands Area, the Commission expects a positive 
economic impact to the local providers of select fill soils, native plants, 
and other materials related to the construction of green infrastructure -- 
beyond the positive economic impact already anticipated based on the 
expanded requirements for green infrastructure for major development. 
Property Owners 

Property owners who are also the land developers of minor 
development projects will incur the same costs associated with installation 
of green infrastructure as would land developers. 

Property owners who acquire parcels of land that were created as part 
of a minor development project will incur modest, additional costs 
associated with maintaining the required stormwater management 
measures. As the DEP explained in its 2019 rulemaking, at 50 N.J.R. 
2375(a), green infrastructure maintenance is equal to, or lower than, the 
maintenance cost of conventional stormwater management measures. The 
Commission is proposing modified stormwater management for minor 
development that will necessitate a few small structures. For example, it 
is unlikely that a minor residential development will require a large 
retention basin, which would be more costly to construct and maintain. 
Likewise, green infrastructure BMPs can be used to meet the stormwater 
management requirements for minor nonresidential development and for 
reduction in total suspended solids from high pollutant loading areas. 

As DEP reported in its rulemaking, at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a), green 
infrastructure has direct and indirect economic and social benefits that 
may increase the value of properties containing, or in the vicinity of, green 
infrastructure over those containing or near conventional stormwater 
management BMPs. 
Applicants and Review Agencies 

The proposed stormwater management requirements for minor 
development may result in increased costs for municipalities and local 
review agencies who will be required to review the stormwater plans 
associated with such development applications. However, the specific and 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1202) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

objective green infrastructure requirements and design details in the 
DEP’s Stormwater BMP Manual will provide clear direction to both 
designers and reviewers of stormwater management design plans.  

The Commission does not expect municipalities to incur any additional 
costs associated with the proposed standards for granting variances from 
the onsite stormwater management requirements. The CMP currently 
authorizes municipalities to grant such variances and the proposed 
changes provide additional guidance and specificity to municipalities in 
reviewing variance applications. 

As the DEP explained in its rulemaking, at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a), most 
review agencies are municipalities who own and operate a municipal 
separate storm sewer system. Because green infrastructure reduces the 
volume of stormwater through infiltration, evapotranspiration, or reuse, 
downstream storm sewer systems will receive less stormwater volume 
from sites managed with green infrastructure than sites managed with 
conventional stormwater facilities. As a result, review agencies may see 
less additional expenditures related to stormwater management due to a 
reduction in stormwater volume leaving private development sites and 
entering the municipal storm sewer system. 

Finally, Pinelands municipalities will also incur costs because of the 
need to revise their stormwater management plans and stormwater control 
ordinances to conform with the proposed amendments, once adopted. The 
Commission will continue with its normal practice of drafting and 
providing model ordinances for municipalities to consider, thereby 
offsetting some of these costs. While the adoption of master plan and 
ordinance amendments represents a cost to municipalities, it is expected 
to be nominal. 

Environmental Impact 
The Commission anticipates that the proposed stormwater 

management amendments will have significant environmental benefits. 
The amendments are expected to minimize impacts of increased 
stormwater runoff due to climate change and result in enhanced protection 
of the Pinelands Area. Specifically, they will result in the infiltration of 
more stormwater, removal of more pollutants from stormwater runoff 
prior to entering groundwater, maintenance of water levels of the 
Kirkwood-Cohansey Aquifer, and the further reduction of localized 
flooding in the Pinelands. 

By incorporating key provisions of the DEP rule into the CMP and by 
modifying many of those provisions to impose additional and more 
stringent requirements, the environmental benefits described by the DEP 
at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a) will be even greater in the Pinelands Area. 

Requiring stormwater management for the runoff from the roofs of 
minor residential development will result in the infiltration of a much 
greater amount of stormwater. As discussed in the Summary above, the 
vast majority of completed applications for residential development in the 
Pinelands Area over the past 11 years were for minor development. Those 
developments were required to manage stormwater runoff only if the 
proposed development involved the construction of roads. The proposed 
rulemaking will capture much more stormwater runoff for infiltration and 
is expected to help reduce localized flooding and maintain Kirkwood-
Cohansey Aquifer water levels. 

Similarly, by expanding stormwater management to minor non-
residential development, the rulemaking is expected to have a positive 
environmental impact through the greater removal of pollutants from 
stormwater runoff. The onsite infiltration of stormwater runoff from 
motor vehicle surfaces for any minor non-residential development that 
results in an increase of 1,000 square feet or more of regulated motor 
vehicle surface, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2, will ensure that most of 
the pollutants leaked from motor vehicles and deposited by tire wear on 
these sites will get captured before infiltrating through the soils and into 
groundwater. 

Setting a specific nitrogen removal standard of 65 percent will help 
maintain the ecological balance within the Pinelands Area, as an 
overabundance of nitrogen in water can upset that balance and adversely 
affect the environment. This is especially so in the Pinelands Area, which 
is particularly sensitive to nitrogen. The original New Jersey Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan from 1981 recognized that the 
ecosystem of the Pinelands cannot accept elevated concentrations of 
nitrate without risk of irreparable harm. Elevated nitrogen levels in the 

sandy soils of the Pinelands can upset the nutrient balance that the plants 
rely upon, with negative impacts that range from harming local 
populations of threatened and endangered plant species to reducing berry 
production in blueberry crops. Original New Jersey Pinelands 
Comprehensive Management Plan (November 1981). The nitrogen 
removal requirement will also extend to newly developed permanent lawn 
and turf areas, as fertilizer on lawn and turf has been identified as the 
largest source of nitrogen pollution in the State. 

The proposed conditions for off-site recharge of stormwater will 
provide stronger environmental protection of the Pinelands Area. The 
CMP will require off-site mitigation for both private and public projects 
that cannot meet the stormwater management requirements on the parcel 
of land to be developed. By requiring off-site mitigation for all public 
development projects, the CMP will continue to be more restrictive than 
the DEP rule and, in turn, more protective of the Pinelands environmental 
resources. The current prohibition against discharging stormwater runoff 
into wetlands will also continue to apply to offsite mitigation, offering 
more ecological protection of the Pinelands Area. 

The CMP will also continue to require that all underground and above-
ground utility line projects meet the stormwater runoff requirements. This 
is more stringent than the DEP rule, which exempts utility lines from 
meeting the groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quantity, and 
stormwater runoff quality requirements. Under the proposed amendments 
to the CMP, utility line projects will be eligible for off-site mitigation if 
they cannot meet the requirements onsite. 

Requiring green infrastructure to manage stormwater runoff will also 
have positive impacts on the environment by helping reduce carbon 
dioxide, a greenhouse gas that is a significant contributor to climate 
change. The vegetation that green infrastructure often relies upon to filter 
pollutants from stormwater can sequester carbon from the atmosphere and 
enhance carbon sequestration in soils. In addition, transitioning from 
concrete-based stormwater management infrastructure to green 
infrastructure will reduce greenhouse gas emissions associated with the 
manufacturing of concrete infrastructure. 

The Commission’s stormwater management standards, including those 
for exceptions and mitigation, will continue to be more stringent than 
those applicable in the rest of the State under the DEP stormwater rule, 
but will provide better protection of the Pinelands and remain consistent 
with long-standing Commission policy. 

Federal Standards Statement 
Section 502 of the National Parks and Recreation Act of 1978 (16 

U.S.C. § 471i) called upon the State of New Jersey to develop a 
comprehensive management plan for the Pinelands National Reserve. The 
original plan adopted in 1980 was subject to the approval of the United 
States Secretary of the Interior, as are all amendments to the plan. 

The Federal Pinelands legislation sets forth rigorous goals that the plan 
must meet, including the protection, preservation, and enhancement of the 
land and water resources of the Pinelands. The proposed amendments are 
designed to meet those goals by imposing stringent stormwater 
management requirements on development in the Pinelands Area, which 
will provide greater protection of the Pinelands resources. 

The Federal Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 251 et seq.) regulates 
stormwater runoff and nonpoint source pollution control. The Federal 
Clean Water Act requires permits under Section 402 of that Act (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1342) for certain stormwater discharges. Section 319 of the Clean Water 
Act (33 U.S.C. § 1329) authorizes a Federal grant-in-aid program to 
encourage states to control nonpoint sources. The Commission’s existing 
and proposed rules are designed to control stormwater and minimize 
nonpoint source pollution and are fully consistent with the Federal 
requirements. 

There are no other Federal requirements that apply to the subject matter 
of these amendments. 

Jobs Impact 
The Commission anticipates that this rulemaking will not have any 

significant impact on job creation and retention in New Jersey beyond the 
minimal impacts sited by the DEP at 50 N.J.R. 2375(a). Engineering and 
other professional work will be needed to comply with the stormwater 
management construction and maintenance requirements for minor 
residential and non-residential development in the Pinelands Area, but 



PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1203) 

overall, the Pinelands Commission does not believe that the rulemaking 
will result in a significant impact on jobs. 

Agriculture Industry Impact 
The rulemaking will not impact agricultural uses in the Pinelands Area, 

as agricultural activities are not included in the CMP definitions of major 
and minor development and, thus, not subject to the stormwater 
management requirements. The positive impacts on the environment, such 
as reduced flooding, improved water quality, increased groundwater 
recharge, and increased protection of stream channel integrity, could 
benefit the agricultural industry. 

Regulatory Flexibility Analysis 
In accordance with the New Jersey Regulatory Flexibility Act, N.J.S.A. 

52:14B-16 et seq., the Commission has evaluated whether the proposed 
amendments will impose any reporting, recordkeeping, and other 
compliance requirements on small businesses. Most businesses in the 
Pinelands Area may be characterized as small in size and employment 
compared to the rest of New Jersey. However, the proposed amendments 
do not differentiate by size of business and thus will impact all businesses 
equally. 

Small businesses proposing minor development in the Pinelands Area 
may be required to construct and maintain stormwater management 
measures, albeit to a lesser extent than is required for major development. 
Additional costs may also be incurred from hiring professional 
consultants, such as engineers. Small businesses proposing major 
development will have to comply with the Commission’s more stringent, 
quantitative nitrogen removal standard. 

The impact of the new stormwater management requirements for minor 
and major development is not unique to small businesses; the costs that 
may be incurred by small businesses are the same as to any individual 
person or homeowner undertaking minor or major development, as 
defined in the CMP. 

The Commission has balanced the costs imposed on small businesses 
by the proposed amendments against the environmental benefits to be 
achieved by the new stormwater management requirements and 
determined that it would be inappropriate to exempt small businesses from 
these requirements. As noted above in the Environmental Impact 
statement, the additional, more stringent stormwater management 
requirements being proposed by the Commission will result in the 
infiltration of more stormwater, removal of more pollutants from 
stormwater runoff prior to entering groundwater table, maintenance of 
water levels of the Kirkwood-Cohansey Aquifer, and the further reduction 
of localized flooding in the Pinelands. 

Housing Affordability Impact Analysis 
The Commission does not anticipate this rulemaking will have a 

significant impact on the affordability of housing. Minor residential 
development will be required to retain and infiltrate stormwater runoff 
generated from the roof(s) of the dwellings by installing green 
infrastructure best management practices. In most cases, developers will 
have to install only one or two green infrastructure best management 
practices (BMPs), such as a rain garden and dry well. This requirement is 
not expected to add any significant cost associated with housing or have 
an effect on the affordability of housing. 

Smart Growth Development Impact Analysis 
N.J.S.A. 52:14B-4 requires that proposed amendments be evaluated to 

determine their impacts, if any, on housing production in Planning Areas 
1 or 2, or within designated centers, under the State Development and 
Redevelopment Plan (State Plan). Planning Areas 1 and 2 do not exist in 
the Pinelands Area. Likewise, the State Plan does not designate centers 
within the Pinelands Area. Instead, N.J.S.A. 52:18A-206.a provides that 
the State Plan shall rely on the Pinelands CMP for land use planning in 
the Pinelands. The Commission has evaluated the impact of the proposed 
amendments on Pinelands management areas designated by the CMP that 
are equivalent to Planning Areas 1 and 2 and designated centers, namely, 
the Regional Growth Areas, Pinelands Villages, and Pinelands Towns. 

These three management areas are designated for development by the 
CMP and are equivalent to designated centers under the State Plan. The 
rulemaking will not increase the amount of permitted residential 
development in these management areas and are not expected to result in 

any changes in housing density within designated centers or in any other 
portions of the Pinelands Area. 

There will be no effect on new construction in Planning Areas 1 and 2, 
as designated by the State Development and Redevelopment Plan, as these 
State Planning Areas do not exist in the Pinelands Area. 

Racial and Ethnic Community Criminal Justice and Public Safety 
Impact 

The Commission has evaluated this rulemaking and determined that it 
will not have an impact on pretrial detention, sentencing, probation, or 
parole policies concerning adults and juveniles in the State. Accordingly, 
no further analysis is required. 

Full text of the proposal follows (additions indicated with boldface 
thus; deletions indicated in brackets [thus]): 

SUBCHAPTER 2. INTERPRETATIONS AND DEFINITIONS 

7:50-2.11 Definitions 
When used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings 

ascribed to them. 
. . . 

“HUC-11” or “hydrologic unit code 11” means an area within 
which water drains to a particular receiving surface water body, also 
known as a subwatershed, which is identified by an 11-digit 
hydrologic unit boundary designation, delineated within New Jersey 
by the United States Geological Survey. 

“HUC-14” or “hydrologic unit code 14” means an area within 
which water drains to a particular receiving surface water body, also 
known as a subwatershed, which is identified by a 14-digit hydrologic 
unit boundary designation, delineated within New Jersey by the 
United States Geological Survey. 
. . . 

SUBCHAPTER 3. CERTIFICATION OF COUNTY, MUNICIPAL, 
AND FEDERAL INSTALLATION PLANS 

7:50-3.39 Standards for certification of municipal master plans and 
land use ordinances 

(a) Municipal master plans and land use ordinances, and any parts 
thereof, shall be certified only if: 

1. (No change.) 
2. They include provisions that: 
i.-vii. (No change.) 
viii. Establish and implement a mitigation plan as part of any municipal 

stormwater management plan and ordinance adopted in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.2(c)11 that: 

(1) Identifies those measures necessary to offset the granting of 
[exceptions to] variances from the standards set forth [in] at N.J.A.C. 
7:50-6.84(a)6i through v; 

(2) Specifies that [exceptions to] variances from the standards set 
forth [in] at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.84(a)6i through v will be considered only in 
cases where an applicant is able to demonstrate in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6 that such standards cannot be met on a particular parcel 
[or where the municipality determines that stormwater management 
would more effectively be achieved through alternative measures]; and 

(3) Requires that any [off-site] mitigation measures identified pursuant 
to (a)2viii(1) above occur within the Pinelands Area and within the same 
[drainage area] HUC-14 as the parcel proposed for development, unless 
no such mitigation project is available, in which case the mitigation 
measures shall be located within the Pinelands Area and same HUC-
11 as the parcel proposed for development; and 

[(4) Allows for monetary contributions to be made to the municipality 
in lieu of performing the off-site mitigation measures identified pursuant 
to (a)2viii(1) above, with the amount of any such in-lieu contribution 
being equivalent to the cost of implementing and maintaining the 
stormwater management measures for which an exception is granted; and 

(5) Requires that the municipality expend any contributions collected 
pursuant to (a)2viii(4) above within five years of their receipt; and] 

ix. (No change.) 
3.-13. (No change.) 
(b) (No change.) 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1204) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

SUBCHAPTER 6. MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS AND MINIMUM 
STANDARDS 

7:50-6.84 Minimum standards for point and non-point source 
discharges 

(a) The following point and non-point sources may be permitted in the 
Pinelands: 

1.-5. (No change.) 
6. Surface water runoff in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, 5, and 6, 

[as amended,] except as modified and supplemented [pursuant to the 
following] as follows: 

i. For purposes of this section, the definition of terms adopted by 
the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection at N.J.A.C. 
7:8-1.2 are incorporated herein by reference, unless a term is defined 
differently at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, in which case the definition in this 
chapter shall apply.  

[i.] ii. Runoff rate and volume, runoff quality, and groundwater 
recharge methodologies: 

(1) [Runoff] Stormwater runoff rates and volumes shall be calculated 
in accordance with [the USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service 
(NRCS) Runoff Equation, Runoff Curve Numbers, and Dimensionless Unit 
Hydrograph, as described in the NRCS National Engineering Handbook 
Part 630 - Hydrology and Title 210 - Engineering, 210-3-1 Small Watershed 
Hydrology (WINTR-55) Version 1.0, incorporated herein by reference, as 
amended and supplemented. Information regarding these methodologies is 
available from the Natural Resources Conservation Service website at 
http://www.wsi.nrcs.usda.gov/products/W2Q/H&H/Tools_Models/WinT
r55.html or at Natural Resources Conservation Service, 220 Davidson 
Avenue, Somerset, New Jersey 08873; (732) 537-6040. Alternative 
methods of calculation may be utilized, provided such alternative methods 
are at least as protective as the NRCS methodology when considered on a 
regional stormwater management area basis;] N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.7, except that 
the Rational Method for peak flow and the Modified Rational Method 
for hydrograph computations shall not be used; and 

[(2) Stormwater runoff shall be calculated using NRCS methodology 
by separately calculating and then combining the runoff volumes from 
pervious and directly connected impervious surfaces within each drainage 
area within the parcel; 

(3) Calculations of stormwater runoff from unconnected impervious 
surfaces shall be based, as applicable, upon the Two-Step Method described 
in the New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual 
developed by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 
dated February 2004, incorporated herein by reference, as amended and 
supplemented and available at http://www.njstormwater.org/bmp- 
manual2.htm, or the NRCS methodology; and] 

[(4)] (2) In calculating stormwater runoff using the NRCS methodology, 
the appropriate 24-hour rainfall depths as developed for the parcel by the 
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, https://hdsc.nws.noaa. 
gov/hdsc/pfds/ pfds_map_cont.html?bkmrk=nj, shall be utilized. 
[Information regarding these rainfall data is available from the National 
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) at http://www.hdsc. 
nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/index.html or DOC/NOAA/National Weather 
Service, Office of Hydrologic Development, Hydrometeorological Design 
Studies Center, Bldg. SSMC2 W/OHD13, 1325 East-West Highway, Silver 
Spring, Maryland 20910-3283; (301) 713-1669 extension 154.] 

[ii] iii. Runoff shall meet the requirements [in (a)6ii(4) and (5) below 
and one of (a)6ii(1), (2) or (3)] at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.6 and (a)6iii(1) and (2) 
below: 

[(1) The post-development stormwater runoff hydrographs generated 
from the parcel by a two-year, 10-year and 100-year storm, each of a 24-
hour duration, shall not exceed, at any point in time, the parcel’s pre-
development runoff hydrographs for the same storms; or 

(2) Under post-development site conditions: 
(A) There shall be no increase in pre-development stormwater runoff 

rates from the parcel for the two-year, 10-year and 100-year storm; and 
(B) Any increased stormwater runoff volume or change in stormwater 

runoff timing for the two-year, 10-year and 100-year storms shall not 
increase flood damage at or downstream of the parcel. When performing 
this analysis for the pre-development site conditions, all off-site 
development levels shall reflect existing conditions. When performing 

this analysis for post-development site conditions, all off-site 
development levels shall reflect full development potential in accordance 
with those municipal land use ordinances certified by the Commission 
pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-3; or 

(3) The peak post-development stormwater runoff rates for the parcel 
for the two-year, 10-year and 100-year storms shall be 50, 75 and 80 
percent, respectively, of the parcel’s peak pre-development stormwater 
rates for the same storms. Peak outflow rates from onsite stormwater 
measures for these storms shall be adjusted where necessary to account 
for the discharge of increased stormwater runoff rates and/or volumes 
from areas of the parcel not controlled by onsite measures. These 
percentages need not be applied to those portions of the parcel that are not 
proposed for development at the time an application is submitted to the 
Commission pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4, provided that: 

(A) Such areas have been permanently protected from future 
development by conservation easement, deed restriction, or other 
acceptable legal measures; or 

(B) A deed notice has been filed stating that such areas will be subject 
to the standards of this section at the point in time they are proposed for 
development in the future;] 

[(4)] (1) There shall be no direct discharge of stormwater runoff from 
any point or nonpoint source to any wetland, wetlands transition area, or 
surface waterbody. In addition, stormwater runoff shall not be directed in 
such a way as to increase the volume and rate of discharge into any 
wetlands, wetlands transition area, or surface water body from that 
which existed prior to development of the parcel; and 

[(5)] (2) To the maximum extent practical, there shall be no direct 
discharge of stormwater runoff onto farm fields [so as] to protect farm 
crops from damage due to flooding, erosion, and long-term saturation of 
cultivated crops and cropland. 

[iii.] iv. Recharge standards: 
(1) For all major development[s], as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 

the total runoff volume generated from the net increase in impervious 
surfaces by a 10-year, 24-hour storm shall be retained and infiltrated 
onsite; 

(2) For all minor development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 
that involves the construction of four or fewer dwelling units, the 
runoff generated from the total roof area of the dwelling(s) by a 10-
year, 24-hour storm shall be retained and infiltrated as follows: 

(A) Installation of one or more green infrastructure stormwater 
management measures designed in accordance with the New Jersey 
Stormwater Best Management Practices (BMP) Manual as defined at 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-1, incorporated herein by reference, as amended and 
supplemented, and available at https://www.nj.gov/dep/stormwater/ 
bmp_manual2.htm (hereinafter referred to as “BMP Manual” or 
“New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual”). 
Appropriate green infrastructure stormwater management measures 
include, but are not limited to: 

I Dry wells; 
II Pervious pavement systems; and 
III Small scale bioretention systems, including rain gardens; 
(3) For minor development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, that 

involves any nonresidential use, the following standards shall apply: 
(A) If the proposed development will result in an increase of 1,000 

square feet or more of regulated motor vehicle surfaces as defined at 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-1.2, the stormwater runoff quality standards contained 
at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5 shall apply. The water quality design storm 
volume generated from these surfaces shall be recharged onsite; and 

(B) If the proposed development involves the grading, clearing, or 
disturbance of an area in excess of 5,000 square feet within any five-
year period, the standards for major development set forth at (a)6i 
through ix shall also apply; 

(4) In order to demonstrate compliance with the requirements at 
(a)6iv(2) or (3) above, applications for minor development shall 
include at least the following information: 

(A) A plan, certified by a design engineer, that includes the type 
and location of each green infrastructure stormwater management 
measure and a cross section drawing of each such measure showing 
the associated soil profile, soil permeability test elevation, soil 



PROPOSALS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1205) 

permeability rate, and the elevation of, and vertical separation to, the 
seasonal high water table; 

(B) A design engineer’s certification that each green infrastructure 
stormwater management measure will not adversely impact 
basements or septic systems of the proposed development; 

[(2)] (5) In high pollutant loading areas (HPLA) and areas where 
stormwater runoff is exposed to source material, as defined at N.J.A.C. 
7:8-[5.4(a)2iii(1) and (2)]5.4(b)3i and ii, the following additional water 
quality standards shall apply: 

(A) (No change.) 
(B) The stormwater runoff originating from HPLAs and areas where 

stormwater runoff is exposed to source material shall be segregated and 
prohibited from co-mingling with stormwater runoff originating from the 
remainder of the parcel unless it is first routed through one or more 
stormwater management measures required at (a)6iv(5)(C) below; 

(C) The stormwater runoff from HPLAs and areas where stormwater 
runoff is exposed to source material shall [be subject to pretreatment to 
achieve 90 percent removal of total suspended solids] incorporate 
stormwater management measures designed to reduce the post-
construction load of total suspended solids (TSS) by at least 90 
percent in stormwater runoff generated from the water quality design 
storm established [in] at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.5[(a)](d) [prior to infiltration, 
using: one or more of the following measures, designed in accordance 
with the New Jersey Best Stormwater Management Practices Manual 
developed by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 
dated February 2004, incorporated herein by reference, as amended and 
supplemented] using one or more of the measures identified at 
(a)6iv(5)(C)I and II below. In meeting this requirement, the minimum 
90 percent removal of total suspended solids may be achieved by 
utilizing multiple stormwater management measures in series: 

[(I) Bioretention system; 
(II) Sand filter; 
(III) Wet ponds, which shall be hydraulically disconnected by a 

minimum of two feet of vertical separation from the seasonal high water 
table and shall be designed to achieve a minimum 80 percent removal of 
total suspended solids; 

(IV) Constructed stormwater wetland; and] 
I Any measure designed in accordance with the New Jersey 

Stormwater Best Management Practices Manual to remove total 
suspended solids. Any such measure must be constructed to ensure 
that the lowest point of infiltration within the measure maintains a 
minimum of two feet of vertical separation from the seasonal high-
water table; and 

[(V)] II (No change in text.) 
(D) If the potential for contamination of stormwater runoff by 

petroleum products exists onsite, prior to being conveyed to the 
[pretreatment facility] stormwater management measure required [in 
(a)6iii(2)(C)] at (a)6iv(5)(C) above, the stormwater runoff from the 
HPLAs and areas where stormwater runoff is exposed to source material 
shall be conveyed through an oil/grease separator or other equivalent 
manufactured filtering device providing for the removal of petroleum 
hydrocarbons. 

(6) For all major development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, 
stormwater management measures shall be designed to achieve a 
minimum of 65 percent reduction of the post-construction total 
nitrogen load from the developed site, including permanent lawn or 
turf areas that are specifically intended for active human use as 
described at N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.24(c)3, in stormwater runoff generated 
from the water quality design storm. In achieving a minimum 65 
percent reduction of total nitrogen, the design of the site shall include 
green infrastructure in accordance with the BMP Manual and shall 
optimize nutrient removal. The minimum 65 percent total nitrogen 
reduction may be achieved by using a singular stormwater 
management measure or multiple stormwater management measures 
in series. 

[iv.] v. [Infiltration basin] Stormwater management measure design, 
siting, and construction standards: 

(1) Stormwater [infiltration facilities] management measures 
designed to infiltrate stormwater shall be designed, constructed, and 
maintained to provide a minimum separation of at least two feet between 

the elevation of the lowest point of [the bottom of the] infiltration [facility] 
and the seasonal high water table; 

(2) Stormwater [infiltration facilities] management measures 
designed to infiltrate stormwater shall be sited in suitable soils verified 
by [field] testing to have permeability rates between one and 20 inches per 
hour. A factor of safety of two shall be applied to the soil’s [field-tested] 
permeability rate in determining the infiltration [facility’s] measure’s 
design permeability rate. If such soils do not exist on the parcel proposed 
for development or if it is demonstrated that it is not practical for 
engineering, environmental, or safety reasons to site the stormwater 
infiltration [basin] measure(s) in such soils, the stormwater infiltration 
[basin] measure(s) may be sited in soils verified by [field] testing to have 
permeability rates in excess of 20 inches per hour, provided that 
stormwater is routed through a bioretention system prior to infiltration. 
Said bioretention system shall be designed, installed, and maintained in 
accordance with the New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices 
Manual [developed by the New Jersey Department of Environmental 
Protection, dated February 2004, incorporated herein by reference, as 
amended and supplemented]; 

(3) [Groundwater] For all major development, as defined at 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, groundwater mounding analysis shall be required 
for purposes of assessing the hydraulic impacts of mounding of the water 
table resulting from infiltration of stormwater runoff from the maximum 
storm designed for infiltration. The mounding analysis shall provide 
details and supporting documentation on the methodology used. 
Groundwater mounds shall not cause stormwater or groundwater to 
breakout to the land surface or cause adverse impacts to adjacent water 
bodies, wetlands, or subsurface structures, including, but not limited to, 
basements and septic systems. Where the mounding analysis identifies 
adverse impacts, the [infiltration facility] stormwater management 
measure shall be redesigned or relocated, as appropriate; 

(4) [To the maximum extent practical, stormwater management 
measures on a parcel shall be designed to limit site disturbance, maximize 
stormwater management efficiencies, maintain or improve aesthetic 
conditions and incorporate pretreatment as a means of extending the 
functional life and increasing the pollutant removal capability of structural 
stormwater management facilities.] The use of stormwater management 
measures that are smaller in size and distributed spatially throughout a 
parcel, rather than the use of a single, larger [structural] stormwater 
management measure shall be required [to the maximum extent practical]; 

(5) Methods of treating stormwater prior to entering any 
stormwater management measure shall be incorporated into the 
design of the stormwater management measure to the maximum 
extent practical; 

[(5)] (6) To avoid sedimentation that may result in clogging and 
reduction of infiltration capability and to maintain maximum soil 
infiltration capacity, the construction of stormwater management 
measures that rely upon infiltration [basins] shall be managed in 
accordance with the following standards: 

(A) No stormwater [infiltration basin] management measure shall be 
placed into operation until its drainage area has been completely 
stabilized. Instead, upstream runoff shall be diverted around the [basin] 
measure and into separate, temporary stormwater management facilities 
and sediment basins. Such temporary facilities and basins shall be 
installed and utilized for stormwater management and sediment control 
until stabilization is achieved in accordance with N.J.A.C. 2:90, Standards 
for Soil Erosion and Sediment Control in New Jersey; 

(B) If, for engineering, environmental, or safety reasons, temporary 
stormwater management facilities and sediment basins cannot be 
constructed on the parcel in accordance with [(a)6iv(5)(A)] (a)6v(6)(A) 
above, the stormwater [infiltration basin] management measure may be 
placed into operation prior to the complete stabilization of its drainage 
area provided that the [basin’s] measure’s bottom during this period is 
constructed at a depth at least two feet higher than its final design 
elevation. When the drainage area has been completely stabilized, all 
accumulated sediment shall be removed from the [infiltration basin] 
stormwater management measure, which shall then be excavated to its 
final design elevation; and 

(C) To avoid compacting [an infiltration basin’s subgrade soils,] the 
soils below a stormwater management measure designed to infiltrate 



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION PROPOSALS                 

(CITE 53 N.J.R. 1206) NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021  

stormwater, no heavy equipment, such as backhoes, dump trucks, or 
bulldozers shall be permitted to operate within the footprint of the 
stormwater [infiltration basin] management measure. All excavation 
required to construct a stormwater [infiltration basin] management 
measure that relies on infiltration shall be performed by equipment 
placed outside the [basin] footprint of the stormwater management 
measure. If this is not possible, the soils within the excavated area shall 
be renovated and tilled after construction is completed. Earthwork 
associated with stormwater [infiltration basin] management measure 
construction, including excavation, grading, cutting, or filling, shall not 
be performed when soil moisture content is above the lower plastic limit; 
and 

(7) Dry wells shall be designed to prevent access by amphibian and 
reptiles. 

[v.] vi. As-built requirements for major development, as defined at 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11: 

(1) After all construction activities have been completed on the parcel 
and finished grade has been established in [the infiltration basin] each 
stormwater management measure designed to infiltrate stormwater, 
replicate post-development [field] permeability tests shall be conducted to 
determine if as-built soil permeability rates are consistent with design 
permeability rates. The results of such tests shall be submitted to the 
municipal engineer or other appropriate reviewing engineer. If the 
results of the post-development [field] permeability tests fail to achieve 
the minimum required design permeability rate, utilizing a factor of safety 
of two, the [infiltration basin] stormwater management measure shall 
be renovated and re-tested until [such minimum] the required 
permeability rates are achieved; and 

(2) After all construction activities and required [field] testing have 
been completed on the parcel, as-built plans, including as-built elevations 
of all stormwater management measures shall be submitted to the 
municipal engineer or other appropriate reviewing engineer to serve 
as a document of record. Based upon that [the municipal] engineer’s 
review of the as-built plans, all corrections or remedial actions deemed 
[by the municipal engineer to be] necessary due to the failure to comply 
with design standards and/or for any reason concerning public health or 
safety, shall be completed by the applicant. In lieu of review by the 
municipal engineer, the municipality may engage a licensed professional 
engineer to review the as-built plans and charge the applicant for all costs 
associated with such review. 

[vi.] vii. Exceptions: 
[(1) The standards set forth in (a)6i through v above shall not apply to 

minor residential development, provided such development does not 
involve the construction of any new roads, or to minor non-residential 
development, provided such development does not involve the grading, 
clearing or disturbance of an area in excess of 5,000 square feet within 
any five-year period; 

(2) The use of nonstructural strategies in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:8-
5.3 shall not be required for development which would create less than 
one acre of disturbance; 

(3) Provided an applicant for major development pursuant to N.J.A.C. 
7:50-4.31 through 4.50 is able to demonstrate that the standards set forth 
in (a)6i through v above cannot be met on the parcel proposed for 
development or that stormwater management would more effectively be 
achieved through alternative measures, strict compliance with said 
standards may be waived at the discretion of the municipality in which the 
proposed development is located, provided the municipal stormwater 
management plan certified by the Commission pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-
3 specifies the circumstances under which such alternative measures 
would be appropriate and identifies those parcels or projects elsewhere in 
the Pinelands Area where any off-site mitigation would be permitted to 
occur; 

(4) Provided an applicant for major public development pursuant to 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.51 through 4.60 is able to demonstrate that the standards 
set forth in (a)6i through v above cannot be met on the parcel proposed 
for development or that stormwater management would more effectively 
be achieved through alternative measures, an exception may be granted at 
the discretion of the Commission, provided any such measures occur 
within the Pinelands Area and within the same drainage area as the parcel 
proposed for development and are sufficient to offset the granting of the 

exception. The proposed alternative measures must be consistent with the 
stormwater management plan certified by the Commission pursuant to 
N.J.A.C. 7:50-3 for the municipality in which the proposed development 
is located, unless said stormwater plan does not provide for appropriate 
mitigation for the particular exception being granted or identify 
appropriate parcels or projects where off-site mitigation may occur; and] 

(1) For applications submitted pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.31 
through 4.50, a municipality may grant a variance in accordance with 
N.J.A.C. 7:8-4.6, as amended, from the on-site design and 
performance standards for green infrastructure, the standards for 
groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quality, and stormwater 
runoff quality at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.3, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6, and the on-site 
recharge standards set forth at (a)6iv above, provided that: 

(A) All mitigation projects shall be located in the Pinelands Area 
and in the same HUC-14 as the parcel proposed for development. If 
the applicant demonstrates that no such mitigation project is 
available, the municipality may approve a variance that provides for 
mitigation within the same HUC-11 as the parcel proposed for 
development, provided the mitigation project is located in the 
Pinelands Area; 

(B) The proposed mitigation project shall be consistent with the 
stormwater management plan certified by the Commission pursuant 
to N.J.A.C. 7:50-3 for the municipality in which the parcel proposed 
for development is located, unless said stormwater plan does not 
identify appropriate parcels or projects where mitigation may occur; 
and 

(C) Any variance from the on-site recharge standards set forth at 
(a)6iv above shall require that the total volume of stormwater 
infiltrated by the mitigation project equals or exceeds the volume 
required at (a)6iv above. 

(2) For applications submitted pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.51 
through 4.60, the Commission may grant an exception in accordance 
with the standards described at N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.6, as amended, from 
the on-site design and performance standards for green 
infrastructure, groundwater recharge, stormwater runoff quality, 
and stormwater runoff quality at N.J.A.C. 7:8-5.3, 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6 
and on-site recharge standards set forth at (a)6iv above, provided the 
conditions set forth at (a)6iv(1) above are met. 

[(5)] (3) Unless specifically included [in (a)6vi(1) through (4)] at 
(a)6iv(1) and (2) above, the exemptions, exceptions, applicability 
standards, and waivers of strict compliance for stormwater management 
described [in] at N.J.A.C. 7:8 shall not apply. 

(4) No variances or exceptions shall be granted from (a)6iii(1) 
above, which prohibits the direct discharge of stormwater runoff to 
any wetlands, wetlands transition area, or surface waterbody and the 
direction of stormwater runoff in such a way as to increase in volume 
and rate of discharge into any wetlands, wetlands transition area, or 
surface water body from that which existed prior to development of 
the parcel. 

[vii.] viii. Maintenance standards: 
(1) For all major development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, the 

following standards shall apply: 
[(1)] (A) Maintenance plans shall be required pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:8-

5.8 and shall be supplemented [so as] to include reporting of inspection 
and repair activities. Said plans shall include accurate and comprehensive 
drawings of all stormwater management measures on a parcel, including 
the specific latitude and longitude and block/lot number of each 
stormwater management measure. Maintenance plans shall specify that an 
inspection, maintenance, and repair report will be updated and submitted 
annually to the municipality; 

[(2)] (B) (No change in text.) 
[(3)] (C) An adequate means of ensuring permanent financing of the 

inspection, maintenance, repair, and replacement plan shall be 
implemented and shall be detailed in the maintenance plan. Financing 
methods shall include, but not be limited to[.]: 

[(A)] I The assumption of the inspection and maintenance program by 
a municipality, county, public utility, or homeowners association; 

[(B)] II (No change in text) 



PROPOSALS HIGHER EDUCATION            

 NEW JERSEY REGISTER, MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 (CITE 53 N.J.R. 1207) 

(2) For all minor development, as defined at N.J.A.C. 7:50-2.11, the 
following standards shall apply: 

(A) Maintenance plans shall be required for all stormwater 
management measures installed in accordance with (a)6iv(2) and (3) 
above. The BMP Manual may be utilized as a guide for developing 
maintenance plans that shall include, at a minimum: 

I A copy of the certified plan required pursuant to (a)6iv(4) above; 
II A description of the required maintenance activities for each 

stormwater management measure; and 
III The frequency of each required maintenance activity; and 
(B) Responsibility for maintenance of stormwater management 

measures may be assigned or transferred to the owner or tenant of 
the parcel. 

[viii.] ix. Unless specifically mandated pursuant to (a)6i through [vii] 
viii above, the New Jersey Stormwater Best Management Practices 
Manual [developed by the New Jersey Department of Environmental 
Protection, dated February 2004, as amended,] may be utilized as a guide 
in determining the extent to which stormwater management activities and 
measures meet the standards of (a)6i through [vii] viii above.  

__________ 

HIGHER EDUCATION 

(a) 
SECRETARY OF HIGHER EDUCATION 
Rules and Procedures for Implementation of the 

Higher Education Capital Improvement Fund Act 
Proposed Readoption with Amendments: N.J.A.C. 

9A:12 
Proposed New Rule: N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.8 
Authorized By: Dr. Brian K. Bridges, Secretary of Higher 

Education. 
Authority: N.J.S.A. 18A:72A-1 et seq., and P.L. 2012, c. 42. 
Calendar Reference: See Summary below for explanation of 

exception to calendar requirement. 
Proposal Number: PRN 2021-065. 

Submit written comments by September 17, 2021, to: 
Eric Taylor, Esq. 
Director, Office of Licensure 
Office of the Secretary of Higher Education 
1 John Fitch Plaza, 10th Floor 
PO Box 542 
Trenton, NJ 08625-0542 
Email: eric.taylor@oshe.nj.gov 

The agency proposal follows: 
Summary 

Enacted in September 1999, the Higher Education Capital 
Improvement Fund Act, N.J.S.A. 18A:72A-72 et seq., and P.L. 1999, c. 
217, (Act) established the $550 million Higher Education Capital 
Improvement Fund (“capital improvement fund” or “improvement fund”) 
in the New Jersey Educational Facilities Authority (Authority). Grants 
from the capital improvement fund assist New Jersey four-year public and 
private colleges and universities in addressing deferred maintenance and 
other capital needs on their campuses. 

The primary purpose of the capital improvement fund is to finance the 
repair of academic (that is, instructional, laboratory, communications, or 
research) and administrative facilities. The Act also provides for 
alternative uses of fund moneys under certain circumstances, such as 
replacing a building when to do so is less costly than repairing it, and 
improving, expanding, constructing, or reconstructing academic facilities 
or technology infrastructure if the institution’s Federal grant recoveries 
will be maximized or if deferred maintenance is otherwise not covered. A 
2002 amendment to the Act allows up to 20 percent of a grant to be used 
in student support facilities for deferred maintenance or for improvement, 
expansion, construction, or reconstruction. More recent amendments to 

the Act, in 2012, (Amending Act) reflect the replacement of the 
Commission on Higher Education with the Secretary of Higher Education 
(Secretary) as the State entity statutorily responsible for the coordination 
and planning of higher education in New Jersey. The Act provides for the 
issuance of bonds by the Authority with a maximum amount outstanding 
at any one time not to exceed $550 million. As bonds are paid off, new 
bonding capacity is created. The Secretary of Higher Education in 
consultation with the Authority, promulgates the implementing rules that 
specify approval processes for institutional projects supported by the 
capital improvement fund and ensures that the moneys are distributed 
consistent with the intent of the Act. Grants were approved for the 
allocations of the initial $550 million of bonds. Some of the bonds have 
now been paid off, thereby resulting in the ability to issue additional bonds 
to fund new projects. The issuance of additional bonds is subject to the 
approval of the State Treasurer. 

Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 52:14B-5.1.c, the rules governing the capital 
improvement fund grants were scheduled to expire on May 6, 2020. 
Pursuant to Executive Order No. 127 (2020) and P.L. 2021, c. 104, any 
chapter of the New Jersey Administrative Code that would otherwise have 
expired during the Public Health Emergency originally declared in 
Executive Order No. 103 (2020) was extended through January 1, 2022. 
Therefore, this chapter has not yet expired and is extended 180 days from 
the later of the existing expiration date or the date of publication of this 
notice of proposed readoption, whichever is later, which date is January 
15, 2022, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 52:14B-5.1.c, Executive Order No. 244 
(2021), and P.L. 2021, c. 104. 

The Secretary of Higher Education is proposing to readopt these rules 
with amendments and a new rule to provide for the allocation of moneys 
available if the State Treasurer authorizes new bonds as a result of the 
retirement of bonds previously issued by the Authority. For this 
rulemaking, an administrative review was conducted by the Secretary 
along with an extensive consultation with the Authority; this process 
resulted in suggested revisions to the current capital improvement fund 
rules. 

As the Secretary has provided a 60-day comment period on this notice 
of the proposal, this notice is excepted from the rulemaking calendar 
requirements, pursuant to N.J.A.C. 1:30-3.3(a)5. The rules proposed for 
readoption with amendments and a new rule are organized in seven 
sections, as follows. 

N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.1 sets forth that the rules implement the Act and 
establishes that the rules have been adopted to provide the mechanism by 
which eligible institutions may apply for and receive grants from the 
capital improvement fund. It is proposed that this section be updated to 
incorporate a cross-reference to the most recent legislative update to the 
Act. 

N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.2 provides definitions for the terms used in the rules 
proposed for readoption with amendments and a new rule and includes a 
cross-reference to the definitions section of the Act and the Amending 
Act. The proposed amendments would edit the definition of “technology 
infrastructure” to reflect current terminology, inserting the word 
“networking” to replace “linkages.” The words “transport services and 
network interconnections, as well as” are proposed for deletion to simplify 
the language. 

N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.3 sets forth the eligibility requirements for the grant 
program. Similarly, at N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.3(e)4, the additions of the 
numerical values of “(1/3)” and “(1/2)” are proposed in the clause 
regarding debt service. 

N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.4 delineates the grant application process, including 
the required contents of applications. The Secretary proposes to add 
N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.4(a)15 and 16. New paragraph (a)15 states that “any 
information regarding the prioritization of deferred maintenance projects, 
including those supported by a review done by an outside facilities data 
analytics and planning company” and paragraph (a)16 to state 
“documentation supporting the energy efficiency of the proposed project, 
including manufacturer information or engineer reports.” 

N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.5 contains the application review and approval 
process, including the criteria the Secretary will use in reviewing 
applications for grants from the capital improvement fund. Amendments 
at N.J.A.C. 9A:12-1.5(b) are designed to realign the objectives of the 
capital improvement fund with the original intent of the statute, as well as 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-21-    
 

 
TITLE: Scheduling Regular Pinelands Commission Meeting dates for 2022 
 

 
 

Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Open Public Meetings Act requires that the Pinelands Commission 
establish an annual schedule of regular meetings prior to January 10th of each year; and 
 
WHEREAS, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is anticipated that the Pinelands 
Commission will continue to hold its regular monthly meetings and committee meetings 
virtually through Zoom; and 
 
WHEREAS, the public can livestream these meetings through the Commission’s 
YouTube channel and can provide comment during the public comment portion of the 
meetings by dialing the phone number and entering the code displayed on the YouTube 
screen during each meeting. The number and code are also provided on each meeting 
agenda, which is posted on the Commission’s website (www.nj.gov/pinelands/ ) in 
advance of the meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, when it is safe to do so, the Pinelands Commission will resume in-person 
meetings and will use the Richard J. Sullivan Center for Environmental Policy and 
Education in New Lisbon, Pemberton Township, as the regular site for all such meetings; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, any meeting scheduled to be held in-person at the Richard J. Sullivan Center or at 
another alternate, temporary meeting place, rather than virtually through Zoom, will be advertised 
at least 48 hours in advance in accordance with the requirements of the Open Public Meetings 
Act; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission 
shall have force or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays 
excepted, after a copy of the minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been 
delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to expiration of the review period the 
Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become effective upon such 
approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Pinelands Commission shall 
conduct its meetings on the following dates in 2022, beginning at the specified time, 
unless notice is otherwise provided in accordance with the Open Public Meetings Act: 
 
Friday, January 14, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, February 11, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, March 11, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, April 8, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, May 13, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, June 10, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 

Friday, July 8, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, August 12, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, September 9, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, October 14, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Thursday, November 10, 2022 (9:30 a.m.) 
Friday, December 9, 2022 (9:30 a.m.)

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/


 2 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Acting Executive Director is directed to 
publish notice of this schedule in the Commission's official newspapers, file copies of the 
schedule with the Secretary of State of the State of New Jersey and Pinelands county and 
municipal clerks, post a copy of the notice in the Commission's offices and post the 
annual schedule on the Commission’s website (www.nj.gov/pinelands). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery     Jannarone     Quinn     
Christy     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Higginbotham     Lohbauer     Prickett     
Irick     Pikolycky          

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:     

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 
 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands


Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Avery     Jannarone     Quinn     
Christy     Lloyd     Rohan Green     
Higginbotham     Lohbauer     Prickett     
Irick     Pikolycky          

 *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission Date:                 

 
   

Susan R. Grogan  Richard Prickett 
Acting Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-21-    
 

 
TITLE: To Accept the Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report 
 

 
Commissioner     moves and Commissioner     
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, the audit of the Pinelands Commission’s Fiscal Year 2020 Financial Statements, Notes to 
the Financial Statements and Schedules of Federal and State Assistance was performed by the Office of 
the State Auditor; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report was issued on November 24, 2021; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report contains no Audit Findings or Questioned Costs; and  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Pinelands Commission hereby accepts the Audit 
Report for Fiscal Year 2020 and directs that it be included as a publication available through the 
Pinelands Commission’s website. 
 
 



  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  
  

Pinelands Commission 
 
 

Fiscal Year 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

David J. Kaschak 
State Auditor 





 

 
  

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
  
 Independent Auditor’s Report ........................................................................................1 
 

Financial Statements 
  Combined Balance Sheet – All Fund Types and Account Groups ..........................5 

 Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
  Changes in Fund Balances – All Governmental 

   and Fiduciary Fund Types .................................................................................6 
 Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
  Changes in Fund Balances – General and Special Revenue 

   Fund Types, Budget and Actual – Budgetary Basis ..........................................7 
  Notes to the Financial Statements ............................................................................8 

 
Required Supplementary Information 
 Schedule of the Commission’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension 

  Liability, Public Employees’ Retirement System – Local  ..............................33 
Schedule of the Commission’s Contributions – Public Employees’ 

Retirement System – Local…………..…………..…………..………………34 
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and the 

Commission’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB 
Liability – State Health Benefit Retired Employees’ OPEB Plan……………35 

Schedule of the Commission’s Contributions – State Health Benefit 
Retired Employees’ OPEB Plan……………………………………………...36 

 
Supplementary Information Other Information 

 Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance .......................................38 
 Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance ...................39 

 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
 and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
 in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ...........................................41 
  
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program; Report on Internal  
 Control over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of  
 State Financial Assistance Required by New Jersey Department of the  
 Treasury Circular No. 15-08-OMB ........................................................................44 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned C 
Summary Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ................................................47 
 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings and Questioned Costs .............................49 

 
Auditee Response............................................... The commission chose not to respond.  

 





 

 
   Page 2 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the Pinelands Commission prepares its financial statements on a 
modified accrual basis, which is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Opinion  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective modified accrual basis financial position of the Pinelands Commission as of June 
30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position, and budgetary comparisons for the 
General Fund and the Special Revenue Funds for the year then ended in accordance with the 
modified accrual basis of accounting described in Note 1. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting, which is a 
basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
   Page 3 

Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and the schedules listed under Required Supplementary 

Information in the accompanying table of contents be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with evidence 
sufficient to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial 
statements is not affected by this missing information. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Pinelands Commission’s 
financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance is presented for 
the purpose of additional analysis as required by New Jersey Department of the Treasury 
Circular No. 15-08-OMB and is not a required part of the financial statements. 
 
The schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of state financial 
assistance is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole. 
 
 





 

 
   Page 5 

FIDUCIARY
FUND TYPE

SPECIAL PRIVATE GENERAL
GENERAL REVENUE PURPOSE GENERAL LONG-TERM TOTAL

FUND FUNDS TRUST FUNDS FIXED ASSETS DEBT (Memorandum Only)
ASSETS
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 2,778,715$  8,419,972$ -$                  -$                 -$              11,198,687$            
  Receivables:  
    Federal 177,613       -                  -                    -                   -                177,613                   
    Other -                          
Prepaid Expenses -                          
  General Fixed Assets:
    Furniture & Equipment -                  -                  -                    1,120,017     -                1,120,017                
    Vehicles -                  -                  -                    110,720        -                110,720                   
  Amount to be Provided for 
  Retirement of Long-Term Liabilities -                  -                  -                    -                   410,906    410,906                   
  Due from Other Funds 469,957       -                  -                    -                   -                469,957                   
  Restricted Cash & Cash Equivalents 29,680         -                  48,806           -                   -                78,486                     
        Total Assets 3,455,965$  8,419,972$ 48,806$         1,230,737$   410,906$  13,566,386$            
LIABILITIES & FUND EQUITY
 Liabilities:  
  Accounts Payable 703,216$     41,387$      -$                  -$                 -$              744,603$                 
  Salaries Payable 82,379         -                  -                    -                   -                82,379                     
  Payroll Deductions Payable 63,375         -                  -                    -                   -                63,375                     
  Compensated Absences 88,910         -                  -                    -                   410,906    499,816                   
  Deferred Revenue 29,600         1,759,200   -                    -                   -                1,788,800                
  Due to State of New Jersey 255              -                  -                    -                   -                255                          
  Due to Other Funds -                  448,009      21,948           -                   -                469,957                   
    Total Liabilities 967,735$     2,248,596$ 21,948$         -$                 410,906$  3,649,185$              
 Fund Equity:
  Restricted For:
        Unemployment Compensation -$                -$                3,586$           -$                 -$              3,586$                     
        Katie Fund -                  -                  8,272             -                   -                8,272                       
        Timber Rattlesnake Study 6,675           -                  -                    -                   -                6,675                       
        Rattlesnake Fencing 21,749         -                  -                    -                   -                21,749                     
  Committed To:
        Pinelands Conservation -                  5,249,047   -                    -                   -                5,249,047                
        Kirkwood-Cohansey Study -                  29,185        -                    -                   -                29,185                     
        Encumbrances 289,787       -                  -                    -                   -                289,787                   
        Retirees' Health Benefits 799,155       -                  -                    -                   -                799,155                   
        Microfilming Project -                  -                  -                    -                   -                -                              
        Building Improvements -                  -                  -                    -                   -                -                              
        Vehicle Replacements -                  -                  -                    -                   -                -                              
        Computer Replacements -                  -                  -                    -                   -                -                              
        Other -                  -                  -                    -                   -                -                              
        Investment in General Fixed Assets -                  -                  -                    1,230,737     -                1,230,737                
  Assigned To: -                -                              
        Subsequent Years Expenditures -                  814,397      15,000           -                   -                829,397                   
        Other -                  78,747        -                    -                   -                78,747                     
  Unassigned Fund Balance: 1,370,864    -                  -                    -                   -                1,370,864                
    Total Fund Equity 2,488,230$  6,171,376$ 26,858$         1,230,737$   -$              9,917,201$              
Total Liabilities & Fund Equity 3,455,965$  8,419,972$ 48,806$         1,230,737$   410,906$  13,566,386$            

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this Statement.

PINELANDS COMMISSION
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

ALL FUND TYPES AND ACCOUNT GROUPS
 JUNE 30, 2020

GOVERNMENTAL
FUND TYPES ACCOUNT GROUPS

 
  



 

 
   Page 6 

FIDUCIARY
FUND TYPE

SPECIAL PRIVATE
GENERAL REVENUE PURPOSE TOTAL

FUND FUNDS TRUST FUNDS (Memorandum Only)
REVENUES

State of New Jersey Appropriations 2,949,000$       -$                     -$                       2,949,000$                   
Fringe Benefits Paid by the State 687,000            -                       -                         687,000                        
Federal Grants 456,470            -                       -                         456,470                        
State Grants -                        500,000            -                         500,000                        
Other Grants -                        -                       -                         -                                
Interest Income 57,962              131,902            793                    190,657                        
Unemployment Deductions -                        -                       419                    419                               
Application Fees 379,398            -                       -                         379,398                        
Other    69,416              -                       58                      69,474                          

Total Revenues 4,599,246$       631,902$          1,270$               5,232,418$                   
EXPENDITURES
Current:

Personnel 4,175,454$       596,900$          -$                       4,772,354$                   
Supplies 64,791              20,101              -                         84,892                          
Services 542,256            75,565              -                         617,821                        
Maintenance & Rent 22,559              -                       -                         22,559                          

Capital Outlay 28,682              4,083                -                         32,765                          
State Aid & Grants -                        25,000              -                         25,000                          
Land Acquisition -                        -                         -                                

Total Expenditures 4,833,742$       721,649$          -$                       5,555,391$                   
Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (234,496)$         (89,747)$          1,270$               (322,973)$                     
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/USES

Uncollectible Receivables -$                      -$                     -$                       -$                              
Operating Transfers Out -                        (60,000)            -                         (60,000)                         
Operating Transfers In 60,000              -                       -                         60,000                          

Total Other Financing Sources/Uses 60,000$            (60,000)$          -$                       -$                                  
Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenues and Other Sources

over Expenditures & Other Uses (174,496)$         (149,747)$        1,270$               (322,973)$                     
Fund Balance - Beginning of the Year 2,662,726         6,321,123         25,588               9,009,437                     
Fund Balance - End of the Year 2,488,230$       6,171,376$       26,858$             8,686,464$                   

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this Statement.

PINELANDS COMMISSION
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

ALL GOVERNMENTAL AND FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

GOVERNMENTAL
FUND TYPES

 
  



 

 
   Page 7 

VARIANCE VARIANCE
ADOPTED FINAL FAVORABLE/ ADOPTED FINAL FAVORABLE/
BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE) BUDGET BUDGET ACTUAL (UNFAVORABLE)

REVENUES
State of New Jersey Appropriations 2,949,000$      2,949,000$      2,949,000$      -$                       -$                -$                -$                  -$                       
State Supplemental Appropriations -                 -                 -                 -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         
Fringe Benefits Paid by the State 687,000          687,000          687,000          -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         
Federal Grants 483,000          483,000          456,470          (26,530)                   -                 -                 -                    -                         
State Grants -                    -                    -                    -                         500,000       500,000       500,000          -                         
Other Grants -                    -                    -                    -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         
Interest Income 50,000            50,000            57,962            7,962                      120,255       120,255       131,902          11,647                    
Application Fees 690,000          690,000          379,398          (310,602)                 -                 -                 -                    -                         
Anticipated from Reserves 142,070          142,070          120,000          (22,070)                   -                 -                 -                    -                         
Fund Balance Anticipated 849,964          849,964          849,964          -                         68,000         68,000         -                    (68,000)                   
Pinelands Conservation Activities Reserves -                    -                    -                    -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         
Other  4,040              4,040              69,416            65,376                    -                 -                 -                    -                         

Total Revenues 5,855,074$      5,855,074$      5,569,210$      (285,864)$                688,255$      688,255$      631,902$        (56,353)$                 
EXPENDITURES
Current:

Personnel 4,917,580$      4,917,580$      4,175,454$      742,126$                 568,324$      568,324$      596,900$        (28,576)$                 
Supplies 103,033          103,033          64,791            38,242                    19,372         19,372         20,101            (729)                       
Services 762,341          762,341          485,854          276,487                   40,559         40,559         59,259            (18,700)                   
Maintenance & Rent 81,520            81,520            22,559            58,961                    -                 -                 -                    -                         

Capital Outlay 50,600            50,600            40,743            9,857                      -                 -                 4,083              (4,083)                     
Land Acquisition -                    -                    -                    -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         

Total Expenditures 5,915,074$      5,915,074$      4,789,401$      1,125,673$              628,255$      628,255$      680,343$        (52,088)$                 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/USES

Uncollectible Receivables -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                       -$                -$                -$                  -$                       
Operating Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    -                         (60,000)        (60,000)        (60,000)           -                         
Operating Transfers In 60,000            60,000            60,000            -                         -                 -                 -                    -                         

Total Other Financing Sources/Uses 60,000$          60,000$          60,000$          -$                       (60,000)$      (60,000)$      (60,000)$         -$                       
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Fund Balances -$                  -$                  839,809$        839,809$                 -$                -$                (108,441)$       (108,441)$                

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this Statement.

PINELANDS COMMISSION
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GENERAL AND SPECIAL REVENUE FUND TYPES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY BASIS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

GENERAL FUND SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

 
  



 

 
   Page 8 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
Note 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Description of the Reporting Entity – The Pinelands Commission (Commission) 
was formed in 1979 by the Pinelands Protection Act. The Commission is charged 
with the development and implementation of the Comprehensive Management 
Plan for the Pinelands. It plays significant roles in monitoring the level and types 
of development that occur within the Pinelands including, but not limited to, 
acquisition of land, planning, zoning, permitting, research, and education. The 
Commission consists of 15 members. Seven are appointed by the Governor of New 
Jersey. Another seven are appointed by each of the counties within the Pinelands, 
i.e., Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, and Ocean. 
One member is appointed by the U.S. Secretary of the Interior. The Commission 
works closely with all levels of government, organizations, and interested citizens 
to help them understand and implement the Pinelands Comprehensive Management 
Plan. 
 
The primary criterion for including activities within the Commission's reporting 
entity, as set forth in Section 2100 of the GASB Codification of Governmental 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, is the degree of oversight 
responsibility maintained by the Commission. Oversight responsibility includes 
financial interdependency, selection of governing authority, designation of 
management, ability to significantly influence operations, and accountability for 
fiscal matters. The combined financial statements include all funds and account 
groups of the Commission over which the board exercises operating control. There 
were no additional entities required to be included in the reporting entity under 
the criterion as described above, in the current fiscal year. 
 
Basis of Presentation – The financial statements are prepared on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The more significant 
of the Commission's accounting policies are described in this note. 
 
The accounts of the Commission are organized on the basis of funds and account 
groups, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations 
of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or expenses, 
as appropriate. Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in 
individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the 
means by which spending activities are controlled. An account group, on the other 
hand, is a financial reporting device designed to provide accountability for certain 
assets and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do not 
directly affect net expendable available financial resources. 



 

 
   Page 9 

The various funds and accounts are grouped into three fund types within two broad 
fund categories and two account groups as follows: 

 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Commission. 
It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted 
for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds – The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for 
the proceeds of specific revenues, other than trusts, that are legally restricted to 
expenditures for specified purposes. The Commission utilizes the following three 
special revenue funds: 
 

Pinelands Development Credit Fund –  This fund is used to account for 
appropriations from the State of New Jersey that are restricted to purchasing 
Pinelands Development Credits through the Pinelands Development Credit Bank. 
 
Kirkwood-Cohansey Study Fund – This fund is used to account for monies 
transferred to the Commission from the “Water Supply Fund” by the State of 
New Jersey to fund the completion of a report on the assessment on how the 
future and current water supply needs within the Pinelands area may be met 
while protecting the Kirkwood-Cohansey aquifer system. 
 
Pinelands Conservation Fund – The Commission has reserved a portion of this 
fund to be used for preservation of land and designated other portions to be 
used for conservation planning/research and for community planning/design. 

 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
 

Private Purpose Trust Funds – The Private Purpose Trust Funds are used to 
account for assets held by the Commission in a trustee capacity or as an agent on 
behalf of others. These include two Private Purpose Trust Funds, the 
Unemployment Compensation Insurance Fund, and the “Katie Fund”. Private 
Purpose Trust Funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as 
governmental funds. Private Purpose Trust Funds account for assets of which both 
the principal and interest may be spent. 

 
ACCOUNT GROUPS 
 

General Fixed Assets Account Group – Fixed assets used in governmental fund 
type operations are accounted for in the General Fixed Assets Account Group, rather 
than in governmental funds. 
 
General Long-Term Debt Account Group – Long-Term liabilities expected to 
be financed from governmental funds are accounted for in the General Long-Term 



 

 
   Page 10 

Debt Account Group, not in the governmental funds. This includes the non-current 
portion of the liability for compensated absences. 
 
Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for 
governmental fund types is limited to exclude amounts represented by non-current 
liabilities. Since they do not affect net current assets, such long-term amounts are 
not recognized as governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. They are 
instead reported as liabilities in the General Long-Term Debt Account Group. 

 
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus – The modified accrual basis of 
accounting is used for measuring financial position and operating results of all 
governmental and fiduciary fund types. Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when they become both measurable and 
available. "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be determined and 
"available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are recognized in the 
accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, except for principal and 
interest on general long-term debt, which are recorded when due. 

 
Budgets/Budgetary Control – An annual appropriated budget is approved by the 
Commission each year for the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds. The 
budgets are prepared using the budgetary basis of accounting. Formal budgetary 
integration into the accounting system is employed as a management control device 
during the year. Encumbrance accounting is also employed as an extension of formal 
budgetary integration in the governmental fund types. 
 
The accounting records of the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds are 
maintained on the budgetary basis. The budgetary basis differs from modified accrual 
basis in that the budgetary basis recognizes encumbrances as expenditures and 
also recognizes increases/decreases in internal designations of fund balance, 
whereas the modified accrual basis does not. Sufficient supplemental records are 
maintained to allow for the presentation of modified basis financial reports. 
 
The budget, as detailed on the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 
and Changes in Fund Balances – General and Special Revenue Fund Types, Budget 
and Actual – Budgetary Basis, include all amendments to the adopted budget. 
 
The following presents a reconciliation of the General Fund from the budgetary 
basis of accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – General and Special Revenue Fund 
Types, Budget and Actual – Budgetary Basis to the modified accrual basis of 
accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances – All Governmental and Fiduciary Fund Types. 



 

 
   Page 11 

Net increase (decrease) in fund balances for the year (budgetary basis)       
adjustments: 839,809$          
Less: net decrease in revenue recognized in previous years                      (969,964)          
Less: prior-year encumbrances recognized as current-year expenditures       (334,128)          
Add: current-year encumbrances 289,787            
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over 
expenditures and other financing uses (modified accrual basis) (174,496)$        

 
 
The following presents a reconciliation of the Special Revenue Funds from the 
budgetary basis of accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – General and Special Revenue Fund 
Types – Budget and Actual – Budgetary Basis to the modified accrual basis of 
accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances – All Governmental and Fiduciary Fund Types. 

 
Net increase (decrease) in fund balances for the year (budgetary basis)       
adjustments: (108,441)$        
Less: net decrease in revenue recognized in previous years                      -                   
Less: prior-year encumbrances recognized as current-year expenditures       (41,306)            
Add: current-year encumbrances -                   
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing sources over 
expenditures and other financing uses (modified accrual basis) (149,747)$        

 
 

Encumbrances – Under encumbrance accounting, purchase orders, contracts, and 
other commitments for the expenditure of resources are recorded to reserve a portion 
of the applicable appropriation. Open encumbrances are reported as reservations 
of fund balances at fiscal year end as they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities 
but rather commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods and services. 

   
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include petty cash, change 
funds, cash in banks, and all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less at the time of purchase and are stated at cost that approximates fair 
value. The Commission also participates in the State of New Jersey Cash 
Management Fund administered by the New Jersey Department of the Treasury, 
Division of Investment, wherein amounts contributed by the state, as well as other 
local government units, are combined into a large-scale investment program. 

 
Fixed Assets – General fixed assets are reflected as expenditures in the applicable 
governmental funds, and the related assets are reported in the General Fixed Assets 
Account Group. Fixed assets are defined by the Commission as assets that have a 
cost in excess of $250 at the date of acquisition and a useful life of one year or more. 
 
Compensated Absences – Compensated absences are those absences for which 
employees will be paid, such as vacation, sick, administration, and paid leave bank. 
A liability for compensated absences attributable to services already rendered and 
not contingent on a specific event that is outside the control of the Commission and 
its employees is accrued as the employees earn the rights to the benefits. 



 

 
   Page 12 

Compensated absences related to future services or contingent on a specific event 
that is outside the control of the Commission and its employees are accounted for 
in the period in which such services are rendered or in which such events take place. 

 
In governmental funds, compensated absences that are expected to be liquidated 
with expendable available financial resources are reported as an expenditure and 
fund liability in the fund that will pay for the compensated absences. The remainder 
of the compensated absences liability is reported in the General Long-Term Debt 
Account Group. 

 
Due from/to Other Funds – Amounts due from/to other funds represent monies 
owed from or to other funds. The General Fund disburses all the funds for 
expenditures incurred by all other funds, and the monies are transferred between 
funds. 

 
Deferred Revenue – Deferred revenue in the General and Special Revenue 
Funds represents cash that has been received but not yet earned. 

 
Fund Balance – Refer to Note 11 for full description. 

 
Total Columns on Combined Statements – Total columns are captioned 
"Memorandum Only" to indicate that they are presented only to facilitate financial 
analysis. Data in these columns do not present financial position, results of 
operations, or changes in financial position in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, nor is such data 
comparable to a consolidation. 

 
Management Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States required 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can 
differ from those estimates. 

 
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 
 

Recently Issued Accounting Principles 
 
Due to the issuance of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 95, 
Postponement of the Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance, the Commission did 
not adopt any new GASB standards for Fiscal Year 2020. 
 

Note 2: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The Pinelands Commission is governed by the deposit limitations of New Jersey 
state law. The deposits held at June 30, 2020, and reported at fair value are as follows: 
 



 

 
   Page 13 

Deposits: Amount
Demand deposits 11,276,544$         
Cash on hand 629                       
Total Deposits 11,277,173$         

Reconciliation of Statement of Comparative Balance Sheets:
General Fund 2,808,395$           
Special Revenue Funds 8,419,972             
Private Purpose Trust Funds 48,806                  
Total Reconciliation of Comparative Balance Sheets 11,277,173$         

 
GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosure, requires that 
the Pinelands Commission disclose bank deposits that are subject to custodial credit 
risk. The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a failure 
of a depositary financial institution, the Commission will not be able to recover 
deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that may be in the 
possession of an outside party. As of June 30, 2020, the Commission’s confirmed 

bank balances amounted to $427,361.49, and $177,361.49 was exposed to custodial 
credit risk as uninsured and uncollateralized. 

 
The balance of the Commission’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited in the 
New Jersey Cash Management Fund (CMF). The CMF is governed by regulations 
of the State Investment Council, which prescribe standards designed to ensure the 
quality of investments in order to minimize risk to the CMF’s participants. An 
amount totaling $10,969,131 was deposited with the CMF as of June 30, 2020; 
the Commission had $307,423 in the operating account and $629 in petty cash. 
The State of New Jersey, Department of the Treasury, Division of Investment, issues 
publicly available financial reports that include the financial statements of the CMF. 
The financial reports may be obtained by writing to the State of New Jersey, 
Department of the Treasury, Division of Investment, P.O. Box 290, Trenton, NJ 
08625-0290. 

  



 

 
   Page 14 

Note 3: FIXED ASSETS 
 

The following schedule is a summarization of general fixed assets by source as of 
June 30, 2020: 
 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2019 June 30, 2020

Furniture/ Equipment  $    1,075,880  $  44,137  $         -    $    1,120,017 
Vehicles           110,720              -               -             110,720 
Total  $    1,186,600  $  44,137  $         -    $    1,230,737 

Additions Deletions

 
 
Note 4: LEASES 
 

Lease Obligations – At June 30, 2020, the Commission had no operating lease 
agreements in effect. The Commission is paying a monthly rental charge for a copy 
machine that is no longer under an agreement. Payments under the month-to-month 
rental for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 were $5,605. 

 
Note 5: RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 

All required employees of the Commission are covered by the Public Employees' 
Retirement System (PERS), which has been established by state statute and is 
administered by the New Jersey Division of Pensions and Benefits (division). 
According to the State of New Jersey Administrative Code, all obligations of 
the system will be assumed by the State of New Jersey should the system terminate. 
The division issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by 
writing to: 

 
State of New Jersey Division of Pensions and Benefits 

P.O. Box 295 
Trenton, New Jersey 08625-0295 

http://www.nj.gov/treasury/pensions/gasb-notices.shtml 
 

General Information about the Pension Plan 
 

Description of Retirement Plan 
 

PERS – is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, which 
was established as of January 1, 1955, under the provisions of N.J.S.A. 43:15A. The 
PERS’s designated purpose is to provide retirement, death, disability, and medical 
benefits to certain qualified members. Membership in the PERS is mandatory for 
substantially all full-time employees of the State of New Jersey or any county, 
municipality, school district, or public agency, provided the employee is not 
required to be a member of another state-administered retirement system,  other 
state pension fund, or local jurisdiction’s pension fund. 

http://www.nj.gov/treasury/pensions/gasb-notices.shtml


 

 
   Page 15 

Vesting and Benefit Provisions 
 

PERS – The vesting and benefit provisions are set by N.J.S.A. 43:15A and 43:3B. 
The PERS provides retirement, death, and disability benefits. All benefits vest after 
ten years of service, except for medical benefits, which vest after 25 years of service 
or under the disability provisions of the PERS. 

 
The following represents the membership tiers for PERS: 

 

Tier
1 Members who were enrolled prior to July 1, 2007
2 Members who were eligible to enroll on or after July 1, 2007 and prior to November 2, 2008
3 Members who were eligible to enroll on or after November 2, 2008 and prior to May 22, 2010
4 Members who were eligible to enroll on or after May 22, 2010 and prior to June 28, 2011
5 Members who were eligible to enroll on or after June 28, 2011

Definition

 
 
Service retirement benefits of 1/55th of final average salary for each year of service 
credit are available to tiers 1 and 2 members upon reaching age 60 and to tier 3 
members upon reaching age 62. Service retirement benefits of 1/60th of final average 
salary for each year of service credit are available to tier 4 members upon reaching 
age 62 and tier 5 members upon reaching age 65. Early retirement benefits are 
available to tiers 1 and 2 members before reaching age 60, tiers 3 and 4 before age 
62 with 25 or more years of service credit and tier 5 with 30 or more years of 
service credit before age 65. Benefits are reduced by a fraction of a percent for 
each month that a member retires prior to the age at which a member can receive 
full early retirement benefits in accordance with their respective tier. Tier 1 
members can receive an unreduced benefit from age 55 to age 60 if they have at least 
25 years of service. Deferred retirement is available to members who have at least 
10 years of service credit and have not reached the service retirement age for their 
respective tier. 

 
Contributions 

 
PERS – The contribution policy is set by N.J.S.A. 43:15A and requires 
contributions by active members and contributing employers. Members contribute at 
a uniform rate. Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 78, P.L. 2011, the active 
member contribution rate increased from 5.5% of annual compensation to 6.5% 
plus an additional 1% phased-in over seven years beginning in July 2012. 
 
The member contribution rate was 7.50% in state fiscal year 2020. The rate for 
members who are eligible for the Prosecutors Part of PERS (Chapter 366, P.L. 
2001) was 10%. Employers' contribution amounts are based on an actuarially 
determined rate. The Commission’s contribution amounts are based on an 
actuarially determined amount, which includes the normal cost and unfunded 
accrued liability. 



 

 
   Page 16 

The Commission’s contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2020 was 15.84% of the Commission’s covered payroll. This amount 
was actuarially determined as the amount that, when combined with employee 
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, including an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability. 
 
Based on the most recent PERS measurement date of June 30, 2019, the 
Commission’s contractually required contribution to the pension plan for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2020 was $502,099 and was paid on April 8, 2021. The 
Commission’s contractually required contribution to the pension plan for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2019 was $412,464 and was paid on April 7, 2020. Commission 
employee contributions to the pension plan during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2020 were $239,673. 

 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

 
PERS – At June 30, 2020, the Commission’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability was $7,640,483. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2018. The total pension liability 
was calculated through the use of updated procedures to roll forward from the 
actuarial valuation date to the measurement date of June 30, 2019. The 
Commission’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of 
the Commission’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to 
the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. 
For the June 30, 2019 measurement date, the Commission’s proportion was 
0 .0424035874%, which was an increase of 0.00273091% from its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2018.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Commission’s proportionate share of 
the pension expense was $478,906. This pension expense was based on the 
pension plan’s June 30, 2019 measurement date. This expense is not recognized by 
the Commission because of the basis of accounting as described in Note 1; 
however, as previously mentioned for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 the 
Commission’s contribution to PERS was $412,464 and was paid by April 7, 2020. 
 
At June 30, 2019, the Commission reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to PERS from the following sources: 



 

 
   Page 17 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected

and actual experience 137,137$      33,752$        

Changes of assumptions 762,930        2,651,988     

Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on pension
plan investments -               120,608        

Changes in proportion 695,488        110,712        

Commission contributions subsequent
to the measurement date 502,099        -               

2,097,654$   2,917,060$   

 
 
The amount of $502,099, included in deferred outflows of resources, will be 
included as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30 Amount

2021 (95,670)$        

2022 (567,005)        

2023 (494,828)        

2024 (158,123)        

2025 (5,879)            

(1,321,505)$   

 
  



 

 
   Page 18 

The amortization of the above other deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be over the following number of years: 

 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows 

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected 
and actual experience

Year of pension plan deferral:
June 30, 2014 -                       -                       
June 30, 2015 5.72                     -                       
June 30, 2016 5.57                     -                       
June 30, 2017 5.48                     -                       
June 30, 2018 -                       5.63                     
June 30, 2019 5.21                     -                       

Changes of assumptions
Year of pension plan deferral:
June 30, 2014 6.44                     -                       
June 30, 2015 5.72                     -                       
June 30, 2016 5.57                     -                       
June 30, 2017 -                       5.48                     
June 30, 2018 -                       5.63                     
June 30, 2019 -                       5.21                     

Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on pension
plan investments

Year of pension plan deferral:
June 30, 2014 -                       5.00                     
June 30, 2015 5.00                     -                       
June 30, 2016 5.00                     -                       
June 30, 2017 -                       5.00                     
June 30, 2018 -                       5.00                     
June 30, 2019 5.00                     -                       

Changes in proportion
Year of pension plan deferral:
June 30, 2014 6.44                     6.44                     
June 30, 2015 5.72                     5.72                     
June 30, 2016 5.57                     5.57                     
June 30, 2017 5.48                     5.48                     
June 30, 2018 5.63                     5.63                     
June 30, 2019 5.21                     5.21                      

  



 

 
   Page 19 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of July 1, 2018. The total pension liability was calculated through the 
use of updated procedures to roll forward from the actuarial valuation date to the 
measurement date of June 30, 2019. This actuarial valuation used the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

PERS

Inflation - Price 2.75%
Inflation - Wage 3.25%
Salary increases:

FY 2017 to 2026 2.00% - 6.00% Based on Years of Service
FY 2026 and thereafter 3.00% - 7.00% Based on Years of Service

Investment rate of return 7.00%

Mortality rate table Pub-2010

Period of actuarial experience
study upon which actuarial
assumptions were based July 1, 2014 - June 30, 2018  

 
For PERS, preretirement mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 General Below-
Median Income Employee mortality table with an 82.2% adjustment for males and 
101.4% adjustment for females, and with future improvement from the base year of 
2010 on a generational basis. Postretirement mortality rates were based on the Pub-
2010 General Below-Median Income Healthy Retiree mortality table with a 91.4% 
adjustment for males and 99.7% adjustment for females, and with future 
improvement from the base year of 2010 on a generational basis. Disability 
retirement rates used to value disabled retirees were based on the Pub-2010 Non-
Safety Disabled Retiree mortality table with a 127.7% adjustment for males and 
117.2% adjustment for females, and with future improvement from the base year of 
2010 on a generational basis. Mortality improvement is based on Scale MP-2019. 
 
In accordance with state statute, the long-term expected rate of return on plan 
investments (7.00% at June 30, 2019) is determined by the State Treasurer, after 
consultation with the directors of the Division of Investment and the Division of 
Pensions and Benefits, the PERS Board of Trustees, and the actuaries.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return was determined using a building block method 
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for 
each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of 
arithmetic rates of return for each major asset class included in PERS’s target asset 
allocation as of June 30, 2019 are summarized in the following table: 



 

 
   Page 20 

Long-Term
Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return

Risk mitigation strategies 3.00% 4.67%
Cash equivalents 5.00% 2.00%
U.S. Treasuries 5.00% 2.68%
Investment grade credit 10.00% 4.25%
High yield 2.00% 5.37%
Private credit 6.00% 7.92%
Real assets 2.50% 9.31%
Real estate 7.50% 8.33%
U.S. equity 28.00% 8.26%
Non-U.S. developed markets equity 12.50% 9.00%
Emerging markets equity 6.50% 11.37%
Private equity 12.00% 10.85%

100.00%

PERS

 
 

Discount Rate – The discount rates used to measure the total pension liability at 
June 30, 2019 was 6.28%. The single blended discount rate was based on the 
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.00%, and a 
municipal bond rate of 3.50% as of June 30, 2019, based on the Bond Buyer Go 
20-Bond Municipal Bond Index, which includes tax-exempt general obligation 
municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rates for PERS assumed that contributions from 
plan members will be made at the current member contribution rates and that 
contributions from employers will be made based on the contribution rate in the 
most recent fiscal year. Based on those assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members through 2057.  
 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied 
to projected benefit payments through 2057, and the municipal bond rate was 
applied to projected benefit payments after that date in determining the total pension 
liability. 

 
Sensitivity of Commission’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability to 
Changes in the Discount Rate 

 
PERS – The following presents the Commission’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability at June 30, 2019, the plan’s measurement date, calculated using 
a discount rate of 6.28%, as well as what the Commission’s proportionate share of 
the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% 



 

 
   Page 21 

lower or 1% higher than the current rates used: 
 

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
(5.28% ) (6.28% ) (7.28% )

Commission's proportionate share
of the net pension liability 9,651,171$                  7,640,483$                  5,946,192$               

PERS

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information 
about the respective fiduciary net position of the PERS and additions to/deductions 
from PERS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they 

are reported by PERS. Accordingly, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. For additional information about PERS, 
please refer to the plan’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which can be found 

at https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml. 
 

Note 6: HEALTH CARE BENEFITS 
 

The Commission provides health care benefits, through the New Jersey State Health 
Benefits Program, to all continuing employees who are scheduled to work 25 or 
more hours per week, along with their spouses and eligible dependents. 
Expenditures for health care benefits are recognized on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
 
In accordance with P. L. 2011, Chapter 78, employees enrolled in the New Jersey 
State Health Benefits Program are required to contribute a portion of their bi-weekly 
salary. The balance of the monthly health care benefits premium is paid by the 
Commission, which receives a credit from the state. Employees covered by other 
health insurance can elect to waive coverage and receive $1,000 annually. 
 
The Commission’s health care benefits premiums, including employees’ 
contributions, are as follows: 

 

https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml


 

 
   Page 22 

Fiscal Cost to Employee Credit from
Year Premium Commission Contributions State

2020 789,947$       37,872$             168,970$              583,105$         
2019 817,394         105,692             174,699                537,003           
2018 806,293         135,627             154,447                516,219           
2017 798,708         152,158             134,323                512,227           
2016 797,988         152,839             134,285                510,864           
2015 840,454         195,690             130,114                514,650           

Health Care Costs

 
 
Note 7: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 

General Information about the OPEB Plan 
 

Plan Description and Benefits Provided – The Commission contributes to the State 
Health Benefits Local Government Retired Employees’ Plan (plan), which is a cost-
sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit other postemployment benefit plan. It 
covers employees of local governments that have adopted a resolution to participate 
in the plan. The plan meets the definition of an equivalent arrangement as defined in 
GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for the 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions; therefore, assets are accumulated to 
pay associated benefits. For additional information about the plan, please refer to the 
State of New Jersey, Division of Pensions and Benefits’s Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report, which can be found at the following link. 
https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml. 
 
The plan provides medical and prescription drug benefits to retirees and their covered 
dependents. Under the provisions of Chapter 88, P.L. 1974 and Chapter 48, P.L. 
1999, local government employers electing to provide postretirement medical 
coverage to their employees must file a resolution with the division. Under Chapter 
88, local employers elect to provide benefit coverage based on the eligibility rules 
and regulations promulgated by the State Health Benefits Commission. Chapter 48 
allows local employers to establish their own age and service eligibility for 
employer-paid health benefits coverage for retired employees. Under Chapter 48, the 
employer may assume the cost of postretirement medical coverage for employees 
and their dependents who: 1) retired on a disability pension; or 2) retired with 25 or 
more years of service credit in a state or locally administered retirement system and 
a period of service of up to 25 years with the employer at the time of retirement as 
established by the employer; or 3) retired and reached the age of 65 with 25 or more 
years of service credit in a state or locally administered retirement system and a 
period of service of up to 25 years with the employer at the time of retirement as 
established by the employer; or 4) retired and reached age 62 with at least 15 years 
of service with the employer. Further, the law provides that the employer-paid 

https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml


 

 
   Page 23 

obligations for retiree coverage may be determined by means of a collective 
negotiations agreement. 
 
Pursuant to Chapter 78, P.L., 2011, future retirees eligible for postretirement medical 
coverage who have less than 20 years of creditable service on June 28, 2011 will be 
required to pay a percentage of the cost of their health care coverage in retirement 
provided they retire with 25 or more years of pension service credit. The percentage 
of the premium for which the retiree will be responsible will be determined based on 
the retiree’s annual retirement benefit and level of coverage. 

 
Contributions – The funding policy for the OPEB plan is pay-as-you-go; therefore, 
there is no prefunding of the liability. However, due to premium rates being set prior 
to each calendar year, there is a minimal amount of net position available to cover 
benefits in future years. Contributions to pay for the health benefit premiums of 
participating employees in the OPEB plan are collected from participating local 
employers and retired members. 
 
Pursuant to Chapter 78, P.L, 2011, future retirees eligible for postretirement medical 
coverage who have less than 20 years of creditable service on June 28, 2011 will be 
required to pay a percentage of the cost of their health care coverage in retirement 
provided they retire with 25 or more years of pension service credit. The percentage 
of the premium for which the retiree will be responsible will be determined based on 
the retiree’s annual retirement benefit and level of coverage. 
 
The Commission was billed monthly by the plan and has expended $159,893 for the 
fiscal ended June 30, 2020, representing 5.04% of the Commission’s covered payroll. 
The Commission has recognized revenue in the amount of $103,895 for a credit from 
the State of New Jersey to cover retiree health benefits; however, this credit has no 
effect on the calculations in the plan. 

 
OPEB Liability, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources 

 
OPEB Liability – At June 30, 2020, the Commission’s proportionate share of the 
net OPEB liability was $7,146,636. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 
30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, which was rolled forward 
to June 30, 2019. 
 
The Commission’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the ratio of the 
plan members of an individual employer to the total members of the plan’s 

nonspecial funding situation during the measurement period July 1, 2018 through 
June 30, 2019. For the June 30, 2019 measurement date, the Commission’s 
proportion was 0.052758%, which was a decrease of 0.001315% from its proportion 
measured as of the June 30, 2018 measurement date. 
 



 

 
   Page 24 

OPEB Expense – At June 30, 2020, the Commission’s proportionate share of the 

OPEB expense, calculated by the plan as of the June 30, 2019 measurement date is 
$151,418. This benefit is not recognized by the Commission because of the basis of 
the accounting as described in Note 1; however, as previously mentioned, for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Commission made contributions to the plan 
totaling $159,893. 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources – At June 
30, 2020, the Commission had deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to the OPEB liability from the following sources: 

 
Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows 

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected 
and actual experience -$                     2,089,955$            

Changes of assumptions -                       2,532,609              

Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on OPEB
plan investments 5,887                    -                         

Changes in proportion -                       510,184                 

Changes in contributions subsequent to
the measurement date 159,893                -                         

Total 165,780$              5,132,748$            

 
 

  



 

 
   Page 25 

The amount of $159,893, included in deferred outflows of resources, resulting from 
the Commission’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be 

included as a reduction of the Commission’s net OPEB liability in the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2021. 
 
The Commission will amortize the other deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to the OPEB liability over the following number of 
years: 

 
Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows 

of Resources of Resources

Changes of assumptions -               8.05                 
Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on OPEB
plan investments 5.00              -                   

Changes in proportion 8.05              8.05                 
 

 
Other amounts included as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the OPEB liability will be recognized in future periods as 
follows: 

 

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30 Amount

2021 (824,275)$        

2022 (824,275)          

2023 (824,736)          

2024 (825,482)          

2025 (826,164)          

Thereafter (1,001,929)       

Total (5,126,861)$     

 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 

 
The actuarial assumptions vary for each plan member depending on the pension plan 
in which the member is enrolled. The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019 was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018, which was rolled forward 
to June 30, 2019 and used the following assumptions: 
 



 

 
   Page 26 

Actuarial Assumptions

Inflation 2.50%

*Salary increases:
Through 2026 2.00% - 6.00%
Thereafter 3.00% - 7.00%

*Salary increases are based on the years of service
within the respective plan.

 

Preretirement mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Headcount-Weighted 
Healthy Employee Male/Female mortality table with fully generational mortality 
improvement projections from the central year using the MP-2019 scale. 
Postretirement mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Headcount-Weighted 
Healthy Annuitant Male/Female mortality table with fully generational improvement 
projections from the central year using the MP-2019 scale. Disability mortality was 
based on the Pub-2010 Headcount-Weighted Disabled Male/Female mortality table 
with fully generational improvement projections from the central year using the MP-
2019 scale. 
 
Certain actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2018 valuation were based on the 
results of the pension plan’s experience study for which the members are eligible for 
coverage under this plan, the Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS). The 
PERS experience study was prepared for the period July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2018. 

 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the OPEB Liability at June 30, 
2019 was 3.50%. This represents the municipal bond return rate as chosen by the 
state. The source is the Bond Buyer Go 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index, which 
includes tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of 
AA/Aa or higher. As the long-term rate of return is less than the municipal bond rate, 
it is not considered in the calculation of the discount rate, rather the discount rate is 
set at the municipal bond rate. 

 
Health Care Trend Assumptions – For pre-Medicare preferred provider 
organization (PPO) and health maintenance organization (HMO) medical benefits, 
the trend rate is initially 5.7% and decreases to a 4.5% long-term trend rate after eight 
years. For self-insured post-65 PPO and HMO medical benefits, the trend rate is 
4.5%. For prescription drug benefits, the initial trend rate is 7.5% decreasing to a 
4.5% long-term trend rate after eight years. The Medicare Advantage trend rate is 
4.5% and will continue in all future years. 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The 
Commission’s net OPEB liability as of the plan’s June 30, 2019 measurement date, 

calculated using a discount rate of 3.50%, as well as using a discount rate that is 1% 
lower or 1% higher than the current rates used is as follows: 



 

 
   Page 27 

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
(2.50%) (3.50%) (4.50%)

Commission's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability 8,263,329$        7,146,636$        6,239,175$      

 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend 
Rates – The Commission’s proportionate share of the net OPEB Liability as of June 

30, 2019, using a healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower or 1% higher than the 
current healthcare cost trend rate used is as follows: 

1% Healthcare Cost 1%
Decrease Trend Rates Increase

Commission's poportionate share
of the net OPEB liability 6,030,880$ 7,146,636$        8,569,971$   

 
 
OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information 
about the respective fiduciary net position of the State Health Benefits Local 
Government Retired Employees’ Plan and additions to/deductions from the plan’s 

respective fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by the plan. Accordingly, contributions (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. For additional information about the 
plan, please refer to the plan’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which can 

be found at:https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml 
 
Note 8: RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Commission is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage 
to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and 
natural disasters. 

 
Property and Liability Insurance – The Commission maintains an umbrella 
policy and commercial insurance coverage for property, general liability, 
commercial auto, and workers’ compensation. 

 
New Jersey Unemployment Compensation Insurance – In 1979, the Commission 
elected to fund its New Jersey Unemployment Compensation Insurance under 
the "Benefit Reimbursement Method". Under this plan, the Commission is 
required to reimburse the New Jersey Unemployment Compensation Fund for 

https://www.state.nj.us/treasury/pensions/financial-reports.shtml


 

 
   Page 28 

benefits paid to its former employees and charged to its account with the state. The 
Commission is billed quarterly for amounts due to the state. The following is a 
summary of employee contributions, reimbursements to the state for benefits paid, 
and the ending balance of the Commission's trust fund for the current and previous 
four years: 

 

Fiscal Employee Annual Funding
Year Contribution Reimbursement Balance *
2020 419$            -$                  3,586$        
2019 4,454           16,614               2,724          
2018 6,334           872                    14,302        
2017 4,375           12,050               8,566          
2016 4,133           -                    16,168        

*Includes annual interest income
 

 
Note 9:  LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

Compensated Absences – The Commission’s policy states that employees are 
entitled, upon termination, to the current year’s earned but unused vacation time in 
addition to any unused vacation time previously earned. In addition, employees are 
eligible, at retirement, to receive payment for one-half of their accumulated sick 
leave up to a maximum of $15,000. Unused vacation time expected to be taken 
in the succeeding fiscal year in the amount of $88,910 has been recorded as a 
liability in the General Fund on the accompanying balance sheet. 
 
A liability for vested compensated absences has also been established in the General 
Long-Term Debt Account Group as the benefits accrue to employees. As of June 
30, 2020, the estimated long-term liability for compensated absences was $410,906. 
Net long-term debt as of June 30, 2020 is as follows: 

 

Balance Balance Due Within
6/30/2019 Additions Deductions 6/30/2020 One Year

Compensated absences payable 33,190$    55,720$ -$         88,910$      88,910$     
Estimated compensated absences payable 417,040    -         6,134       410,906      -            
Total 450,230$  55,720$ 6,134$     499,816$    88,910$     

 
 
Note 10: INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 

The following interfund balances remained on the balance sheet at June 30, 2020: 
 



 

 
   Page 29 

Interfund Interfund
Fund Receivable Payable

General Fund 469,957$              -$                   
Special Revenue Funds -                        448,009             
Private Purpose Trust Funds -                        21,948               
Total 469,957$              469,957$           

 
The interfund receivables and payables above predominately resulted from 
collections and payments made by certain funds on behalf of the other funds. During 
fiscal year 2020, the Commission expects to liquidate such interfund balances, 
depending on the availability of cash flow. 
 

Note 11: GASB 54 – FUND BALANCE DISCLOSURES 
 
In accordance with GASB No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund 
Type Definitions, the Commission classifies governmental fund balances as follows: 

 
 Non-spendable – includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either 

because it is not in spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints. 
 Restricted – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific 

purposes that are externally imposed by external parties, constitutional provision, 
or enabling legislation. 

 Committed – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific 
purposes that are internally imposed by the government through formal action of 
the highest level of decision making authority and does not lapse at year end. 

 Assigned – includes fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for 
specific purposes that are neither considered restricted nor committed. Fund 
Balance may be assigned by the executive director or the board of 
commissioners. 

 Unassigned – includes balance within the General Fund that has not been 
classified within the above mentioned categories and negative fund balances in 
other governmental funds. 

 
Specific reservations of fund balances are described below: 

 
RESTRICTED FOR: 

 
Unemployment Compensation – This reserve was established with funds 
contributed by employees and used to reimburse the state for benefits paid, $3,586. 
 
Katie Fund – The Kathleen M. Lynch-van de Sande Fund consists of contributions 
from the public, which are dedicated to the support of reforestation and vegetation 
activities in the Pinelands and to further educational programs and projects that 
enhance the understanding of the Pinelands National Reserve, $8,272. 
 



 

 
   Page 30 

Timber Rattlesnake Study – This reserve was created as a result of a settlement in 
order to fund an escrow for the study and monitoring of the timber rattlesnakes in and 
near a particular development site, $6,675. 
 
Rattlesnake Fencing – This reserve was created to account for funds restricted 
for possible future fencing necessitated by the above rattlesnake study, $21,749. 
 
COMMITTED TO: 

 
Pinelands Conservation Fund – This reserve was established with funds provided 
by the Atlantic Electric Co. as a result of the proposed electric transmission line 
project to further the Pinelands protection program and ensure a greater level of 
protection for the unique resources of the Pinelands area, $5,249,047. 
 
Kirkwood-Cohansey Study – This reserve was created from funds from the Water 
Supply Fund to assess and prepare a report on the key hydrological and ecological 
information needed to determine how the current and future water supply needs of 
the Pinelands may be met while also protecting the Kirkwood-Cohansey aquifer 
system and avoiding any adverse ecological impact, $29,185. 
 
Encumbrances – The reserve for encumbrances was created to represent 
encumbrances outstanding at the end of the year based on purchase orders and 
contracts signed by the Commission but not completed as of the close of the fiscal 
year, $289,787. 
 
Retirees’ Health Benefits – This is a designation of fund balance that the Commission 
intends to use to fund future retirees’ health benefits, $799,155. 
 
Investment in General Fixed Assets – This represents the amount invested in fixed 
assets, $1,230,737. 
 
ASSIGNED TO: 

 
Subsequent Year’s Expenditures – This designation of fund balance has been 
appropriated and included as anticipated revenue for the year ending June 30, 2021, 
$829,397. 
 
Other – This represents designations of fund balance that the Commission intends to 
use for various projects, such as Pinelands poster reprinting and service awards, 
$78,747. 

 
UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE: 
 
Unassigned – This represents the portion of fund balance resources available for 
appropriation, $1,370,864. 

 



 

 
   Page 31 

Note 12: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
 

The Commission receives a significant portion of its total revenues from the State 
of New Jersey. Since these revenues are subject to annual appropriation, any 
reduction in the amount appropriated in the state’s budget will have a material 
impact on the operations of the Commission. A comparison of annual operating 
revenues is shown below: 

Fiscal State Aid General Fund
Year Revenues Revenues* Percentage
2020 3,636,000$      4,659,249$      78%
2019 3,486,000        5,335,483        65%
2018 3,336,000        4,342,259        77%
2017 3,486,000        4,225,149        83%
2016 3,186,000        4,200,943        76%

* Includes transfers from other funds
 

Note 13: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 

The current coronavirus (COVID-19), classified by the World Health Organization 
as a pandemic, disrupted normal business operations in 2021 and management has 
not determined the effect the pandemic will have on future operations. 

 
  



 

 
   Page 32 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
 
 

  



 

 
   Page 33 

2019 2018 2017

Commission's proportion of the net pension liability 0.0424035874% 0.0396726809% 0.0387524433%

Commission's proportionate share of the net pension liability 7,640,483$           7,811,353$        9,020,949$        

Commission's covered payroll (plan measurement period) 2,964,972$           2,664,084$        2,713,988$        

Commission's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of covered payroll 257.69% 293.21% 332.39%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability (local) 40.45% 53.60% 48.10%

PINELANDS COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF THE COMMISSION'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) - LOCAL
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Measurement date ending June 30

 
 

                                      SCHEDULE OF THE COMMISSION'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

2016 2015 2014 2013

Commission's proportion of the net pension liability 0.0393468730% 0.0385232928% 0.0406718663% 0.039469948500%

Commission's proportionate share of the net pension liability 11,653,415$      8,647,707$        7,614,886$       7,543,491$             

Commission's covered payroll (plan measurement period) 2,706,800$        2,739,132$        2,796,096$       2,698,088$             

Commission's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of covered payroll 430.52% 315.71% 272.34% 279.59%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability (local) 40.14% 47.93% 52.08% 48.72%

Note: Until a full ten-year trend is completed, information will be presented
for years for which information is available.

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) - LOCAL
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Measurement date ending June 30

PINELANDS COMMISSION

 
 
  
 
  
 
 



 

 
   Page 34 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution 502,099$       412,464$        394,615$       359,000$        349,552$         331,197$         335,293$       

Contributions in relation to the 
 contractually required contribution (502,099)       (412,464)        (394,615)       (359,000)        (349,552)         (331,197)         (331,197)        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                  -$                   -$                  -$                   -$                    -$                    4,096$           

Commission's covered payroll (fiscal year) 3,170,017$    3,140,268$     2,915,910$    2,692,751$     2,707,759$      2,697,688$      2,697,688$    

Contributions as a percentage of commission's 
covered payroll 15.84% 13.13% 13.53% 13.33% 12.91% 12.28% 12.43%

Note: Until a full ten-year trend is completed, information will be presented
for years for which information is available.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) - LOCAL

SCHEDULE OF THE COMMISSION'S CONTRIBUTIONS
PINELANDS COMMISSION

 
 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
 
None 
 
Changes in Assumptions 
 
For 2019, the discount rate changed to 6.28%, the long-term expected rate of return remained at 7.00%, demographic assumptions were revised 
in accordance with the results of the July 1, 2014 - June 30, 2018 experience study and the mortality improvement scale incorporated the plan 
actuary's modified MP-2019 projection scale.  Further, salary was assumed to increase between 2.00% and 6.00% (based on years of service) 
through fiscal year 2026 and 3.00% and 7.00% (based on years of service) for each fiscal year thereafter.  For 2018, the discount rate changed 
to 5.66%, the long-term expected rate of return remained at 7.00%, demographic assumptions were revised in accordance with the results of the 
July 1, 2011 - June 30, 2014 experience study and the mortality improvement scale incorporated the plan actuary's modified MP-2014 projection 
scale.  For 2017, the discount rate changed to 5.00%, the long-term expected rate of return changed to 7.00% from 7.65%.  For 2016, the discount 
rate changed to 3.98%, and the long-term expected rate of return changed to 7.65% from 7.90%.  For 2015 and 2014, the discount rate was 
4.90% and 5.39% respectively.  In addition, the social security wage base was set at $118,500 for 2015, increasing 4.00% per annum, 
compounded annually, and the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) pay limit was set at $265,000 for 2015, increasing 3.00% per annum, 
compounded annually. 
 

  



 

 
   Page 35 

2019 2018 2017 2016
Total  net OPEB liability:

Service cost 666,574,660$          896,235,148$          1,064,525,862$   793,330,866$          

Interest 636,082,461            764,082,232            648,423,508        693,228,312            

Change of Benefit Terms (1,903,958)               -                               -                           -                              

Differences between expected and actual experience (1,399,921,930)        (3,626,384,047)        -                           -                              

Changes in assumptions or other inputs (1,635,760,217)        (2,314,240,675)        (2,587,850,974)    3,126,488,338         

Net investment income (4,826,936)               (2,320,422)               (791,049)              (310,043)                 

Contributions from employers and non-employers (390,269,556)           (474,742,947)           (434,877,635)       (397,482,072)          

Administrative expense 9,478,435                8,200,113                8,894,576            528,244                   

Net change in total net OPEB liability (2,120,547,041)$      (4,749,170,598)$      (1,301,675,712)$  4,215,783,645$       

Total OPEB liability, beginning 15,666,618,141       20,415,788,739       21,717,464,451   17,501,680,806       

Total OPEB liability, ending 13,546,071,100$     15,666,618,141$     20,415,788,739$ 21,717,464,451$     

Commission's proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.052758% 0.054073% 0.054329% 0.055825%

Commission's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability 7,146,636$              8,471,410$              11,091,694$        12,123,775$            

Commission's covered payroll (plan measurement period) 3,140,268$              2,915,910$              2,692,751$          2,707,759$              

Commission's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability as a percentage of covered payroll 227.58% 290.52% 411.91% 447.74%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability 1.9800% 1.9700% 1.0300% 0.6900%

Notes to schedule:
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in 

Paragraph 45 of GASB 75

 In accordance with GASB 75, the above information is also presented 
for the State Health Benefit Local Government Retired Employees' Plan.  
These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show 
information for 10 years; however, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, this 
presentation will only include information for those years for which 
information is available.

PINELANDS COMMISSION

STATE HEALTH BENEFIT RETIRED EMPLOYEES' OPEB PLAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND THE COMMISSION'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB 
LIABILITY 

Measurement date ending June 30

 
  



 

 
   Page 36 

2020 2019 2018 2017

Commission's required contribution 159,893$     218,955$    284,092$    305,161$    

Contributions in relation to the 
  required contribution (159,893)      (218,955)     (284,092)     (305,161)     

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                 -$                -$                -$                

Commission's covered payroll (fiscal year) 3,170,017$  3,140,268$ 2,915,910$ 2,692,751$ 

Contributions as a percentage of Commission's 
covered payroll 5.04% 6.97% 9.74% 11.33%

Note: In accordance with GASB 75, the above information is also presented 
for the State Health Benefit Local Government Retired Employees' Plan.  
These schedules are presented to illustrate the requirements to show 
information for 10 years; however, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, this 
presentation will only include information for those years for which 
information is available.

PINELANDS COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF THE COMMISSION'S CONTRIBUTIONS

STATE HEALTH BENEFIT RETIRED EMPLOYEES' OPEB PLAN
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Fiscal year ending June 30

 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
 
None 
 
Differences between Expected and Actual Experience 
 
The decrease in liability from June 30, 2018 to June 30, 2019 is due to changes in the census, claims, and premium experience. 
 
Changes in Assumptions 
 
The decrease in liability from June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018 is due to the increase in the assumed discount rate from 3.58% as of June 30, 2017 
to 3.87% as of June 30, 2018 and a decrease in the assumed health care cost trend and excise tax assumptions.  The decrease in liability from 
June 30, 2018 to June 30, 2019 is due to the combined effect of the decrease in the assumed discount rate from 3.87% as of June 30, 2018 to 
3.50% as of June 30, 2019; and changes in the trend, excise tax, updated decrements, PPO/HMO future retiree elections, salary scale and 
mortality assumptions. 

  



 

 
   Page 37 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Information 
 

  



 

 
   Page 38 

 PROGRAM or ACCOUNTS DEFERRED  ACCOUNTS DEFERRED
Grantor/Pass Through STATE GRANT or AWARD GRANT PERIOD RECEIVABLE REVENUE CASH/ CREDIT  RECEIVABLE REVENUE

Grantor/Program Title GMIS NUMBER AMOUNT FROM TO 6/30/18 6/30/18 RECEIVED EXPENDITURES 6/30/19 6/30/19
Department of Environmental Protection

State Aid 100-042-4800-082 2,949,000$    07/01/19 06/30/20 -$                   -$                2,949,000$       2,949,000$          -$                   -$                
Pinelands Development Credit Purchases 100-042-4800-324 13,000,000    07/01/99 Completion -                     1,759,200   -                        -                          -                     1,759,200   

Credit from State - Fringe Benefits not applicable 687,000         07/01/19 06/30/20 -                     -                  687,000            687,000               -                     -                  
Total State Financial Assistance -$                   1,759,200$ 3,636,000$       3,636,000$          -$                   1,759,200$ 

PINELANDS COMMISSION
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See Report and Notes to Schedules of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance.  
  



 

 
   Page 39 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF  

STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
Note 1: GENERAL 
  

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance presents 
the activity of all state financial assistance programs of the New Jersey Pinelands 
Commission. The Commission is defined in Note 1 to the financial statements. All 
state financial assistance received directly from state agencies is included on the 
Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance. 

 
Note 2: BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance is 
presented using the modified accrual basis of accounting. This basis of accounting is 
described in Note 1 to the Commission’s general-purpose financial statements. 

 
Note 3: RELATIONSHIP TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Amounts reported in the accompanying schedule agree with amounts reported in the 
Commission’s financial statements. 

 
Note 4: RELATIONSHIP TO STATE FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 

Amounts reported in the accompanying schedule agree with the amounts reported in 
the related state financial reports. 

 
Note 5: MAJOR PROGRAMS 
 

Major programs are identified in the Summary of Auditor’s Results section of the 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. 

  



 

 
   Page 40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pinelands Commission 
 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

 in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 
 

  







 

 
   Page 43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pinelands Commission 
 

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program; Report on 
Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of  

Expenditures of State Financial Assistance Required by New Jersey Department of the 
Treasury Circular No. 15-08-OMB 

 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 

  





 

 
   Page 45 

Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to its state programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Pinelands 
Commission’s major state programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States; and New Jersey Department of the Treasury Circular No. 15-08-OMB. These standards 
and New Jersey Department of the Treasury Circular No. 15-08-OMB require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major state program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
Pinelands Commission’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major state program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Pinelands 
Commission’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Program 
 
In our opinion, the Pinelands Commission complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each 
of its major state programs for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
Management of the Pinelands Commission is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred 
to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Pinelands 
Commission’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have 
a direct and material effect on each major state program to determine the auditing procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance 
for each major state program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with New Jersey Department of the Treasury Circular No. 15-08-OMB, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Pinelands Commission’s 

internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 





 

 
   Page 47 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

Section I - Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes P No

Yes P

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes P No

Federal Awards Section

State Awards Section

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes P No

Yes P

Type of auditor's report on compliance for major programs:

Yes P No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with New Jersey Department of the Treasury Circular 
No. 15-08-OMB 

Unmodified

None 
Reported

None 
Reported

Unmodified

Federal Awards Section is not applicable; The Pinelands Commission did not meet the $750,000 
threshold for federal single audit.

 
  



 

 
   Page 48 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

State Program Number Name of State Program

100-042-4800-082 State of New Jersey Appropriation

Not applicable Credit from State - Fringe Benefits

Section I - Summary of Auditor’s Results (continued):

Identification of major programs:

 
Section II – Schedule of Financial Statement Findings 
 
No compliance or internal control over financial reporting findings were noted that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
 
Section III – Schedule of State Awards Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
The audit disclosed no findings or questioned costs for the current period. 

  



 

 
   Page 49 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 

Finding No. Condition           Status

None.

 
 


	Agenda
	Approval of the November 12, 2021 Meeting Minutes
	Attachments to the Minutes
	Resolution - Approving With Conditions Applications for Public Development (App. No.'s 1982-2904.003 & 2006-0322.022)
	Resolution - Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (App. No. 2007-0318.001)
	Resolution - To Revise and Adopt Proposed Amendements to the Comprehensive Management Plan (Stormwater Management)
	Resolution - Scheduling Regular Pinelands Commission Meeting dates for 2022
	Resolution - To Accept the Fiscal Year 2020 Audit Report



